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ANNUAL REPORT AND NOTICE OF AGM 
 
 
I attach the Company's Annual Report for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 and a copy of 
the Company's Notice of Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 May 2020 at 11.00am as sent to 
shareholders today. 
 
As a result of the potential health risks and Government restrictions in response to the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic, it will not be possible to host shareholders and members of the public in person 
at the AGM. 
 
The AGM will be made accessible to shareholders via a live webcast which will include the facility for 
shareholders to ask questions in relation to the business of the meeting. Instructions to join the webcast 
will be published on the Nickel Mines website. Shareholders are advised that all resolutions will be 
decided based on proxy votes which must be received by 11:00am Sydney time on Wednesday 27 May 
2020. Lodgement instructions (which include the ability to lodge proxies electronically) are set out in the 
Notice of Meeting and on the Nickel Mines website. 
 
The Directors of the Nickel Mines appreciate the understanding of shareholders under the current 
circumstances. 
 
For further information please contact: 
 
Richard Edwards     Cameron Peacock 
Company Secretary     Investor Relations & Business Development 
redwards@nickelmines.com.au    cpeacock@nickelmines.com.au 
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Nickel Mines Limited1

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

I begin by noting that whilst the report before you covers the six month period to 31 December 
2019, it is in the format of an Annual Report, following the decision by the Board to change the 
financial year end of the Company from 30 June to 31 December.  This decision was taken to 
align the reporting schedule of the Company with its operating entities in Indonesia. 

Whilst this Annual Report covers only a six-month period, a significant amount has occurred in that period.  First and foremost was the outstanding 
performance of the RKEF projects, Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel, as they transitioned into full production over the period and consistently 
produced well above their design nameplate capacity.  Across the two RKEF projects 152,408 tonnes of nickel pig iron was produced, with an 
average nickel grade of 13.8% nickel, giving a combined 20,988 tonnes of nickel metal production.  For this outstanding production achievement 
and the resulting exceptional financial performance detailed within this report we acknowledge the industry leading operational expertise of the 
Company’s partner, Shanghai Decent.

The Company held a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel project throughout the period and in August 2019 the Company elected to exercise its 
contractual option to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel project from 17% to 60% and, in doing so, materially increased the Company’s 
attributable nickel production and its leverage to the compelling economic returns generated by these RKEF assets.  The $121.4 million purchase 
price to acquire this additional 43% interest in Ranger Nickel saw Shanghai Decent subscribe for $40 million of new equity in the Company as part 
consideration for the transaction, further cementing the relationship between the companies.

The performance and profitability of the Company’s RKEF projects can tend to overshadow operations at the Company’s 80% owned Hengjaya 
Mine.  Shareholders should not lose sight of the fact that the Hengjaya Mine contains a truly world class resource.  I further note the increased 
production and profitability of the Hengjaya Mine operations over the six month period and the numerous transformational expansion initiatives 
currently being undertaken that will enable the Company to unlock the full strategic value of the mine.  The Company will shortly commence 
mining at the Central Pit, where proximity to the jetty will significantly reduce haulage distances and lower overall production costs.  Additionally, 
construction has commenced on the building of a haul road directly from the Hengjaya Mine to the Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (‘IMIP’) 
which will eventually see all ore from the Hengjaya Mine delivered by truck directly to the IMIP.

Shareholders should look forward to 2020 with great anticipation, with all four RKEF lines operating at full capacity, significant expansion of 
activities at the Hengjaya Mine and planned increases of the Company’s interests to 80% in both RKEF projects. 

Yours sincerely

Robert Neale 
Chairman
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Principal Activities and Review of Operations
(All amounts in US$ unless otherwise stated)

The operating profit of the Group for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 after income tax was $91,280,434 (12 months to 30 June 
2019: $71,826,428).

Nickel Mines Limited (‘the Company’ or ‘Nickel Mines’) was incorporated on 12 September 2007, under the laws of the State of New South 
Wales, Australia.  The Company has become a globally significant, low cost producer of nickel pig iron (‘NPI’), a key ingredient in the production of 
stainless steel.  At year end, the Company held a 60% interest in a 2 line Rotary Kiln Electric Furnace (‘RKEF’) plant (‘Hengjaya Nickel’) and a 60% 
interest in another 2 line RKEF plant (‘Ranger Nickel’).  The Company also holds an 80% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Mine (‘Hengjaya Mine’), a 
large tonnage, high grade nickel laterite deposit located in the Morowali Regency of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.

During and following the six month period ended 31 December 2019 significant milestones were achieved as follows:

Highlights

• The Company’s 60% owned RKEF projects produced a combined 152,408 tonnes of NPI, containing 20,988 tonnes of nickel metal equivalent. 
A total of 143,773 tonnes of NPI containing 19,631 tonnes of nickel equivalent were sold during the six month period at an average grade of
13.7% nickel.

• A total of 393,215 wet metric tonnes (‘wmt’) of nickel ore were mined at the Hengjaya Mine, with an average stripping ratio of 2.2.  A total of
428,382 wmt were sold during the six month period at an average grade of 1.94% nickel.

• On 26 July 2019, the Company’s shareholders approved the increase in the Company’s interest in Ranger Nickel from 17% to 60% for $121.4
million with consideration being funded by the drawdown of an $80 million senior debt facility provided by a Shanghai Decent associated
company, the issue of 139,972,705 shares in the Company for $40 million and a cash payment of $1.4 million.  The Company completed this
acquisition on 14 August 2019.

• Subsequent to the drawdown of the $80 million senior debt facility, in August 2019 the Company made a voluntary early repayment of $10 million
and a further $5 million in September 2019.

• In September 2019, the Company and Shanghai Decent agreed that Nickel Mines would limit its contractual option to further equity interest in the
Hengjaya Nickel project to not more than 80% and that the option period during which Nickel Mines can acquire a further equity interest in the
Hengjaya Nickel project was extended from 31 January 2020 to 30 November 2020.

• Working capital loan facilities provided by Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent to Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel were fully repaid over
the period to 31 December 2019, paving the way for the RKEF operating entities to commence repatriating shareholder equity from Indonesia
subsequent to the end of the period.

• Significant exploration and mine expansion activities were undertaken at the Hengjaya Mine, including exploration and infill drilling totalling 447
holes for 9,231 metres, the building of a haul road from the Central Pit to the jetty, major upgrades to the jetty and camp and commencement of a
haul road directly from the Central Pit to the Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (‘IMIP’). 
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Nickel Mines Limited

RKEF Operations
At the commencement of the six month period ended 31 December 2019, the Company held a 60% interest in Hengjaya Nickel and a 17% interest 
in Ranger Nickel.

During the current financial period:

• The Company increased its interest in Ranger Nickel to 60%.
• Construction and commissioning of Ranger Nickel was completed.

A summary of production from Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel for the six months to 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Hengjaya Nickel Ranger Nickel Total

NPI Production tonnes 80,481.1 71,927.3 152,408.4

NPI Grade % 13.6 13.9 13.8

Nickel Metal Production tonnes 10,957.2 10,030.7 20,987.9

Nickel Metal Production Attributable to Nickel Mines tonnes 6,574.4 5,167.6  11,742.0

Hengjaya Nickel (60% interest held by Nickel Mines)

Full production achieved

During the six months to 31 December 2019, Hengjaya Nickel produced 10,957.2 tonnes of nickel metal at an average NPI grade of 13.6% at a 
weighted average cash cost of $7,653/tonne of nickel metal.

Hengjaya Nickel
September 2019 

Quarter
December 2019 

Quarter Total
NPI Production tonnes 39,570.4 40,910.7 80,481.1

NPI Grade % 13.6 13.6 13.6

Nickel Metal Production tonnes 5,379.3 5,577.9 10,957.2

Cash Costs US$/t Ni 7,523 7,778 7,653

The Group’s attributable nickel metal production for the period ended 31 December 2019 was 6,574.4 tonnes.

For the six months to 31 December 2019, Hengjaya Nickel recorded (on a 100% basis) sales of $132.2 million for 10,054.7 tonnes of nickel metal sold.

Ranger Nickel (60% interest held by Nickel Mines)

Ownership interest increased to 60% and full production achieved

During the six months to 31 December 2019, Ranger Nickel produced 10,030.7 tonnes of nickel metal at an average NPI grade of 13.9% at a 
weighted average cash cost of $7,732/tonne of nickel metal.

Ranger Nickel
September 2019 

Quarter
December 2019 

Quarter
Total

NPI Production tonnes 32,822.6 39,104.7 71,927.3

NPI Grade % 14.1 13.8 13.9

Nickel Metal Production tonnes 4,640.3 5,390.4 10,030.7

Cash Costs US$/t Ni 7,552 7,886 7,732
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The Hengjaya Mine is one of the largest tonnage, high grade 
operations in close proximity to the IMIP in central Sulawesi.  Using 
a 1.0% Ni cut-off grade, the Hengjaya Mine hosts a JORC compliant 
resource of 180 million dry tonnes at 1.3% Ni and 0.08% Co, 
containing 2.3 million tonnes of contained nickel and 140,000 tonnes 
of contained cobalt.

Hengjaya Mine (80% interest held by Nickel Mines)

Overview

The Company holds an 80% interest in PT Hengjaya Mineralindo, 
the owner of 100% of the Hengjaya Mine, with the remaining 20% 
interest owned by the Company’s Indonesian partner.

The mine is located in the Morowali Regency, Central Sulawesi, 
Indonesia within an IUP licence covering 6,249 hectares.  The IUP 
holds a 20 year mining operation/production licence with two further 
10 year extension periods.

On 14 August 2019, the Company increased its interest in Ranger 
Nickel from 17% to 60%.  The Group’s attributable nickel metal 
production for the period ended 31 December 2019 was 5,167.6 
tonnes.

For the six months to 31 December 2019, Ranger Nickel recorded (on 
a 100% basis) sales of $124.6 million for 9,576.3 tonnes of nickel 
metal sold.

During the period ended 31 December 2019, the Hengjaya Nickel and 
Ranger Nickel projects reached full, steady state production following 
the completion of construction and commissioning of the RKEF plants.  
Throughout this process, the operations teams have trialled different 
operating parameters, including processing different ore mixes, in 
an effort to further enhance recoveries.  The cost of these trials was 
most pronounced in December at Ranger Nickel.  The January 2020 
cash cost of production has reverted to $7,331/t Ni and $7,301/t Ni 
for Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel respectively.

Category Dry Tonnes (Millions) Ni (%) Co (%) Fe (%)

Measured 6.9 1.2 0.07 23

Indicated 50 1.4 0.07 26

Inferred 120 1.3 0.08 29

Total 180 1.3 0.08 28
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Map showing the Hengjaya Mine and proximity to the IMIP 

Resources at the Hengjaya Mine are not fully defined and further exploration activities are discussed below.  A comprehensive Resource update is 
in the process of being finalised.

Mining

Production totalled 393,215 wmt for the six months to 31 December 
2019, a record for production at the Hengjaya Mine for a six month 
period, at an average stripping ratio of 2.2:1.0.  Sales for the year 
totalled 428,382 wmt at an average grade of 1.94%.

The ore to waste strip was consistent at 2.2:1.0.  Overburden 
included limonite ore which has been stockpiled adjacent to waste 

dumps at Bete Bete in readiness for eventual supply to the IMIP’s 
HPAL projects.

Production over the six month period was from the Bete Bete pit.  
Bete Bete is currently running at steady state with the focus for 2020 
on the start-up of production from the IPPKH2 area with the first pit 
known as Central 21 within the Central Pit.

September 2019 Quarter December 2019 Quarter Total

Tonnes mined wmt 199,056 194,159 393,215

Overburden mined BCM 432,042 428,041 860,083

Strip ratio BCM/wmt 2.2 2.2 2.2

Tonnes sold wmt 231,487 196,895 428,382

Average grade % 1.90 1.99 1.94

Average price received US$/t Ni 27.72 37.59 32.26

Cash Costs (1) CIF US$/t Ni 23.69 25.02 24.30

(1) All-in costs (inclusive of depreciation) averaged $26.25/t.
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Mine Expansion

Several key expansion activities and operational restructuring 
initiatives continued during the period in support of the Hengjaya 
Mine’s plan to significantly increase production during 2020.  Access 
to Central Pit areas inside IPPKH2 area has enabled haul road 
construction works and infill drilling to be performed ahead of the 
start-up of mining activities planned for the first half of 2020.

The mining contract for Central Pit (excavate and haul) was awarded 
to PT Sinar Terang Mandiri (‘STM’).  STM have extensive experience 
in operating a number of large-scale nickel laterite mining projects in 
Indonesia.

Mobilisation of additional mining equipment commenced subsequent 
to the end of the period and it is anticipated that the first ore from the 
Central Pit will be mined in April 2020.

The stage 1 portion of the haul road between the Central Pit and the jetty 
is now complete and clearing of the pit area is well underway.  Stage 
2 of the haul road will join the Central Pit to Bete Bete for ore haulage 
operations.  As well as allowing larger 45 tonne trucks to be used for 
additional production, the road will take ore haul trucks off the provincial 
road, minimising interaction with public traffic. Clearing of the Central Pit, 
waste dump and stockpile areas is well advanced.

Dredging and expansion works on the jetty area have continued and 
this has allowed the successful operation of 6,500 tonne barges 
(previously 4,500 tonne).  Sea wall extension works will continue until 
the middle of 2020.

Construction of new mine camp and infrastructure facilities was 
undertaking during the period and is scheduled to be completed in 
the June 2020 quarter.  As well as technical offices and workshops, 
the facility includes community development, safety, training and 
recreational buildings.

Exploration

During the six months to 31 December 2019, exploration and infill 
drilling totalled 447 holes for 9,231 metres.  The program included 
infill drilling to improve mine planning and scheduling. The drilling 
program will continue throughout 2020 targeting new areas of 
limonite and saprolite ores identified by ground penetrating radar and 
historical drill data.  Infill drilling is included in the program to assist 
the detailed mine planning and scheduling for the production ramp up 
in both Bete Bete and the Central Pit.

Ground penetrating radar works focused on areas to the west of Bete 
Bete adjacent to the new main haul road and targeted areas which have 
historical drill holes which intersected high grade ore.

In addition to nickel ore exploration, preliminary works has commenced 
on identifying significant quality limestone deposits inside IPPKH1 which 
may be used for potential future off-take agreements.

Planning for Limonite Ore Supply

During the six months to 31 December 2019, 76,338 tonnes of suitable 
HPAL limonite were successfully stockpiled in Bete Bete pit areas for 
potential future supply to third party HPAL projects within the IMIP.

Hengjaya Mine to IMIP Haul Road

The alignment for a new Hengjaya Mine to IMIP haul road has been 
defined.  Detailed road design, ground truthing and surveying is well 
advanced and construction of a first pilot road, starting near Bete Bete 

pit and progressing inside the western area of IPPKH1, is in progress.  
The total haul road distance will be approximately 14 kilometres and is 
intended for future hauling of both saprolite ore and limonite ore from 
the Hengjaya Mine to the IMIP RKEF plants and potential future supply of 
limonite ore to third party HPAL plants within the IMIP.

Once completed the new haul road will enable higher tonnages to be 
mined and hauled (rather than barging) as well as allowing for strategic 
access to additional ore resources to the west of Bete Bete.

Mine Safety, Environment and Community

Unfortunately, during the December quarter there was a fatality on 
one of the Hengjaya Mine haul roads.  The incident occurred when 
a sub-contractor’s water truck lost control when descending on a 
hill.  During the incident the passenger jumped from the vehicle and 
tragically suffered fatal injuries.  The truck driver suffered minor injuries 
when the truck came to rest at the mine haul road safety ramp area.  A 
full investigation was completed by the Indonesian Ministry of Energy 
and Mineral Resources and PT Hengjaya Mineralindo company officers 
and additional and revised safety procedures have been introduced to 
minimise the likelihood of a recurrence of a similar incident. 

Training of staff and contractors in safe operating practices continues 
on a regular and routine basis.  Since the incident there has been 
a heightened focus on contractor procedures and safe operating 
procedures.

The Group continues to work with both local and regional stakeholders, 
including the Tangofa, Bete Bete and Bahodopi village regions, assisting 
with basic health checks, health and hygiene education, first aid, 
education in reducing the use of plastics in day to day living.

No environmental incidents were reported during the period ended 
31 December 2019, with work continuing on contouring and 
rehabilitating previously mined production areas.  Site rehabilitation 
initiatives taken include cedar tree plantings and a regional 
rehabilitation program, with phase one being the planting of an 
800,000 pine tree nursery in Central Sulawesi in 2020.

During the period, PT Hengjaya Mineralindo was awarded a certificate 
of excellence for its involvement in regional rehabilitation projects 
working with the forestry.

Corporate Governance Statement 
The Board is committed to maintaining standards of Corporate 
Governance.  Corporate Governance is about having a set of core 
values and behaviours that underpin the Company’s activities and 
ensure transparency, fair dealing and protection of the interests of 
stakeholders.  The Company has reviewed its corporate governance 
practises against the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (3rd edition) published by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council.

The Corporate Governance Statement is dated as at 28 February 
2020, reflecting the corporate governance practises throughout 
the six month period to 31 December 2019 and was approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Company on 28 February 2020.  A 
description of the Company’s current corporate governance practises 
is set out in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement which 
can be viewed at www.nickelmines.com.au/corporate-governance/.
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The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Nickel Mines Group, being Nickel Mines Limited (‘the Company’ or ‘Nickel 

Mines’) and its controlled entities (‘the Group’), for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 and the auditor’s report thereon:

Directors

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the period are:

Robert Charles Neale – Non-Executive Chairman

Director since 16 April 2018.

Mr Neale graduated from the University of Queensland with a First Class Honours Degree in Geology and 

Mineralogy with an additional major in Chemistry. Mr Neale is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of Mayur 

Resources Limited, an industrial minerals and energy company with assets in Papua New Guinea. Mr Neale is also 

a non-executive director of Amber Power Limited, an Australian, non-listed public company, developing innovative 

new energy technologies.

Mr Neale is the former Managing Director of New Hope Corporation Limited (‘NHC’) and non-executive director 

of Planet Gas Limited (now Sky Metals Limited) until February 2016. He joined NHC in 1996 as General Manager 

and was appointed as an executive officer in 2005 and to the Board of Directors in 2008 until his retirement in 2014. Mr Neale has more than 45 

years’ experience in the mining, oil and gas and exploration industries covering base metals, gold, coal, synthetic fuels and conventional oil and 

gas, bulk materials shipping, and power generation. Prior to NHC he spent 23 years with Esso Australia and EXXON Coal and Minerals Company. 

Norman Alfred Seckold – Executive Deputy Chairman

Director since 12 September 2007. 

Executive Chairman to 16 April 2018. 

Norman Seckold graduated with a Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of Sydney and has spent 

more than 30 years in the full time management of natural resource companies, both in Australia and overseas.

Mr Seckold has been the Chairman of a number of publicly listed companies including Moruya Gold Mines (1983) 

N.L., which acquired the Golden Reward heap leach gold deposit in South Dakota, USA, Pangea Resources Limited, 

which acquired and developed the Pauper’s Dream gold mine in Montana, USA, Timberline Minerals, Inc. which

acquired and completed a feasibility study for the development of the MacArthur copper deposit in Nevada, USA, 

Perseverance Corporation Limited, which discovered and developed the Nagambie gold mine in Victoria, Valdora Minerals N.L., which developed 

the Rustler’s Roost gold mine in the Northern Territory and the Ballarat East Gold Mine in Victoria, Viking Gold Corporation, which discovered a high 

grade gold deposit in northern Sweden, Mogul Mining N.L., which drilled out the Magistral and Ocampo gold deposits in Mexico and Bolnisi Gold 

N.L, which discovered and developed the Palmarejo and Guadalupe gold and silver mines in Mexico.

Mr Seckold is currently Chairman of Alpha HPA Limited, a company planning to produce high purity alumina and operating in Australia and 

Indonesia, Santana Minerals Ltd., a precious metals exploration company with projects in Chile, Laos and Mexico, Sky Metals Limited, exploring for 

gold, tin and tungsten in NSW, Australia and unlisted public company Mekong Minerals Limited.

Justin Charles Werner – Managing Director

Director since 23 August 2012.

Mr Werner, holds a Bachelor of Management from the University of Sydney and has been involved in the mining 

industry for 20 years. He was a founding partner of PT Gemala Borneo Utama, a private Indonesian exploration 

and mining company, which developed a heap leach gold mine in West Kalimantan and also discovered the 

highly prospective Romang Island with then ASX listed Robust Resources Limited which was acquired in 2012 by 

Indonesian business tycoon Anthony Salim.

Prior to developing projects in Indonesia, Justin worked as a consultant, leading many successful turnaround 

projects for blue chip mining companies around the world including Freeport McMoran (Grasberg deposit, 

Indonesia where he spent 2 years), Lihir Gold (Lihir mine, Papua New Guinea), Placer Dome (Nevada, USA), BHP Billiton (Ingwe Coal, South Africa), 

Rio Tinto (West Angeles Iron Ore, Australia), Nickel West (Western Australia) and QNI Yabulu refinery (Queensland, Australia).

Mr Werner is currently a non-executive director of ASX Listed Alpha HPA Limited.
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Peter James Nightingale – Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Director since 12 September 2007.

Peter Nightingale graduated with a Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of Sydney and is a 

member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. He has worked as a chartered 

accountant in both Australia and the USA.

As a director or company secretary Mr Nightingale has, for more than 30 years, been responsible for the 

financial control, administration, secretarial and in-house legal functions of a number of private and public listed 

companies in Australia, the USA and Europe including Pangea Resources Limited, Timberline Minerals Inc., 

Perseverance Corporation Limited, Valdora Minerals N.L., Mogul Mining N.L., Bolnisi Gold N.L, Cockatoo Coal 

Limited and Planet Gas Limited (now Sky Metals Limited). Mr Nightingale is currently a director of ASX Listed 

Alpha HPA Limited and unlisted public company Prospech Limited.

James Crombie – Non-Executive Director

Director since 23 May 2008. 

Jim Crombie graduated from the Royal School of Mines, London, with a B.Sc. (Hons) in Mining Engineering, 

having been awarded an Anglo American Scholarship. Mr. Crombie held various positions with DeBeers 

Consolidated Mines and the Anglo American Corporation in South Africa and Angola between 1980 and 1986. He 

spent the next thirteen years as a Mining Analyst and Investment Banker with Shepards, Merrill Lynch, James 

Capel & Co. and finally with Yorkton Securities. Mr. Crombie was the Vice President, Corporate Development of 

Hope Bay Mining Corporation Inc. from February 1999 through May 2002 and President and CEO of Ariane Gold 

Corp. from August 2002 to November 2003. Mr. Crombie was President, CEO and a director of Palmarejo Silver 

and Gold Corporation until the merger with Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation, one of the world’s leading silver 

companies, in December 2007. He was a director of Sherwood Copper Corporation until its business combination with Capstone Mining Corp. in 

November 2008. Currently, Mr. Crombie is President and CEO of Odyssey Resources Corp., and a director of Arian Silver Corporation and Torex 

Gold Resources Inc.

Weifeng Huang – Non-Executive Director

Director since 26 April 2018. 

Mr Huang has graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Zhejiang University and a Masters of 

Business Administration from Zhejiang University.

Mr Huang began his career in several industrial enterprises and has broad management experiences from serving 

as the Plant Manager of Wenzhou Tractor Plant, the General Manager of Wenzhou Machinery Industrial Corporation, 

the Vice Mayor of Wenzhou and the Executive Chairman of China Perfect Machinery Industry Corp., Ltd. Mr Huang 

also served as the Deputy Director of the Management Committee of Shanghai Jinqiao Export Processing Zone, 

where he was appointed as a Director of Shanghai Jinqiao Export Processing Zone Development Co., Ltd, a 

publicly-listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Deputy CEO of Shanghai Jinqiao Group. Mr Huang was also a former Chairman 

of the board of Harbin High Tech (Group) Co., Ltd, another publicly-listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr Huang is currently the Chairman of Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd, (‘Shanghai Decent’) a flagship company within the Tsingshan 

group and a Director of PT Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park. Under his leadership, Shanghai Decent has led in the development of the IMIP.
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Mark Hamish Lochtenberg – Non-Executive Director

Director since 10 March 2017. 

Mr Lochtenberg graduated with a Bachelor of Law (Hons) degree from Liverpool University, U.K. and has been 

actively involved in the coal industry for more than 25 years. He was the Executive Chairman and founding 

Managing Director of ASX-listed Cockatoo Coal Limited.

He was also formerly the co-head of Glencore International AG’s worldwide coal division, where he spent 13 

years overseeing a range of trading activities including the identification, due diligence, negotiation, acquisition 

and aggregation of the coal project portfolio that would become Xstrata Coal. Prior to this Mr Lochtenberg 

established a coal “swaps” market for Bain Refco, (Deutsche Bank) after having served as a senior coal trader 

for Hansen Neuerburg AG and as coal marketing manager for Peko Wallsend Limited.

Mr Lochtenberg is currently Chairman of ASX listed Equus Mining Limited, a minerals exploration company with operations in Chile and a Director 

of Australian Transport Energy Corridor Pty Ltd and Montem Resources Limited. 

Yuanyuan Xu – Non-Executive Director

Director since 26 April 2018. 

Ms Yuanyuan Xu graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Fashion Business & Fashion Design from Instituto 

Marangoni.

Since graduation, Ms Xu has focused on marketing, public relations and procurement activities.

She is currently an Executive Director of Shanghai Wanlu Investment Co., Ltd.

Richard James Edwards – Company Secretary

Company Secretary since 28 March 2012.

Richard Edwards graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of New South Wales, is 

a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia, a member of CPA Australia and holds a Graduate Diploma of 

Applied Finance and Investment from FINSIA. Mr Edwards has worked for over fifteen years providing financial 

reporting and company secretarial services to a range of publicly listed companies in Australia with a focus on 

the mining sector. He is also Company Secretary of ASX listed Alpha HPA Limited and unlisted public company 

Prospech Limited.
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Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors’ meetings held and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company, while they were a Director, 

during the six month period are:

Board meetings Audit Committee meetings Remuneration Committee meetings

Director Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Robert Neale 3 3 1 1 2 2

Norman Seckold 3 2 - - - -

Justin Werner 3 3 - - - -

Peter Nightingale 3 3 - - - -

James Crombie 3 3 1 1 2 2

Weifeng Huang 3 3 1 1 - -

Mark Lochtenberg 3 3 1 1 2 2

Yuanyuan Xu 3 1 - - - -

The Company has also formed a Nomination Committee that has not yet met.

Directors’ Interests

The beneficial interests of each Director of the Company in the issued share capital of the Company are:

Key management personnel 1 July 2019 Purchased Sold Date of this report

Robert Neale 500,000 - - 500,000

Norman Seckold 123,715,661 - - 123,715,661

Justin Werner 25,016,297 - - 25,016,297

Peter Nightingale 22,265,654 - - 22,265,654

James Crombie 6,580,000 - - 6,580,000

Weifeng Huang - - - -

Mark Lochtenberg 11,693,333 - - 11,693,333

Yuanyuan Xu 149,258,258 - - 149,258,258

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the period ended 31 December 2019. No dividends have been paid or 

declared during the year or in prior years.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors, significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the period ended 31 December 2019 

were as follows:

• On 26 July 2019, the Company’s shareholders approved the increase in the Company’s interest in Ranger Nickel from 17% to 60% for 

$121.4 million with consideration being funded by the drawdown of an $80 million senior debt facility provided by a Shanghai Decent 

associated company, the issue of 139,972,705 shares in the Company for $40 million and a cash payment of $1.4 million. The Company 

completed this acquisition on 14 August 2019.

• Subsequent to the drawdown of the $80 million senior debt facility, in August 2019 the Company made a voluntary early repayment of 

$10 million and a further $5 million in September 2019.

• In September 2019, the Company and Shanghai Decent agreed that Nickel Mines would limit its contractual option to further equity 

interest in the Hengjaya Nickel project to not more than 80% and that the option period during which Nickel Mines can acquire a further 

equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel project was extended from 31 January 2020 to 30 November 2020.

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the six month period ended 31 

December 2019 other than as disclosed in this Directors’ Report, or in the financial statements. 
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Impact of Legislation and Other External Requirements

On 12 January 2014 the Indonesian Government introduced a ban on the export of unprocessed minerals. As a consequence, the mining 

operations at the Hengjaya Mine ceased. Whilst the ban on the export of unprocessed minerals remains in place, mining operations were 

recommenced in October 2015 following the signing of a series of ore offtake agreements to supply ore to Tsingshan Group companies within the 

IMIP as detailed above. There were no environmental or other legislative requirements during the year that have significantly impacted the results 

or operations of the Group.

Environmental Regulations

The Group’s operations are subject to environmental regulations in the Republic of Indonesia.

The Board of Directors regularly monitors compliance with environmental regulations. The Directors are not aware of any significant breaches of 

these regulations during the period covered by this report.

Likely Developments

Information as to likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in subsequent years has not 

been included in this report because disclosure of this information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors

During or since the end of the year, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement to indemnify an officer or auditor of the 

Company against a liability incurred by such an officer or auditor. In addition, the Company has not paid or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of 

a contract insuring against a liability incurred by an officer or auditor.

Non-audit Services

During the year KPMG, the Group’s auditor, did not provide any services outside of audit services.

6 months to 
31 December 

2019 
$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

Investigating Accountant’s services in relation to the IPO - 11,536

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any other item, transaction or event of a 

material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of 

those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.
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Remuneration Report - (Audited)

All amounts in this remuneration report are in Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

Principles of Compensation - (Audited)

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management 

personnel comprise the Directors of the Company. No other employees have been deemed to be key management personnel. The policy of 

remuneration of Directors and senior executives is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the person’s duties and responsibilities, 

and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality. Compensation levels have been, and will 

be, set to be in line with Australian listed entities of equivalent size and comparable operations in order to attract and retain suitably qualified and 

experienced key management personnel but also having regard to the prevailing financial capacity of the Company.

The Board is responsible for reviewing and evaluating its own performance. The evaluation process is intended to assess the Group’s business 

performance, whether long term strategic objectives are being achieved and the achievement of individual performance objectives.

Remuneration generally consists of salary payments. The remuneration disclosed below represents the cost to the Group for the services provided 

under these arrangements.

Consultancy Agreements with key management personnel

The Company has entered into an executive consultancy agreement with a company associated with Norman Seckold. Under this executive 

consultancy agreement, the consultancy company of Mr Seckold agrees to make Mr Seckold available to perform the duties and responsibilities 

of the position of Executive Chairman up to the IPO and Executive Deputy Chairman after the IPO. In the six months to 31 December 2019, 

the consultancy company received a fee of A$12,500 per month. The consultancy agreement commenced on 1 May 2018 and continues until 

terminated in accordance with its terms. Prior to 1 May 2018 there was no formal contract with Mr Seckold.

The Company has entered into an executive consultancy agreement with a company associated with Justin Werner. Under this executive 

consultancy agreement, the consultancy company of Mr Werner agrees to make Mr Werner available to perform the duties and responsibilities of 

the position of Managing Director. In the six months to 31 December 2019, the consultancy company received a fee of $29,167 per month. The 

consultancy agreement commenced on 1 April 2018 and continues until terminated in accordance with its terms. Prior to 1 April 2018 there was 

no formal contract with Mr Werner.

The Company has entered into an executive consultancy agreement with a company associated with Peter Nightingale. Under this executive 

consultancy agreement, the consultancy company of Mr Nightingale agrees to make Mr Nightingale available to perform the duties and 

responsibilities of the position of Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director. In the six months to 31 December 2019, the consultancy company 

received a fee of A$25,000 per month. The consultancy agreement commenced on 1 April 2018 and continues until terminated in accordance with 

its terms. Prior to 1 April 2018 there was no formal contract with Mr Nightingale.

Each Executive Director is entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in connection with attending meetings of 

the Board and any committee on which he or she serves. The consultancy agreements may be terminated by the Company or the consultancy 

company by either party giving three months’ notice. The Company may terminate the consultancy agreements without notice in certain 

circumstances, including but not limited to a breach of contract, criminal activity or serious misconduct by the consultancy company or the key 

management personnel.

Each of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors have entered into Letters of Appointment with the Company to serve as Non-Executive Directors. 

Each of the Letters of Appointment provide that amongst other things, in consideration for their services, the Company will pay the following fees 

to the Non-Executive Directors, following listing on the ASX. 

Name Position Annual fee (A$)

Robert Neale Non-Executive Chairman 150,000

James Crombie Non-Executive Director 50,000

Weifeng Huang Non-Executive Director 50,000

Mark Lochtenberg Non-Executive Director 50,000

Yuanyuan Xu Non-Executive Director 50,000
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No Directors or senior executives received performance related remuneration during the period ended 31 December 2019. There were no 

remuneration consultants used by the Group during the period ended 31 December 2019, or in the prior year.

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board has regard to the following indices in respect of the current 

six month period and the previous four financial years.

USD

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

2019  
$

2018  
$

2017  
$

2016  
$

Net profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company 56,504,374 65,525,988 (3,311,526) (3,831,761) (1,377,084)

Dividends paid - - - - -

As the Group has only recently transitioned from the development stage into production at the Company’s RKEF projects the Board also considers 

non-financial indices in assessing the Group’s performance and the shareholders wealth. This includes obtaining the permits and approvals to 

further develop the mining operations, identifying opportunities for potential strategic business partnerships and ventures and the success of fund 

raising ventures.

Details of Remuneration for the Period Ended 31 December 2019 - (Audited)

Details of Director and senior executive remuneration and the nature and amount of each major element of the remuneration of each Director of 

the Company, and other key management personnel of the Group are set out below. All balances included are denominated in Australian dollars.

Remuneration for six months ended 31 December 2019:

Key  
management  
personnel

Short term  
Salary and fees  

A$

Post- 
employment  

Superannuation  
A$

Share based  
payments  

Shares  
A$

Total  
A$

Proportion of  
remuneration  

performance related  
%

Value of options  
as a proportion of  

remuneration  
%

Executive Directors

Norman Seckold 75,000 - - 75,000 -

Justin Werner 255,675 - - 255,675 -

Peter Nightingale 150,000 - - 150,000 - -

Non-Executive Directors

Robert Neale 68,493 6,507 - 75,000 - -

James Crombie 25,000 - - 25,000 - -

Weifeng Huang 25,000 - - 25,000 - -

Mark Lochtenberg 25,000 - - 25,000 - -

Yuanyuan Xu 25,000 - - 25,000 - -

Total A$649,168 A$6,507 - A$655,675 - -
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Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2019:

Key  
management  
personnel

Short term  
Salary and fees  

A$

Post-
employment  

Superannuation  
A$

Share based  
payments  

Shares  
A$

Total  
A$

Proportion of  
remuneration  

performance related 
%

Value of options  
as a proportion of  

remuneration  
%

Executive Directors

Norman Seckold 100,269 - - 100,269 -

Justin Werner 288,495 - - 288,495 -

Peter Nightingale 186,828 - - 186,828 - -

Non-Executive Directors

Robert Neale (1) 118,569 11,264 - 129,833 - -

James Crombie 43,280 - - 43,280 - -

Weifeng Huang (2) 43,280 - - 43,280 - -

Mark Lochtenberg 43,280 - - 43,280 - -

Yuanyuan Xu (2) 43,280 - - 43,280 - -

Total A$867,281 A$11,264 - A$878,545 - -
(1)  Appointed as a Director on 16 April 2018.
(2)  Appointed as a Director on 26 April 2018.

The total remuneration expense for the period ended 31 December 2019 of A$655,675 (30 June 2019: A$878,545) has been recognised in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss at the US$ equivalent of $448,785 (30 June 2019: $628,511).

Movement in shares - (Audited)

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key 

management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

1 July 2019 Purchased Sold 31 December 2019

Robert Neale 500,000 - - 500,000

Norman Seckold 123,715,661 - - 123,715,661

Justin Werner 25,016,297 - - 25,016,297

Peter Nightingale 22,265,654 - - 22,265,654

James Crombie 6,580,000 - - 6,580,000

Weifeng Huang - - - -

Mark Lochtenberg 11,693,333 - - 11,693,333

Yuanyuan Xu 149,258,258 - - 149,258,258

1 July 2018 Purchased Sold 30 June 2019

Robert Neale 500,000 - - 500,000

Norman Seckold 123,715,661 - - 123,715,661

Justin Werner 25,016,297 - - 25,016,297

Peter Nightingale 22,265,654 - - 22,265,654

James Crombie 6,580,000 - - 6,580,000

Weifeng Huang - - - -

Mark Lochtenberg 11,693,333 - - 11,693,333

Yuanyuan Xu 149,258,258 - - 149,258,258
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Transactions with Key Management Personnel - (Audited)

Norman Seckold and Peter Nightingale hold a controlling interest in an entity, MIS Corporate Pty Limited, which provided full administrative 

services, including administrative, accounting, company secretarial and investor relations staff both within Australia and Indonesia, rental 

accommodation, services and supplies to the Group. Fees charged by MIS Corporate Pty Limited during the six month period to 31 December 

2019 amounted to A$290,250 (30 June 2019: A$402,600) which included a fee of A$35,000 per month and reimbursement of consultant 

expenses incurred on behalf of the Group. At 31 December 2019 A$15,000 (30 June 2019: A$9,000) remained outstanding.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 16 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the period ended 31 December 2019.

Signed at Sydney this 28th day of February 2020 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Robert Neale Norman Seckold 
Chairman Deputy Chairman 
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Nickel Mines Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Nickel Mines Limited 
for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPM_INI_01   

PAR_SIG_01 PAR_NAM_01 PAR_POS_01 PAR_DAT_01 PAR_CIT_01  

KPMG Stephen Board 
Partner 

Brisbane 
28 February 2020 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

USD Notes

6 months to 
31 December 

2019 
$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

Sales revenue 21 236,059,160 64,937,347

Cost of sales (136,207,419) (40,905,545)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (16,419,372) (9,277,390)

Gross profit 83,432,369 14,754,412

Directors’ fees and consultants’ expenses (2,893,410) (2,641,601)

Share of profit of equity accounted investees 15 1,239,032 2,623,212

Other expenses 4 (1,023,527) (1,122,798)

Results from operating activities 80,754,464 13,613,225

Financial income 5 13,035,913 58,315,916

Financial expense 5 (2,336,467) (35,925)

Net financial income 10,699,446 58,279,991

Profit before income tax 91,453,910 71,893,216

Income tax expense 8 (173,476) (66,788)

Profit for the period/year 91,280,434 71,826,428

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss (22,393) -

Total comprehensive profit for the period/year 91,258,041 71,826,428

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 56,504,374 65,525,988

Non-controlling interest 34,776,060 6,300,440

Profit for the period/year 91,280,434 71,826,428

Total comprehensive profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 56,486,460 65,525,988

Non-controlling interest 34,771,581 6,300,440

Total comprehensive profit for the period/year 91,258,041 71,826,428

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted profit per share (cents) for the period/year 9 3.46 4.95

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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USD Notes

31 December 
2019 

$

30 June 
2019 

$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18 49,820,013 49,002,977

Trade and other receivables 6 97,208,882 46,935,830

Inventory 10 56,238,558 8,917,474

Other current assets 7 1,293,301 3,348,216

Total current assets 204,560,754 108,204,497

Non-current assets

Other non-current asset 7 9,014,394 4,459,072

Investment in equity accounted investees 15 - 49,960,736

Property, plant and equipment 11 628,516,578 340,090,494

Goodwill 16 55,404,895 29,219,349

Total non-current assets 692,935,867 423,729,651

Total assets 897,496,621 531,934,148

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 52,489,262 42,249,023

Current tax payable 652,704 303,729

Provision – employee’s benefit obligation 662,427 497,886

Borrowings 13 4,333,333 4,180,333

Total current liabilities 58,137,726 47,230,971

Non-current liabilities

Provision – rehabilitation 149,919 198,309

Deferred income tax liability 8 55,404,895 29,391,174

Other non-current liability 1,018,309 346,816

Borrowings 13 60,666,667 -

Total non-current liabilities 117,239,790 29,936,299

Total liabilities 175,377,516 77,167,270

Net assets 722,119,105 454,766,878

Equity

Share capital 14 315,501,048 275,938,304

Reserves 19,206,524 (639,437)

Retained profits 92,757,906 36,253,532

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 427,465,478 311,552,399

Non-controlling interest 294,653,627 143,214,479

Total equity 722,119,105 454,766,878

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

As at 31 December 2019



USD Notes
Share capital  

$

Retained profits/  
(accumulated losses)  

$
Reserves  

$
Total  

$
Non-controlling interest  

$
Total equity  

$

Balance at 1 July 2018 103,105,128 (29,272,456) (595,498) 73,237,174 1,907,540 75,144,714

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 65,525,988 - 65,525,988 6,300,440 71,826,428

Total comprehensive income for the year - 65,525,988 - 65,525,988 6,300,440 71,826,428

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Issue of shares 14 185,710,639 - - 185,710,639 - 185,710,639

Costs of issue (12,877,463) - - (12,877,463) - (12,877,463)

Non-controlling interest arising on acquisition - - (43,939) (43,939) 135,006,499 134,962,560

Balance at 30 June 2019 275,938,304 36,253,532 (639,437) 311,552,399 143,214,479 454,766,878

Balance at 1 July 2019 275,938,304 36,253,532 (639,437) 311,552,399 143,214,479 454,766,878

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period - 56,504,374 - 56,504,374 34,776,060 91,280,434

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation - - (17,914) (17,914) (4,479) (22,393)

Total comprehensive income for the period - 56,504,374 (17,914) 56,486,460 34,771,581 91,258,041

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Issue of shares 14 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 - 40,000,000

Costs of issue 14 (437,256) - - (437,256) - (437,256)

Non-controlling interest arising on acquisition - - - - 136,531,442 136,531,442

Transaction with non-controlling interest without a change of control - - 19,863,875 19,863,875 (19,863,875) -

Balance at 31 December 2019 315,501,048 92,757,906 19,206,524 427,465,478 294,653,627 722,119,105

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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For the six months ended 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

USD Notes

6 months to 
31 December 

2019 
$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 212,696,681 33,443,269

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (169,899,088) (28,382,928)

Interest received 89,507 228,042

Taxes and fees paid (4,677,776) (1,154,626)

Net cash from operating activities 18 38,209,324 4,133,757

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments in equity accounted investees 15 - (120,000,000)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (29,617,317) (19,501,434)

Payments for acquisition of controlled entity 16 (1,400,000) -

Cash on acquisition of controlled entity 16 7,244,743 9,576,857

Loans to equity accounted investees - (10,700,000)

Net cash used in investing activities (23,772,574) (140,624,577)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 14 - 183,633,648

Costs of issue (444,893) (10,800,472)

Contribution by non-controlling interest 16,986,235 15,000,000

Repayment of borrowings and interest changes 13 (29,886,953) (2,000,000)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (13,345,611) 185,833,176

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,091,139 49,342,357

Effect of exchange rate adjustments on cash held (274,103) (1,145,953)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period/year 49,002,977 806,574

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period/year 49,820,013 49,002,977

Non-cash financing and investing activities

The acquisition of a controlled entity disclosed in Note 16 included a non-cash transaction of $120,000,000 which was funded through the issue 

of $40,000,000 in shares and $80,000,000 in debt.

Non-cash investing activities

Payments for acquisition of controlled entity 16 (120,000,000) -

Total non-cash investing activities (120,000,000) -

Non-cash financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 14 40,000,000 -

Proceeds from borrowings 13 80,000,000 -

Total non-cash financing activities 120,000,000 -

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY

Nickel Mines Limited (the ‘Company’) is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial report for the six month period ended 31 

December 2019 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’). The Group is a for-profit entity and is involved in 

nickel ore mining and nickel pig iron production operations.

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’) 

adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the Group 

complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(‘IASB’).

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 28 February 2020.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured 

at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

Change of financial year end

The financial year of the Company has changed from 30 June to 31 December to align the year end date of the Company with that of its subsidiary 

companies in both Indonesia and Singapore to improve the efficiency of the Company’s financial reporting and planning cycles. Accordingly, the 

financial period reported in these financial statements covers the six month period from 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019. Comparative figures 

for these financial statements cover the twelve month period from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. The results for the current period are therefore 

not directly comparable with the results for the prior period.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates 

and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the 

most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the following notes:

• Note 8 – Income tax expense.

• Note 16 – Controlled entities.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest

The Group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquiree. Acquisitions of 

non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders and therefore no goodwill is 

recognised as a result of such transactions.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing 

the consolidated financial statements. Where a controlled entity issues shares to minority interests which does not result in loss of control by the 

Group, any gain or loss arising on the Group’s interest in the controlled entity is recognised directly in equity.

Investments in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. 

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather 

than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially at cost, which includes 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

Nickel ore and nickel pig iron sales revenue

Nickel ore and nickel pig iron sales revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises 

revenue when it transfers control over goods or a service to a customer.

Invoices for nickel ore sales are generated twice a month upon receipt of assay results and are usually payable within 10 working days. Invoices 

for nickel pig iron sales are generated on a monthly basis and are based on the underlying nickel content delivered. They are usually payable 

within 60 days. No discounts are provided for nickel ore and nickel pig iron products, but adjustments are made to the final sale price for items 

including final nickel grade, moisture content and nickel content.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to United States dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that 

date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to United States dollars at foreign exchange 

rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The Group transacts in the following foreign currencies: Australian dollars (A$ or AUD) and Indonesian Rupee (IDR).

Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated to United States dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The 

revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to United States dollars at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve 

(‘FCTR’), a separate component of equity.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement of which is neither 

planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in 

the FCTR.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to United States 

dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to United States dollars at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to 

profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

At 31 December 2019, the functional currency of all components in the Group is United States dollars. The FCTR represents the foreign exchange 

differences which arose on retranslation in prior years on subsidiaries which have not yet been disposed.

Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation and amortisation

Mining properties’ amortisation rate is applied on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the mining licence. The amortisation is included 

in the costs of conversion of inventories.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement using a reducing balance method from the date of acquisition using the following rates:

• Furniture and fittings and plant and machinery are depreciated at 25%.

• Buildings and infrastructure are depreciated at 5%. 

• Mine infrastructure assets are depreciated at 5%. 

• Office equipment is depreciated at rates of between 25% and 40%. 

• Plant and machinery are depreciated at rates if between 12.5% and 25%.

• Motor vehicles are depreciated at 25%.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Impairment

Financial assets

The Group recognises expected credit losses (‘ECLs’), where material, on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12 month ECLs:

• Other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial

instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. At each reporting date, the Group 

assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at fair value through profit or loss are credit impaired.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its 

entirety or a portion thereof.

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than deferred tax assets and inventories, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment loss is 

recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through profit or loss.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Share capital

Transaction costs

Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Finance income and finance costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income;

• interest expense;

• dividend income;

• the foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities; and

• the gain on the remeasurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree in a business combination.

Interest income or interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date 

on which the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 

instrument to:

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

• the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset 

is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 

recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer 

credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 

difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of 

the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the Group’s exploration and evaluation and development activities are capitalised in relation to 

qualifying assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Income tax

Income tax on the income statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to 

the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet 

date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

The following temporary differences are not provided for:

• The initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit and differences relating to investments in 

subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 

using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be 

utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend.

Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (‘GST’), except where the amount of GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 

of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian 

Taxation Office is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 

activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating cash flows.

Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 

date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date, are calculated at undiscounted amounts 

based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers 

compensation insurance and payroll tax.
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on average costs over the relevant period 

of production, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing 

them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it 

is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, when 

appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Site restoration

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration in respect of disturbed land, 

and the related expense, is recognised when the land is disturbed.

Determination of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets 

and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, 

further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised at cost or fair value, as exploration and evaluation assets 

on an area of interest basis. Costs incurred before the Group has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of the area of interest are current and either:

• the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest; or

• activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence

or other wise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are

continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability 

and facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For the purposes of impairment testing, 

exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. The cash generating unit shall 

not be larger than the area of interest.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are demonstrable, exploration 

and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from exploration and evaluation 

expenditure to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at 

fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 

the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 

liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position when, and only when, the Group has 

a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:

• amortised cost;

• fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’) – equity investment; or 

• fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’). 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing financial 

assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business 

model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as fair value through profit or loss if:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the 

investment’s fair value through other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as described above are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably 

designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 

income as at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses – Policy applicable from 1 July 2018

Financial assets at amortised cost  These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 

amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

 

Equity instruments at FVOCI  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss 

unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and 

losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Financial assets at FVTPL  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or 

dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Changes in significant accounting policies

AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including AASB 117 Leases. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2019.

AASB 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right 

to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-

term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as 

finance or operating leases.

The Group completed an assessment of the impact of applying AASB 16 on the financial statements and no material leases were identified.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2019 and have 

not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial 

statements of the Group.

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

NOTE 4 - OTHER EXPENSES

Audit fees – KPMG audit of financial reports 232,490 246,234

IPO related fees – KPMG - 11,536

Travel 191,119 252,467

Legal fees 167,804 523,706

Other 432,114 88,855

1,023,527 1,122,798

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE

Interest income 228,603 249,933

Interest expense (2,336,467) (35,925)

Net change in fair value of investment in associate 7,400,232 (1) 57,337,499 (1)

Foreign exchange gain 5,407,078 728,484

10,699,446 58,279,991
(1)  See Note 15 for further details.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

NOTE 6 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Sales taxes receivable 12,539,843 3,328,026

Trade receivables 84,669,039 43,607,804

97,208,882 46,935,830

NOTE 7 - OTHER ASSETS

Current

Prepayments 1,293,301 1,647,583

Loan to equity accounted investee - 1,709,633

1,293,301 3,348,216

During the six month period to 31 December 2019, PT Ranger Nickel Industry, a subsidiary of Ranger Investment Private Limited, that had been 

classified as an equity accounted investee prior to the Company increasing its interest to 60%, fully repaid a $1.7 million working capital loan and 

associated interest charges.

Non-current

Prepayments 8,629,570 4,059,223

Other 384,824 399,849

9,014,394 4,459,072
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6 months to 
31 December 

2019 
$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

NOTE 8 - INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Profit before tax – continuing operations 91,453,910 71,893,216

Prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) at the Australian tax rate of 30% (30 June 2019: 30%) 27,436,173 21,567,965

Increase in income tax expense/(benefit) due to:

- Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 291,099 (38,043)

- Non-deductible/non-assessable income (27,003,403) (20,709,711)

- Effect of deferred tax assets for tax losses not brought to account 123,125 64,764

- Effect of net deferred tax assets not brought to account (570,391) (889,085)

- Effect of foreign currency conversion (103,127) 70,898

Income tax expense – current and deferred 173,476 66,788

Deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of the following items:

Net deductible temporary differences – property, plant and equipment 55,404,895 29,391,174

55,404,895 29,391,174

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Net deductible temporary differences 1,826,485 2,229,539

Tax losses 872,118 719,898

2,698,603 2,949,437

The deductible temporary differences and tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised 

in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits 

of the deferred tax asset. The Company does not have any franking credits.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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For the six months ended 31 December 2019

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

NOTE 9 - PROFIT PER SHARE

Basic and diluted profit per share have been calculated using:

Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 56,504,374 65,525,988

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic and diluted) Nº of shares Nº of shares

Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 1,525,495,624 808,482,230

 - Effect of shares issued on 14 August 2018 - 509,462,325

 - Effect of shares issued on 13 June 2019 - 6,421,703

 - Effect of shares issued on 14 August 2019 105,740,250 -

Weighted average number of shares at the end of the year 1,631,235,874 1,324,366,258

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

NOTE 10 - INVENTORY

Inventory – nickel ore stockpiles 237,071 714,190

Inventory – nickel pig iron production raw materials 43,306,276 8,203,284

Inventory – nickel pig iron 12,695,211 -

 56,238,558 8,917,474

During the period ended 31 December 2019, the Company’s 80% subsidiary PT Hengjaya Mineralindo continued to supply nickel ore to the 

Company’s 60% owned subsidiary PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry under an offtake agreement to supply 50,000 wmt per month. In December 2019, 

PT Hengjaya Mineralindo signed contracts with both PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry and the Company’s 60% owned subsidiary PT Ranger Nickel 

Industry to supply 100,000 wmt to each entity for the period January to March 2020.

Nickel pig iron production raw materials includes nickel ore acquired by PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry and PT Ranger Nickel Industry from PT 

Hengjaya Mineralindo. This continues to be valued at the PT Hengjaya Mineralindo cost of production.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

NOTE 11 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture and fittings

Furniture and fittings – cost 173,726 69,911

Accumulated depreciation (58,398) (46,127)

Net book value 115,328 23,784

Mine infrastructure assets

Mine infrastructure assets – cost 5,900,493 3,526,044

Accumulated depreciation (1,187,941) (1,166,887)

Net book value 4,712,552 2,359,157

Buildings and land

Buildings – cost 63,285,275 30,657,609

Accumulated depreciation (2,200,715) (602,563)

Net book value 61,084,560 30,055,046

Mining properties 

Mining properties – cost 27,991,023 27,836,972

Accumulated amortisation (2,540,425) (1,572,159)

Net book value 25,450,598 26,264,813

Office equipment

Office equipment – cost 749,743 619,248

Accumulated depreciation (316,015) (269,485)

Net book value 433,728 349,763

Plant and machinery

Plant and machinery – cost 556,552,301 286,026,881

Accumulated depreciation (20,097,968) (5,313,393)

Net book value 536,454,333 280,713,488

Motor vehicles

Motor vehicles – cost 459,293 348,838

Accumulated depreciation (193,814) (24,395)

Net book value 265,479 324,443

Total property, plant and equipment 628,516,578 340,090,494

Impairment

After consideration of both internal and external factors, the Directors believe that no indicators of impairment existed at 31 December 2019 

and have therefore not completed an impairment assessment over the carrying value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment assets at 31 

December 2019.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below.

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

Furniture and fittings

Carrying amount at beginning of year 23,784 2,716

Additions 103,815 32,370

Depreciation (12,271) (11,302)

Net book value 115,328 23,784

Mine infrastructure assets

Carrying amount at beginning of year 2,359,157 1,698,835

Additions 2,374,449 1,122,014

Depreciation (21,054) (461,692)

Net book value 4,712,552 2,359,157

Buildings and land

Carrying amount at beginning of year 30,055,046 186,059

Additions 32,627,666 30,406,927

Depreciation (1,598,152) (537,940)

Net book value 61,084,560 30,055,046

Mining properties

Carrying amount at beginning of year 26,264,813 24,442,312

Additions 154,052 2,840,804

Amortisation (968,267) (1,018,303)

Net book value 25,450,598 26,264,813

Office equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 349,763 119,759

Additions 130,496 330,762

Depreciation (46,531) (100,758)

Net book value 433,728 349,763

Plant and machinery

Carrying amount at beginning of year 280,713,488 32,219

Additions 270,525,421 285,364,932

Depreciation (14,784,576) (4,683,663)

Net book value 536,454,333 280,713,488

Motor vehicles

Carrying amount at beginning of year 324,443 145,734

Additions 110,455 201,471

Depreciation (169,419) (22,762)

Net book value 265,479 324,443

For the six months ended 31 December 2019
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31 December 
2019 

$

30 June 
2019 

$

NOTE 12 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Creditors 50,156,272 39,228,037

Accruals 2,150,921 3,020,986

Other 182,069 -

52,489,262 42,249,023

NOTE 13 - BORROWINGS 

Current

Working capital loans - 4,000,000

Interest on working capital loans - 180,333

Ranger debt facility 4,333,333 -

4,333,333 4,180,333

Non-current

Ranger debt facility 60,666,667 -

Ranger debt facility

In August 2019, as part of the financing package to increase the Company’s interest in the Ranger Nickel project from 17% to 60% the Company 

secured a senior debt facility agreement with a Shanghai Decent associated company. Key terms of the Ranger debt facility agreement are as 

follows:

• Facility amount of $80,000,000.

• Interest rate of 6% plus the greater of (i) 3-month US$ LIBOR or (ii) 2.5% per annum.

• Interest is payable on the last day of each interest period of one month.

• Principal to be repaid in quarterly instalments by repaying on the last business day of November, February, May and August (beginning on

30 November 2020) an amount equal to 1/15th of the amount borrowed under the debt facility.

• Nickel Mines granted security over its 60% equity interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited the Singaporean entity which holds a

100% indirect interest in the Ranger Nickel project, and its 60% equity interest in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited, the Singaporean

entity which holds a 100% indirect interest in the Hengjaya Nickel project.

Prior to 31 December 2019, the Company has made voluntary prepayments against the Ranger debt facility totalling $15,000,000. Prepayments 

are applied on a pro rata basis against all repayment dates following the prepayment.

Hengjaya Nickel project working capital loans

During the six month period to 31 December 2019, PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry fully repaid working capital loans and associated interest charges 

provided by its indirect shareholders, Nickel Mines and Decent Investment International Private Limited (‘Decent Investment’) an associate of 

Shanghai Decent. These loans were proportionate to the shareholders interest in the Hengjaya Nickel project, i.e. Nickel Mines provided 60% 

of the total amount and Decent Investment provided 40%. Interest was charged at a rate of 6% p.a. During the period ended 31 December 

2019, Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited repaid $6 million to Nickel Mines, as well as interest totalling $315,500 less withholding tax charges of 

$31,550, and repaid $4 million to Decent Investment, as well as interest totalling $236,000 less withholding tax charges of $23,600.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 13 - BORROWINGS (Cont’d) 

Ranger Nickel project working capital loans

At the time of the Company’s acquisition of an additional 43% interest in the Ranger Nickel project, the shareholders had made working capital 

contributions totalling $10 million, in proportion to their equity interests, i.e. $1.7 million by Nickel Mines and $8.3 million by Decent Investment 

and related entities. Following the acquisition, Nickel Mines commenced consolidating Ranger Investment Private Limited and contributed $4.3 

million of working capital funding, with Decent Investment withdrawing the equivalent amount. Consequentially, Nickel Mines’ working capital loan 

contributions of $6 million out of loans totalling $10 million was equivalent to its increased ownership interest of 60% of the Ranger Nickel project.

Interest was charged at a rate of 6% p.a. Subsequent to the acquisition of the additional 43% interest in August 2019 and prior to 31 December 

2019 Ranger Investment Private Limited repaid $6 million to Nickel Mines, as well as interest totalling $109,667 less withholding tax charges of 

$10,967 and repaid $4 million to Decent Investment and its related entities, as well as interest totalling $154,767 less withholding tax charges of 

$15,477.

NOTE 14 - ISSUED CAPITAL
Number of  

shares $

Ordinary shares on issue at 30 June 2018 - fully paid 808,482,230 103,105,128

Issue of shares - cash 708,928,572 183,633,648

Issue of shares - share based payments 8,084,822 2,076,991

Costs of issue - (12,877,463)

Ordinary shares on issue at 30 June 2019 - fully paid 1,525,495,624 275,938,304

Issue of shares - cash 139,972,705 40,000,000

Costs of issue - (437,256)

Ordinary shares on issue at 31 December 2019 - fully paid 1,665,468,329 315,501,048

Period ended 31 December 2019

In August 2019, the Group issued 139,972,705 shares for cash totalling A$57,388,809 (equivalent to $40,000,000). There were no amounts 

unpaid on the shares issued and share issue costs amounted to $437,256.

Year ended 30 June 2019

In June 2019, the Group issued 137,500,000 shares for cash totalling A$55,000,000 (equivalent to $38,109,500). There were no amounts unpaid 

on the shares issued and share issue costs amounted to $1,566,790.

In August 2018, the Group issued 571,428,572 shares for cash totalling A$200,000,000 (equivalent to $145,524,148). There were no amounts 

unpaid on the shares issued and share issue costs amounted to $11,310,673. An additional 8,084,822 shares were issued as part of the costs of 

issue.
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NOTE 14 - ISSUED CAPITAL (Cont’d) 

Options

There were no options granted, exercised or lapsed unexercised during the period ended 31 December 2019 or the year ended 30 June 2019.

Dividends

There were no dividends paid or declared during the period ended 31 December 2019 or the year ended 30 June 2019.

Ordinary shares

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are fully paid. The holders of ordinary 

shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time.

NOTE 15 - INVESTMENT IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

Investment in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited

Current

Opening balance - 50,000,025

Acquisition of an additional 35% interest - 70,000,000

Share of profit of equity accounted investee - 2,662,476

Fair value movement in the carrying value of investment - 57,337,499

Consideration for business combination - (180,000,000)

- -

Investment in Ranger Investment Private Limited

Current

Opening balance 49,960,736 -

Acquisition of a 17% interest in equity accounted investee - 50,000,000

Acquisition of an additional 43% interest 121,400,000

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investee 1,239,032 (39,264)

Fair value movement in the carrying value of investment 7,400,232 -

Consideration for business combination (180,000,000) -

- 49,960,736

At 30 June 2019, the Company held a 17% interest in the issued share capital of Ranger Investment Private Limited, a Singaporean holding 

company which holds 100% of the shares (directly and indirectly) of PT Ranger Nickel Industry, an Indonesian PMA company which owns and 

operates the Ranger Nickel project. On 14 August 2019, the Company acquired an additional 43% interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited, 

taking its total interest to 60% and equity accounting of the investment in Ranger Investment Private Limited was ceased at 14 August 2019.

The Company’s equity accounting share of Ranger Nickel project profit from 1 July 2019 to 14 August 2019 was $1,239,032.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2019

37 Nickel Mines Limited
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NOTE 16 - CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Acquisition of controlled entities

On 14 August 2019, the Company acquired a further 43% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Ranger Investment Private Limited which 

indirectly owns 100% of the Ranger Nickel project, for $121.4 million. This took the Company’s interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited to 

60% and equity accounting of the investment in Ranger Investment Private Limited was ceased at 14 August 2019.

The acquisition and control of Ranger Investment Private Limited had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities on acquisition date, 

determined on a provisional basis:

Pre-acquisition  
carrying amounts  

$

Fair value  
adjustments  

$

Recognised values  
on acquisition  

$
Fair value of net assets of entity acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents 7,244,743 - 7,244,743

Other current assets 3,366,663 - 3,366,663

Trade receivables 12,768,544 - 12,768,544

Inventory 21,369,174 - 21,369,174

Property, plant and equipment 117,795,494 176,075,010 293,870,504

Other non-current assets 5,589,087 - 5,589,087

Trade and other payables (34,078,865) - (34,078,865)

Borrowings (10,129,850) - (10,129,850)

Goodwill - 26,185,546 26,185,546

Deferred income tax liability - (26,185,546) (26,185,546)

Net assets and liabilities 123,924,990 176,075,010 300,000,000

Consideration transferred:

Fair value of equity accounted investment 180,000,000

Non-controlling interest 120,000,000

300,000,000

Cash consideration paid (1,400,000)

Cash acquired 7,244,743

Net cash inflow 5,844,743

The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values. The fair value of the assets was determined on 

acquisition date by reference to a valuation of $300 million, being the underlying valuation when determining the cost of any additional increase 

in the Company’s interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited. Management also considered the findings of an Independent Experts’ Report 

prepared by Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited who prepared a valuation on a recent comparable transaction basis. This is considered to be 

a level 3 fair value assessment.

At the date of acquisition, the gross contractual amount of the Ranger Nickel project’s trade receivables was $12,768,544. The fair value of the 

trade receivables as at 14 August 2019 and the amount Ranger Investment Private Limited expects to receive are the same as the contractual 

amounts. Subsequent to acquisition the trade receivables were collected in full.
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NOTE 16 - CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Cont’d) 

In September 2018, in accordance with its rights under a Collaboration and Subscription Agreement, the Company acquired a further 35% of the 

issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited which indirectly owns 100% of the Hengjaya Nickel project, for $70 million. 

This took the Company’s interest in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited to 60%. In March 2019, the terms of the Collaboration and Subscription 

Agreement were amended whereby it was agreed that Nickel Mines could constitute the Board of Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited at its 

discretion and it was then deemed that Nickel Mines controlled Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited and equity accounting of the investment in 

Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited was ceased at 31 March 2019.

The acquisition and control of Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities on control acquisition 

date, determined on a provisional basis:

Pre-acquisition  
carrying amounts 

$

Fair value 
adjustments 

$

Recognised values 
on acquisition  

$
Fair value of net assets of entity acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents 9,576,857 - 9,576,857

Other current assets 21,148,737 - 21,148,737

Property, plant and equipment 114,170,669 195,476,576 309,647,245

Other non-current assets 3,537,359 - 3,537,359

Trade and other payables (28,699,698) - (28,699,698)

Borrowings (15,210,500) - (15,210,500)

Goodwill - 29,219,349 29,219,349

Deferred income tax liability - (29,219,349) (29,219,349)

Net assets and liabilities 104,523,424 195,476,576 300,000,000

Consideration transferred:

Fair value of equity accounted investment 180,000,000

Non-controlling interest 120,000,000

300,000,000

Cash consideration paid -

Cash acquired 9,576,857

Net cash inflow 9,576,857

The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values. The fair value of the assets was determined on 

acquisition date by reference to a valuation of $300 million, being the underlying valuation when determining the cost of any additional increase 

in the Company’s interest in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited. Management also considered the findings of an Independent Experts’ Report 

prepared by Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited who prepared a valuation on a recent comparable transaction basis. This is considered to be 

a level 3 fair value assessment.

At the date of acquisition, the gross contractual amount of the Hengjaya Nickel project’s trade receivables was $13,715,613. The fair value of the 

trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 and the amount Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited expects to receive are the same as the contractual 

amounts. Subsequent to acquisition the trade receivables were collected in full. 
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NOTE 16 - CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Cont’d) 

Non-controlling interests

The following table summarises the information relating to the Group’s subsidiaries that have a material non-controlling interest, before any intra-

group eliminations.

Hengjaya Holdings  
Private Limited and  

its controlled entities PT Hengjaya Mineralindo

Ranger Investment  
Private Limited and  

its controlled entities

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

Non-controlling interest percentage 40% 40% 20% 20% 40% -

Current assets 101,475,279 62,894,012 5,887,486 2,796,988 76,216,530 -

Non-current assets 336,509,990 343,917,180 31,198,951 28,042,814 322,589,337 -

Current liabilities (21,764,708) (46,982,173) (7,547,875) (6,402,369) (26,352,730) -

Non-current liabilities (29,219,349) (29,219,349) (23,560,781) (19,309,503) (26,185,546) -

Net assets 387,828,960 330,609,670 5,977,782 5,127,929 346,267,591 -

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest (3) 155,131,584 141,265,371 1,015,006 1,949,108 138,507,036 -

Revenue 132,292,676 52,717,022 (1) 12,829,854 (2) 14,184,410 (1) 103,766,484 -

Profit 48,294,053 15,647,180 1,368,492 207,940 38,661,314 -

Other comprehensive income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income 48,294,053 15,647,180 1,368,492 207,940 38,661,314 -

Profit/(loss) allocated to non-controlling interest (3) 19,317,621 6,258,872 (6,087) 41,568 15,464,526 -

Other comprehensive income allocated to  

non-controlling interest
- - - - - -

(1)   Only includes nickel pig iron sales post 1 April 2019, the date at which Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited and its controlled entities were 

consolidated in the Group.
(2)   Includes nickel ore sales from the Company’s controlled entity PT Hengjaya Mineralindo to the Company’s controlled entity PT Hengjaya Nickel 

Industry.
(3)  After intra-group eliminations.
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Particulars in relation to controlled entities:

Ordinary shares –  
Group interest 
31 December  

2019  
%

Ordinary shares –  
Group interest 

30 June  
2019  

%
Parent entity

Nickel Mines Limited

Controlled entities

PT Hengjaya Mineralindo (incorporated in Indonesia) 80 80

Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited (incorporated in Singapore) 60 60

Hengjaya Nickel Private Limited (incorporated in Singapore) 60 60

PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry (incorporated in Indonesia) 60 60

Ranger Investment Private Limited (incorporated in Singapore) 60 17 (1)

Ranger Nickel Private Limited (incorporated in Singapore) 60 17 (1)

PT Ranger Nickel Industry (incorporated in Indonesia) 60 17 (1)

(1)  Equity accounted – refer Note 15.

Goodwill

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

Opening balance 29,219,349 -
Goodwill arising on acquisition of Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited - 29,219,349
Goodwill arising on acquisition of Ranger Investment Private Limited 26,185,546 -

55,404,895 29,219,349

The goodwill balance has arisen on the two business combinations referred to above. The goodwill has been determined on a provisional 

basis and the measurement period has not yet concluded. Accordingly, the goodwill balance has not yet been finalised and allocated to a cash 

generating unit for impairment testing. At 31 December 2019, the Directors consider there are no indicators of impairment. The goodwill balances 

will be finalised and impairment testing completed no later than 31 December 2020.
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NOTE 17 - RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel of the Group include the following: 

Robert Neale Chairman (Non-Executive) Norman Seckold Deputy Chairman

Justin Werner Managing Director Peter Nightingale Director and Chief Financial Officer

James Crombie Director (Non-Executive) Weifeng Huang Director (Non-Executive)

Mark Lochtenberg Director (Non-Executive) Yuanyuan Xu Director (Non-Executive)

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration paid or payable to each member of the Group’s 

key management personnel for the period ended 31 December 2019. The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group 

during the year is as follows:

Key Management Personnel compensation

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

Short term employee benefits 448,785 628,511

Key Management Personnel transactions

A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or joint control 

over the financial or operating policies of those entities. A number of these entities transacted with the Group during the year. The aggregate value 

of transactions and outstanding balances (excluding the compensation noted above) relating to key management personnel and entities over 

which they have control or joint control were as follows:

Norman Seckold and Peter Nightingale hold an interest in an entity, MIS Corporate Pty Limited (‘MIS’), which provided full administrative services, 

including administrative, accounting, company secretarial and investor relations staff both within Australia and Indonesia, rental accommodation, 

services and supplies, to the Group. On 1 January 2019 MIS agreed to provide these services for a fee of A$35,000 per month. This fee will 

be reviewed quarterly by the Company and MIS. Fees charged by MIS during the period amounted to A$290,250 (12 months to 30 June 2019: 

A$402,600) which included the agreed monthly fee and the reimbursement of consultant expenses incurred by MIS on behalf of the Group. At 31 

December 2019 A$15,000 (30 June 2019: A$9,000) remained outstanding and was included in the creditor’s balance.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director or other related party has entered into a material contract with the Group during the year 

and there were no material contracts involving Director’s interests subsisting at year end.

PT Ranger Nickel Industry

As detailed in Note 7, in May 2019, the Company provided a $1.7 million working capital loan to PT Ranger Nickel Industry, a subsidiary of an 

associate Ranger Investment Private Limited, during the commissioning phase. An additional $4.3 million working capital loan was provided to 

PT Ranger Nickel Industry in August 2019. Interest is charged at a rate of 6% p.a. Total interest payable by to Nickel Mines on the working capital 

loan on 14 August 2019, the date at which Nickel Mines acquired an additional 43% indirect interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited was 

$12,467 (30 June 2019: $9,633). Following this acquisition, Ranger Investment Private Limited and its controlled entities formed part of the Nickel 

Mines Group and the working capital loans were fully repaid to the Company prior to 31 December 2019.
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NOTE 18 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
6 months to 

31 December 
2019 

$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled

to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Bank balances 49,820,013 49,002,977

(b) Reconciliation of net loss from ordinary activities after tax to net cash used
in operating activities
Profit from ordinary activities after tax 91,280,434 71,826,428

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation 16,419,372 9,277,390

Foreign exchange gain (5,407,078) (728,484)

Interest expense 2,336,467 35,925

Net change in fair value of investment in associate (7,400,232) (57,337,499)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Trade receivables and other assets (53,212,581) (30,417,143)

Inventory (47,321,083) (3,317,957)

Provisions 116,150 (67,412)

Trade and other payables 41,397,875 14,864,509

Net cash from operating activities 38,209,324 4,133,757
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(c) Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Liabilities  
Loans and borrowings  

$

Equity  
Share capital  

$
Total  

$

Opening balance at 1 July 2019 4,180,333 275,938,304 -

Changes from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares - 40,000,000 40,000,000

Costs of issue - (437,256) (437,256)

Borrowings arising on acquisition 8,300,000 - 8,300,000

Borrowings 80,000,000 - 80,000,000

Repayment of borrowings (27,300,000) - (27,300,000)

Repayment of interest (2,516,800) - (2,516,800)

Total changes from financing cash flows 58,483,200 39,562,744 98,045,944

Other changes

Finance expenses 2,336,467 -

Total other changes 2,336,467 -

Closing balance at 31 December 2019 65,000,000 315,501,048

NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. Risk management 

policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 

adherence to limits. These policies are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. The summaries 

below present information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks, their objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing 

risk, the management of capital and financial instruments.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from the risk of counterparties defaulting on the terms of their agreements. The carrying amounts of the following assets 

represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets:

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$

Cash and cash equivalents 18 49,820,013 49,002,977

Trade and other receivables 6 97,208,882 46,935,830

Loan to equity accounted investee 7 - 1,709,633

147,028,895 97,648,440

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group mitigates credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by dealing with regulated banks in Australia, China, Indonesia and Singapore.

Trade and other receivables

Credit risk of trade and other receivables is low as it consists predominantly of nickel ore and nickel pig iron sales. Nickel ore sales are currently 

all to the Company’s 60% owned PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry and nickel pig iron trade receivables are from sales to two customers, PT Indonesia 

Tsingshan Stainless Steel, a Tsingshan group company operating within the IMIP and export sales to Shanghai Decent and amounts recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Authority. None of the Group’s material trade and other receivables are past due.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 

liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments:

Consolidated

Carrying  
amount  

$

Contractual  
cash flows  

$

Less than  
one year  

$

Between one  
and five years  

$

More than  
five years  

$
31 December 2019

Trade and other payables (including tax) 53,141,965 53,141,965 53,141,965 - -

Borrowings 65,000,000 73,410,278 14,252,033 59,158,245 -

118,141,965 126,552,243 67,393,998 59,158,245 -

30 June 2019

Trade and other payables 42,552,752 42,552,752 42,552,752 - -

Borrowings 4,180,333 4,230,000 4,230,000 - -

Total liabilities 46,733,085 46,782,752 46,782,752 - -

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity management rests with the Board of Directors. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 

funding where possible and monitoring of future rolling cash flow forecasts of its operations, which reflect management’s expectations of 

expected settlement of financial assets and liabilities.

Currency risk

The Group functional currency in 2019 was assessed as being United States dollars. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks due to the fact 

that the domestic ore sales of its subsidiaries PT Hengjaya Mineralindo, PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry and Ranger Nickel Industry are in Indonesian 

Rupiah (although the underlying sale price is denominated in US dollars), liabilities of the Group are denominated in both Indonesian Rupiah and 

Australian dollars and the issues of shares during the year were denominated in Australian dollars.
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The Group’s gross financial position exposure to foreign currency risk at 31 December is as follows:

31 December 2019 30 June 2019

Foreign currency USD Foreign currency USD

IDR

Cash at bank IDR 46,974,621,253 $3,383,729 IDR 35,870,163,502 $2,539,031

Accounts receivable IDR 89,013,638,068 $6,411,931 IDR 615,110,927,164 $43,539,970

Other current assets - - IDR 69,337,705,871 $4,907,995

Provisions IDR 11,277,393,345 $812,346 IDR 9,385,505,761 $696,196

Taxes payable IDR 8,366,066,505 $602,634 IDR 4,290,938,455 $303,729

Trade and other payables IDR 607,578,601,916 $43,765,792 IDR 450,738,646,685 $31,905,054

AUD

Cash at bank A$25,390,739 $17,829,377 A$34,986,844 $24,571,261

Receivables A$ 32,131 $22,562 A$180,046 $126,446

Trade and other payables A$ 362,602 $254,619 A$172,965 $121,473

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

USD 31 December 2019 30 June 2019 31 December 2019 30 June 2019

IDR 14,090 14,469 13,883 14,128

AUD 1.4610 1.3978 1.4242 1.4239

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the exchange rate risk exposures at balance date.

At balance date, if the exchange rate between the United States dollar and the Indonesian Rupiah and the Australian dollar had moved, as 

illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, the post-tax loss and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgement of reasonable possible movements:

Post tax loss 
(Higher)/Lower  
31 December  

2019 
$

Total equity 
(Higher)/Lower  
31 December  

2019 
$

Post tax loss 
(Higher)/Lower  

30 June 
2019 

$

Total equity 
(Higher)/Lower  

30 June 
2019 

$
+ 10% higher USD to IDR exchange rate (3,538,511) (3,538,511) 2,353,381 2,353,381

- 5% lower USD to IDR exchange rate 1,769,256 1,769,256 (1,176,691) (1,176,691)

+ 10% higher USD to AUD exchange rate 1,759,732 1,759,732 4,183,263 4,183,263

- 5% lower USD to AUD exchange rate (879,866) (879,866) (2,091,632) (2,091,632)
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market interest rate relates to cash assets.

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rate risk:

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18 49,820,013 49,002,977

Financial liabilities

Borrowings 13 65,000,000 -

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) loss for the period by the amounts shown 

below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative period.

6 months to  
31 December  

2019  
$

12 months to  
30 June  

2019  
$

Profit for the year (84,557) (249,048)

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 

development of the business.

The Board ensures, where possible, costs are not incurred in excess of available funds and will seek to raise additional funding through issues of 

shares for the continuation of the Group’s operation. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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As at, and throughout the financial period ended 31 December 2019, the parent entity of the Group was Nickel Mines Limited.

Parent Entity  
6 months to  

31 December  
2019  

$

Parent Entity  
12 months to  

30 June  
2019  

$
Result of the parent entity

Net profit 4,355,503 55,971,407

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive profit 4,355,503 55,971,407

31 December  
2019  

$

30 June  
2019  

$
Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 24,143,940 48,932,604

Non-current assets 378,549,158 244,708,976

Total assets 402,693,098 293,641,580

Current liabilities 4,732,142 265,538

Non-current liabilities 60,666,667 -

Total liabilities 65,398,809 266,538

Net Assets 337,294,289 293,376,042

Equity

Share capital 315,501,048 275,938,304

Retained profits 21,793,241 17,437,738

Total Equity 337,294,289 293,376,042

At balance date, the Company has no capital commitments or contingencies (30 June 2019: $nil).
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NOTE 21 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Unallocated items comprise interest bearing loans, borrowings and expenses, and corporate assets and expenses.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more than one 

period in that geographic region.

Operating segments

For the period ended 31 December 2019, the Group had two segments, being nickel ore mining in Indonesia and the RKEF projects in Indonesia.

Indonesia -  
Nickel ore mining 

$

Indonesia – 
RKEF Projects 

$
Unallocated 

$
Total 

$
6 months to 31 December 2019

External revenues - (1) 236,059,160 - 236,059,160

Reportable segment profit/(loss) before tax 1,042,957 96,385,556 (5,974,603) 91,453,910

Interest income 9,882 (8,098) 104,338 106,122

Interest expense - 127,648 2,208,819 2,336,467

Depreciation and amortisation 496,175 15,922,402 795 16,419,372

Reportable segment assets 35,733,798 837,616,884 24,143,940 897,496,621

Reportable segment liabilities (8,716,103) (101,262,603) (65,398,810) (175,377,516)

12 months to 30 June 2019

External revenues 12,220,325 (1) 52,717,022 (2) - 64,937,347

Reportable segment profit/(loss) before tax 274,629 78,120,349 (6,501,762) 71,893,216

Interest income 25,804 12,262 211,867 249,933

Interest expense - 35,925 - 35,925

Depreciation and amortisation 1,814,896 7,461,181 1,313 9,277,390

Reportable segment assets 24,519,982 458,481,562 48,932,604 531,934,148

Reportable segment liabilities (7,119,318) (69,782,414) (265,538) (77,167,270)

(1)  From 1 April 2019, sales of nickel ore are internal to the Group and so are eliminated on consolidation.
(2)  The Group’s external revenue is generated under nickel pig iron supply agreements with Tsingshan group companies. Only includes sales

revenue of nickel pig iron from 1 April 2019 as prior to this date PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry was accounted for as an equity accounted

investee.
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For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 21 - SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

31 December 
2019 

$

30 June 
2019 

$
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues and profit or loss

Profit or loss

Total profit for reportable segments 97,428,513 78,394,978

Unallocated amounts:

Net other corporate income/(expenses) (5,974,603) (6,501,762)

Consolidated profit before tax 91,453,910 71,893,216

Reconciliations of reportable assets and liabilities

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments 873,352,681 483,001,545

Unallocated corporate assets 24,143,940 48,932,604

Consolidated total assets 897,496,621 531,934,148

Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments (109,978,706) (76,901,732)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (65,398,810) (265,538)

Consolidated total liabilities (175,377,516) (77,167,270)

Geography of reportable segment assets

Indonesia 
$

Singapore 
$

Total 
$

31 December 2019

Reportable segment assets 873,150,906 201,776 873,352,682

30 June 2019

Reportable segment assets 482,991,778 9,767 483,001,545

Revenue

All sales during the year were to customers located in Indonesia.

Major customers

All sales of nickel pig iron during the six month period to 31 December 2019 were either exported sales to Shanghai Decent or to PT Indonesia 

Tsingshan Stainless Steel, an Indonesian Tsingshan group company, operating with the Indonesian Morowali Industrial Park.

All sales of nickel ore during the six month period to 31 December 2019 were to the Company’s 60% owned subsidiary PT Hengjaya Nickel 

Industry, under an offtake agreement to supply 50,000 wmt per month.
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For the six months ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 22 - REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by major production and timing of revenue recognition. The table 

also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with the Group’s reportable segments.

Nickel pig iron Nickel ore
6 months to 

31 December 
2019  

$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

6 months to 
31 December 

2019  
$

12 months to 
30 June 

2019 
$

Major products 236,059,160 52,717,022 12,829,854 (1) 12,220,325 (1)

Timing of revenue recognition

Products transferred at a point in time 236,059,160 52,717,022 12,829,854 12,220,325

Revenue from contracts with customers 236,059,160 52,717,022 12,829,854 12,220,325

External revenue as reported in Note 21 236,059,160 52,717,022 12,829,854 12,220,325

(1) From 1 April 2019 sales of nickel ore are internal to the Group and so are eliminated on consolidation.

The extent to which an entity’s revenue is disaggregated for the purposes of this disclosure depends on the facts and circumstances of the entity’s 

contracts with customers.

NOTE 23 - AUDITOR REMUNERATION

During the period ended 31 December 2019 KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has not performed any other services in addition to their statutory audit 

duties.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Group, KPMG, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the period 

and prior year are set out below: 

31 December 
2019 

$

30 June 
2019 

$
Auditors of the Company

Audit and review of financial reports – KPMG Australia 170,453 123,393

Audit and review of financial reports – KPMG Indonesia 62,037 122,840

Services other than statutory audit

Investigating Accountant’s services in relation to IPO - 11,536

232,490 257,769

NOTE 24 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material 

and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those 

operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

NOTE 25 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

There are no contingent liabilities existing at 31 December 2019 (30 June 2019: $nil). 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Nickel Mines Limited (‘the Company’):

(a)  the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 17 to 51 and the Remuneration report on pages 12 to 15 in the

Directors’ report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its performance for the period ended

on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards, (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations

Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2.

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2.  The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the chief executive officer and

chief financial officer for the financial period ended 31 December 2019.

Signed at Sydney this 28th day of February 2020 

in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Robert Neale Norman Seckold 
Chairman Deputy Chairman 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm
of the KPMG network of independent member firms
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme
approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation.

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the shareholders of Nickel Mines Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Nickel Mines Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the
Group’s financial position as at 31 
December 2019 and of its financial
performance for the six month period 
ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting
Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

The Financial Report comprises: 
• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31

December 2019; 

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, Consolidated statement of
changes in equity, and Consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the six month period then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting
policies; and 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of the Company and the entities it 
controlled at the period-end or from time to time during 
the six month period. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  
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Liability limited by a scheme 
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Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Nickel Mines Limited

Report on the audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Nickel Mines Limited (the Company).

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Group’s financial position as at 31 
December 2019 and of its financial
performance for the six month period 
ended on that date; and

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

The Financial Report comprises:
• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2019;

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, and Consolidated statement of
cash flows for the six month period then ended;

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies; and

• Directors’ Declaration.

The Group consists of the Company and the entities it
controlled at the period-end or from time to time during 
the six month period.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our
audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.
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Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matters we identified was 
the consolidation of Ranger Investment 
Private Limited. 

 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 
 

 

Consolidation of Ranger Investment Private Limited ($300m) 

Refer to Note 16 Controlled Entities 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group’s investment in Ranger Investment 
Private Limited (Ranger Investment) increased 
from 17% to 60% during the financial period. 
This investment was previously equity 
accounted, and was consolidated effective 15 
August 2019. 

This was as key audit matter due to the 
following: 

• Size of the transaction: The fair value of the 
net assets of Ranger Investment was 
assessed at $300m at the date of 
acquisition; and 

• Complexity: The terms and conditions of 
the acquisition agreements were complex 
and had pervasive impacts on the financial 
report.  

We focused on significant judgements made by 
the Group in relation to: 

- the date of gaining control of Ranger 
Investment; 

- the fair value of the consideration 
transferred, including non-controlling 
interests; and 

- the provisional fair values assigned 
to the identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired. 

These conditions required significant audit 
effort and greater involvement by senior team 

Our procedures included: 

• Reading the acquisition agreements to 
understand the key terms and conditions of 
the agreements and the obligations of each 
party to the agreements; 

• Working with our valuation specialists, we 
assessed and challenged the key assumptions 
used in the purchase price allocation to 
identify assets and liabilities acquired, 
including a consideration of the existence of 
intangible assets in the form of rights specified 
in the acquisition agreements; 

• Working with our valuation specialists, we 
assessed and challenged the Group’s fair 
value assessments, including: 

o The fair value of the consideration 
transferred by assessing the value of 
$300m assigned by the Group by 
reference to an option held to acquire 
the remaining 40% of Ranger 
Investment as well as an independent 
experts report obtained as part of the 
acquisition of the additional 43%. This 
included assessing the competence, 
experience and skills of the 
independent expert; and 

o The provisional fair values assigned to 
identifiable assets and liabilities, 
including identifiable intangible assets; 

• Testing of the acquisition date balance sheet 
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members and KPMG valuation specialists. of Ranger Investment to the underlying 
accounting records of that company and 
assessing the compliance of those accounting 
records with accounting standards, 

• Testing of the post-acquisition financial
performance and position of Ranger
Investment, compliance with the accounting
policies of the Group and the accuracy of the
consolidation of Ranger Investment in the
Financial Report in accordance with the
requirements of accounting standards;

• Evaluating the Group’s disclosures in the
Financial Report against the requirements of
accounting standards.

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Nickel Mines Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the 
Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; and

• assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the
use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report 
of Nickel Mines Limited for the six month 
period ended 31 December 2019, 
complies with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Our responsibilities 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in 
pages 15 to 18 of the Directors’ report for the six month 
period ended 31 December 2019.  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

KPMG Stephen Board 
Partner 

Brisbane  
28 February 2020 
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. The information 

is current as at 31 January 2020.

Distribution of Equity Securities

ORDINARY SHARES

Range Number of Holders Number of Shares

1 to 1,000 148 98,744

1,001 to 5,000 480 1,396,022

5,001 to 10,000 357 2,969,631

10,001 to 100,000 966 38,023,040

Above 100,001 350 1,622,980,892

2,301 1,665,468,329

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel is 66.

Twenty Largest Shareholders

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:

Nº
ORDINARY SHARES 
SHAREHOLDER Nº OF SHARES

TOTAL 
%

1 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 249,534,395 14.98

2 Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co Ltd 161,696,446 9.71

3 Shanghai Wanlu Investment Co Ltd 149,258,258 8.96

4 Decent Investment International Private Limited 139,972,705 8.40

5 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 114,971,319 6.90

6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 102,047,588 6.13

7 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 82,247,939 4.94

8 CS Third Nominees Pty Limited <HSBC Cust Nom Au Ltd 13 A/C> 62,323,208 3.74

9 Altinova Nominees Pty Limited 60,104,526 3.61

10 Permgold Pty Ltd <The Seckold Super Fund A/C> 57,611,135 3.46

11 Brispot Nominees Pty Ltd <House Head Nominee A/C> 21,786,061 1.31

12 Bellambi Enterprises Limited 20,949,929 1.26

13 Peng Lim Oon 19,027,143 1.14

14 National Nominees Limited 18,247,645 1.10

15 Bell Potter Nominees Ltd <BB Nominees A/C> 18,036,930 1.08

16 Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd <Unpaid Entrepot A/C> 16,783,113 1.01

17 CS Fourth Nominees Pty Limited <HSBC Cust Nom Au Ltd 11 A/C> 15,647,015 0.94

18 Rosignol Pty Ltd <Nightingale Family A/C> 14,950,132 0.90

19 CO2 Capital Private Limited 10,302,679 0.62

20 Susan Maree Valmadre 10,017,934 0.60

Total in Top 20 1,345,516,100 80.79
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Substantial Shareholders

Substantial shareholders and the number of equity securities in which it has an interest, as shown in the Company’s Register of Substantial 

Shareholders is:

Shareholder Nº of Shares Held % of Issued Shares

Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co Ltd 301,669,151 18.11%

Shanghai Wanlu Investment Co Ltd 149,258,258 8.96%

BlackRock Group 138,641,579 8.32%

Norman Alfred Seckold 123,715,661 7.43%

Regal Funds Management Pty Ltd 118,048,965 7.09%

Class of Shares and Voting Rights

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares, as set out in the Company’s Constitution, are that every member in person or by proxy, attorney or 

representative, shall have one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting has one vote on a show of hands.

Tenement Schedule

Project Tenement number Interest %

Hengjaya Project 540-3/SK.001/DESDM/VI/2011 80%
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of members is to be convened at Level 2, 66 Hunter Street, 

Sydney, NSW, 2000 on 29 May 2020 at 11.00 am. 

 

 

AGENDA 

 

 

BUSINESS 

 

To receive and consider the Company's annual financial report, the directors' report and the auditors' report for the six 

month period ended 31 December 2019. 

 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, with or without amendment: 

 

Ordinary Resolution 1. Approval of Remuneration Report 

'That the Remuneration Report for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 be and is hereby adopted.' 

 

Ordinary Resolution 2. Re-election of a Director 

'That Mark Lochtenberg be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.'  

 

Ordinary Resolution 3. Re-election of a Director 

'That Robert Neale be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.' 

 

Ordinary Resolution 4. Approval for the Company to acquire a 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings 

Private Limited  

 

'That, for the purposes of Listing Rules 10.1 and for all other purposes, approval is given for the Company to 

acquire 20% of the shares and shareholder loans in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited (from Shanghai Decent 

Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. and its associates, on the terms and conditions summarised in the Explanatory 

Memorandum accompanying this Notice of Meeting.' 

 

Please note that due to the ongoing restrictions due to COVID-19, all resolutions will be decided 
based on proxy votes and shareholders will not be able to physically attend the AGM. The AGM will 
be made accessible to shareholders via a live webcast which will include a facility for shareholders to 

ask questions in relations to the business of the meeting. 
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Ordinary Resolution 5. Approval for the Company to acquire a 20% interest in Ranger Investment 

Private Limited 

 

'That, for the purposes of Listing Rules 10.1 and for all other purposes, approval is given for the Company to 

acquire 20% of the shares and shareholder loans in Ranger Investment Private Limited  from Decent Investment 

International Private Limited and its associates, on the terms and conditions summarised in the Explanatory 

Memorandum accompanying this Notice of Meeting.' 

 

To transact any other business that may be brought forward in accordance with the Company's Constitution. 

 
 
By order of the Board 
 

 
Richard Edwards 
Company Secretary 
 
24 April 2020 
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
TO BE HELD ON 29 MAY 2020 

 
EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM 

 
This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared to assist members to understand the business to be put to 
members at the Annual General Meeting to be held at Level 2, 60 Hunter Street, Sydney, NSW, on 29 May 2020 at 
11.00 am. 
 
Financial Report 
 
The Financial Report, Directors' Report and Auditor's Report for the Company for the six month period ended 31 
December 2019 will be laid before the meeting.  There is no requirement for shareholders to approve these reports, 
however, the Chairman of the meeting will allow a reasonable opportunity to ask about the content of the Annual 
Report for the six month period ended 31 December 2019. 
 
Resolution 1 - Approval of Remuneration Report 
 
The Remuneration Report, which can be found as part of the Directors’ Report in the Company's Annual Report for 
the six month period ended 31 December 2019, contains certain prescribed details, sets out the policy adopted by the 
Board of Directors and discloses the payments to key management personnel, Directors and senior executives. 
 
In accordance with section 250R of the Corporations Act, a resolution that the Remuneration Report be adopted must 
be put to the vote.  This resolution is advisory only and does not bind Directors. 
 
The Chairman will allow a reasonable opportunity for shareholders as a whole to ask about, or make comments on 
the Remuneration Report. 
 
The Chairman intends to exercise all undirected proxies in favour of Resolution 1.  If the Chairman of the Meeting is 
appointed as your proxy and you have not specified the way the Chairman is to vote on Resolution 1, by signing and 
returning the Proxy Form, you are considered to have provided the Chairman with an express authorisation for the 
Chairman to vote the proxy in accordance with the Chairman's intention. 
 
The Company will disregard any votes cast on Resolution 1 by or on behalf of a member of the key management 
personnel of the Company’s consolidated group (at the date of the meeting or whose remuneration is disclosed in the 
remuneration report) (‘KMP’) and their closely related parties (such as close family members and controlled 
companies), unless the vote is cast: 
 

 as a proxy for a person entitled to vote in accordance with a direction on the proxy appointment; or 

 by the Chairman of the Meeting as a proxy for a person entitled to vote and the proxy appointment expressly 

authorises the Chairman of the Meeting to exercise the proxy even if the resolution is connected directly or 

indirectly with the remuneration of a member of KMP. 
 
Resolution 2 - Re-election of Mark Lochtenberg as a Director 
 
In accordance with Article 15.6 of the Company's Constitution and the Corporations Act, Mr Mark Lochtenberg 
retires as a Director by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election. 
 
Mr Lochtenberg graduated with a Bachelor of Law (Hons) degree from Liverpool University, U.K. and has been 
actively involved in the coal industry for more than 25 years.  He was the Executive Chairman and founding 
Managing Director of ASX-listed Cockatoo Coal Limited. He was also formerly the co-head of Glencore 
International AG’s worldwide coal division, where he spent 13 years overseeing a range of trading activities 
including the identification, due diligence, negotiation, acquisition and aggregation of the coal project portfolio that 
would become Xstrata Coal.  Prior to this, Mr Lochtenberg established a coal “swaps” market for Bain Refco, 
(Deutsche Bank) after having served as a senior coal trader for Hansen Neuerburg AG and as coal marketing 
manager for Peko Wallsend Limited. 



 

 

Mr Lochtenberg is currently Non-Executive Chairman of ASX listed Equus Mining Limited, a minerals exploration 
company with operations in Chile and a director of non-listed companies, Australian Transport Energy Corridor Pty 
Ltd and Montem Resources Limited.  
 
He was appointed a Director of the Company on 10 March 2017. 
 
Resolution 3 - Re-election of Robert Neale as a Director 
 
In accordance with Article 15.6 of the Company's Constitution and the Corporations Act, Mr Robert Neale retires as 
a Director by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election. 
 
Mr Neale graduated from the University of Queensland with a First Class Honours Degree in Geology and 
Mineralogy with an additional major in chemistry.  Mr Neale is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of Mayur 
Resources Limited, an industrial minerals and energy company with assets in Papua New Guinea.   
 
Mr Neale is the former Managing Director of New Hope Corporation Limited (‘NHC’) and non-executive director of 
Planet Gas Limited (now Sky Metals Limited) until February 2016.  He joined NHC in 1996 as General Manager and 
was appointed as an executive officer in 2005 and to the Board of Directors in 2008 until his retirement in 2014.  Mr 
Neale has more than 45 years’ experience in the mining, oil and gas and exploration industries covering base metals, 
gold, coal, synthetic fuels and conventional oil and gas, bulk materials shipping, and power generation.  Prior to 
NHC he spent 23 years with Esso Australia and EXXON Coal and Minerals Company.  
 
He was appointed a Director of the Company on 16 April 2018. 
 
Resolution 4 - Approval for the Company to acquire a 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited; 
and  
Resolution 5 - Approval for the Company to acquire a 20% interest in Ranger Investment Private Limited. 
 
1.1 Introduction 
 
The acquisition by Nickel Mines Limited (Nickel Mines or the Company) of a 20% interest in each of Hengjaya 
Holdings Private Limited (Hengjaya) and Ranger Investment Private Limited (Ranger) will increase the Company’s 
ownership of Hengjaya and Ranger to 80%. 
 
These acquisitions from Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. and associates and Decent Investment 
International Private Limited and associates (collectively Shanghai Decent) each represent the acquisition of a 
substantial asset by the Company from a  substantial (10%+) holder of the Company as defined by ASX Listing Rule 
10.1, requiring the Approval of the Company’s shareholders. 
 
1.2 Background to the acquisition of Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited 
 
On 19 September 2017, Nickel Mines entered into a Collaboration and Subscription Agreement (as amended from 
time to time) (CSA) with Shanghai Decent , which set out (among other things) the terms to acquire up to a 100% 
equity interest (subsequently revised to a maximum 80% interest) in 2 Rotary Kiln Electric Furnace (RKEF) lines 
(Hengjaya Nickel Project), that were, at the time, under construction within the Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park 
(IMIP). 
 
Details of the Hengjaya Nickel Project are disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 7 August 2018. Nickel 
Mines' interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project is held through a Singaporean incorporated holding company, 
Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited (Hengjaya) that wholly owns an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating 
company, PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry (Hengjaya Nickel), which in turn owns the Hengjaya Nickel Project assets.  
 
Under the terms of the CSA, in November 2018 Nickel Mines completed an initial acquisition (First Hengjaya 
Acquisition) of 25% of the equity in Hengjaya and 25% of all shareholder loans due to an associate of Shanghai 
Decent at a cost of US$50 million (based on a valuation of US$300 million for the entire Hengjaya Nickel Project).   
 
Following successful completion of the Company’s Initial Public Offering in August 2018, Nickel Mines acquired a 
further 35% interest in Hengjaya to increase its interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to 60%. The Company paid 
$70 million to Shanghai Decent in cash to acquire the additional 35% interest (Second Hengjaya Acquisition).  
 



 

 

In September 2019, the Company and Shanghai Decent agreed that Nickel Mines would limit its contractual option 
to further equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to not more than 80% and that the option period during 
which Nickel Mines can acquire a further equity interest in Hengjaya was extended from 31 January 2020 to 30 
November 2020. 
 
1.3 Background to the acquisition of Ranger Investment Private Limited 
 
In November 2018, Nickel Mines entered into a Collaboration Agreement (as amended from time to time) (CA) with 
Shanghai Decent to acquire up to an 80% equity interest in 2 additional RKEF lines (Ranger Nickel Project), that 
were, at the time, under construction within the IMIP.  
 
The Ranger Nickel Project, is owned by Nickel Mines under a replica corporate structure to the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project. Nickel Mines' interests in the Ranger Nickel Project are held through a Singaporean incorporated holding 
company, Ranger Investment Private Limited (Ranger) that wholly owns an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating 
company, PT Ranger Nickel Industry (Ranger Nickel), which in turn owns the Ranger Nickel Project assets.  
 
Under the terms of the CA, in November 2018, Nickel Mines completed an initial acquisition (First Ranger 
Acquisition) of 17% of the equity in Ranger and 17% of all shareholder loans due to an associate of Shanghai 
Decent at a cost of US$50 million (based on a valuation of US$300 million for the entire Ranger Nickel Project).   
 
In July 2019, Nickel Mines acquired a further 43%  interest in Ranger to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel 
Project to 60%.  The Company paid $121.4 million to Shanghai Decent in cash to acquire the additional 43% interest 
(Second Ranger Acquisition) as follows: 
 

 US$40 million by the issue of Nickel Mines’ shares to Shanghai Decent and its associates; and 

 US$81,400,000 in cash. 
 
Current corporate structure of the Nickel Mines Group as at the date of this Notice 

 

 

  



 

 

 

1.4 Key terms of the Proposed Transactions 
 
The key terms of the Hengjaya Acquisition and Ranger Acquisition are summarised in the table below: 
 
 

Vendor Shanghai Decent and its associates. 

Assets being acquired  Hengjaya Acquisition - 20 shares (representing 20% of the issued capital) of 

Hengjaya and the assignment to Nickel Mines of 20% of aggregate shareholder 

loans payable by Hengjaya to Shanghai Decent and its associates; and 

 Ranger Acquisition - 20 shares (representing 20% of the issued capital) of 

Hengjaya and the assignment to Nickel Mines of 20% of aggregate shareholder 

loans payable by Ranger to Shanghai Decent and its associates; 

(together referred to as the ‘Proposed Transactions’). 

Purchase Price  Hengjaya Acquisition - US$60 million paid to Shanghai Decent; and 

 Ranger Acquisition - US$60 million paid to Shanghai Decent. 

Retained Earnings 

Settlement 

On completion of the Proposed Transactions the Company will also compensate 

Shanghai Decent and its associates for their 20% share of undistributed profits earned 

by Hengjaya and Ranger and their controlled entities that the Company is acquiring. 

The exact quantum of this Retained Earnings Settlement cannot be determined at this 

point, given it is dependent on the profitability of the Hengjaya Nickel Project and the 

Ranger Nickel Project until completion of the Proposed Transactions and the quantum 

of distributions to the shareholders of Hengjaya and Ranger prior to the completion of 

the Proposed Transactions. 

Other key terms Refer to the attached Independent Expert’s Report which forms part of this Explanatory 

Memorandum for further information on the terms of the Proposed Transactions. 

Funding The final funding mix for the Proposed Transactions is still to be determined and may 

include debt and/or equity funding. 

 

1.5 Material terms of the CSA 

 

The terms of the Hengjaya Acquisition are governed by the terms of the CSA, which is governed under the laws of 

Singapore.  

 

Third Hengjaya Acquisition  

 

The CSA provides the ability for Nickel Mines to acquire its interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project in three tranches: 

 

 The First Hengjaya Acquisition (as described above and which was completed in April 2018); 

 The Second Hengjaya Acquisition (as described above and which was completed in August 2018); 

 A ‘Third Hengjaya Acquisition Option’, the approval for which is being sought under this Notice of Meeting, 

permits Nickel Mines to increase its interest in Hengjaya and in the total shareholder loans to up to 80% prior 

to 30 November 2020 for US$60 million.  
 

Please refer to the Independent Expert's report for further details about the Hengjaya Acquisition and the current status 

of the Hengjaya Nickel Project. 

 

Subject to the Resolutions being sought in this Notice being approved and financing being obtained, the Company 

intends to complete the Hengjaya Acquisition by 30 November 2020. 
  



 

 

1.6 Material terms of the CA 
 
The terms of the Ranger Acquisition are governed by the terms of the CA, which is governed under the laws of 
Singapore.  
 
Third Ranger Acquisition  
 
The CA provides the ability for Nickel Mines to acquire its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project in three tranches: 
 

 The First Ranger Acquisition (as described above and which was completed in November 2018); 

 The Second Ranger Acquisition (as described above and which was completed in August 2019); 

 A ‘Third Ranger Acquisition Option’, the approval for which is being sought under this Notice of Meeting, 

permits Nickel Mines to increase its interest in Ranger and in the total shareholder loans up to 80% prior to 

30 November 2020 for US$60 million.  
 
Subject to the Resolutions being sought in this Notice being approved and financing being obtained, the Company 
intends to complete the Ranger Acquisition by 30 November 2020. 
 
Shanghai Decent’s responsibilities for the Ranger Nickel Project 
 
Please refer to the Independent Expert's report for further details about the Ranger Acquisition and the current status 
of the Ranger Nickel Project. 
 
 
Corporate structure of the Nickel Mines Group following the acquisition of the additional 20% interests in Hengjaya 

and Ranger 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.7 Timetable for Proposed Transactions 

 
  



 

 

 
1.8 Listing Rule 10.1 
 
Under ASX Listing Rule 10.1, an entity must not, without shareholder approval, acquire a substantial asset from a 
substantial (10%+) holder in the Company or an associate of a substantial (10%+) holder. In general terms, Listing 
Rule 10.2 provides that a substantial asset is one where the value or consideration equals or exceeds 5% or more of 
the equity interests of the entity as set out in the most recent accounts released to ASX. 
 
The total equity interests of the Company as at 31 December 2019 (as disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report 
lodged with ASX on 28 February 2020, being the most recent accounts released to the ASX), is US$722,119,105.  
Accordingly, 5% of the total equity interest of the Company as at 31 December 2019 is US$36,105,955.  
 
Accordingly, the Hengjaya Acquisition and the Ranger Acquisition are each substantial asset acquisitions for the 
purposes of ASX Listing Rule 10.2.  
 
Shanghai Decent and its associates are a substantial (10%+) holder of the Company, currently holding approximately 
18.1% of the issued shares in the Company.  
 
Board Recommendation  
 
The Board (other than Mr Weifeng Huang) recommends that Shareholders vote in FAVOUR of Resolutions 4 and 5. 
 
Mr Weifeng Huang declines to give a recommendation due to the fact that he is a related party of Shanghai Decent. 
 
The entity will disregard any votes cast in favour of the resolution by or on behalf of Shanghai Decent; or an 

associate of Shanghai Decent. 

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if it is cast by a person as:  

 
(a) proxy or attorney for a person who is entitled to vote on the resolution in accordance with the 

directions of the Form of Proxy or attorney to vote on the resolution in that way; or 

(b) the person chairing the meeting as proxy or attorney for a person who is entitled to vote on the 
resolution, in accordance with a direction on the Form of Proxy to vote as the proxy or attorney 
decides; or  

(c) a holder acting solely in a nominee, trustee, custodial or other fiduciary capacity on behalf of a 
beneficiary provided the following conditions are met:  

(i) the beneficiary provides written confirmation to the holder that the beneficiary is not 
excluded from voting, and is not an associate of a person excluded from voting, on the 
resolution; and 

(ii) the holder votes on the resolution in accordance with directions given by the beneficiary to 
the holder to vote in that way. 



 

 

GLOSSARY 

 
ASX means ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) or the securities market it operates, as 

the context requires. 
Board means the board of Directors of the Company. 

Company or Nickel Mines means Nickel Mines Limited (ACN 127 510 589). 

Explanatory 
Memorandum 

means the explanatory memorandum that forms part of this Notice of Meeting. 

First Hengjaya Acquisition means the initial acquisition of 25% in Hengjaya and 25% of all shareholder loans 
made to Hengjaya from Shanghai Decent 

First Ranger Acquisition means the initial acquisition of 17% in Ranger and 17% of all shareholder loans 
made to Ranger from Shanghai Decent 

IMIP means the Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park, in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. 

Independent Expert means Longeran Edwards & Associates Limited. 

Independent Expert's 
Report 

means the report issued by the Independent Expert as set out in Annexure A to this 
Notice. 

Listing Rules means the official Listing Rules of the ASX as amended from time to time. 

Meeting or Annual 
General Meeting 

means the annual general meeting to be held on 29 May 2020, the subject of the 
Notice and the Explanatory Memorandum. 

Hengjaya  means Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited, a Singaporean holding company that 
owns an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating company, PT Hengjaya Nickel 
Industry, that wholly owns the Hengjaya Nickel Project. 

Hengjaya Nickel means PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry, an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating 
company, which wholly owns the Hengjaya Nickel Project. 

Hengjaya Nickel Project means 2 RKEF lines within the IMIP.  

NPI means nickel pig iron, a beneficiated form of nickel metal. 

PMA Company means a ‘Penanaman Modal Asing’, an Indonesian foreign direct ownership 
company in which foreign share ownership of up to 100% is allowed. 

Proposed Transactions means the proposed acquisition of shares and shareholder loans in Hengjaya and 
Ranger which represents 20% of the equity and the aggregate of all shareholder 
loans made to Hengjaya and 20% of the equity and the aggregate of all 
shareholder loans made to Ranger. 

Ranger  means Ranger Investment Private Limited, a Singaporean holding company that 
owns an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating company, PT Ranger Nickel 
Industry, that wholly owns the Ranger Nickel Project. 

Ranger Nickel means PT Ranger Nickel Industry, an Indonesian incorporated PMA operating 
company, which wholly owns the Ranger Nickel Project. 

Ranger Nickel Project means 2 additional RKEF lines within the IMIP. 

RKEF means rotary kiln electric furnace. 

Second Hengjaya 
Acquisition 

means the acquisition of 35% in Hengjaya and 35% of all shareholder loans made 
to Hengjaya from Shanghai Decent 

Second Ranger Acquisition means the acquisition of 43% in Ranger and 43% of all shareholder loans made to 
Ranger from Shanghai Decent 

Shanghai Decent means Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd., a Tsingshan group 
company. 

Shareholder means a holder of Shares in the Company. 

Shares means fully paid ordinary shares in capital of the Company. 

Third Hengjaya 
Acquisition 

means the acquisition of 20% in Hengjaya and 20% of all shareholder loans made 
to Hengjaya from Shanghai Decent 

Third Ranger Acquisition means the acquisition of 20% in Ranger and 20% of all shareholder loans made to 
Ranger from Shanghai Decent 

Tsingshan means the Tsingshan group of companies. 
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The Independent Directors 
Nickel Mines Limited 
Level 2 
66 Hunter Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
 
22 April 2020 
 
Subject: Acquisition from substantial shareholder 

Intention to acquire a 20% interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
Fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines Limited shareholders not associated with 
Shanghai Decent 

 
Dear Independent Directors 

Introduction 
1 In the Notice of Annual General Meeting to be issued on 24 April 2020, the directors of 

Nickel Mines Limited (Nickel Mines or the Company) announced that the Company had 
decided to increase its current ownership interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
from 60% to 80% by 30 November 2020 (the Proposed Transactions). 

2 The decision to acquire the further 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
has been made in accordance with the terms of the respective projects’ Collaboration 
Agreements and in consultation with Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd 
(Shanghai Decent), the Company’s collaboration partner and a substantial shareholder1, 
which currently owns 40% of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects. 

Hengjaya Nickel Project 
3 The acquisition of the initial 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project (Initial Hengjaya 

Acquisition) occurred in April 2018 subsequent to signing of the Collaboration Agreement for 
the Hengjaya Nickel Project on 19 September 2017 (Hengjaya CA).  The initial 25% interest 
in the Hengjaya Nickel Project was acquired for US$50 million (Initial Hengjaya Acquisition 
Consideration). 

4 The acquisition of a further 35% in the Hengjaya Nickel Project occurred in September 2018, 
subsequent to the Company’s initial public offering (Second Hengjaya Acquisition).  This 
further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project was acquired for US$70 million (Second 
Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration). 

  

                                                 
1  Shanghai Decent currently owns 18.1% of Nickel Mines shares on issue.  
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5 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA (and subsequent agreement between the Company and 
Shanghai Decent), Nickel Mines has the option2 to increase its interest in the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project to not more than 80% before 30 November 2020 (Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition).  
The consideration for the additional 20% interest is US$60 million (Proposed Hengjaya 
Acquisition Consideration). 

Ranger Nickel Project 
6 The acquisition of the initial 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project (Initial Ranger 

Acquisition) occurred upon signing of the Collaboration Agreement for the Ranger Nickel 
Project entered into on 8 November 2018 (Ranger CA).  The initial 17% interest in the Ranger 
Nickel Project was acquired for US$50 million (Initial Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 

7 The acquisition of a further 43% in the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in July 2019, 
subsequent the Extraordinary General Meeting on 26 July 2019, at which Nickel Mines 
shareholders approved the acquisition (Second Ranger Acquisition).  The amount paid for the 
43% interest was US$121.4 million (Second Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 

8 Under the “Third Acquisition Option”3 in the Ranger CA, Nickel Mines can elect to increase 
its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project to 80% before 30 November 2020 (Proposed Ranger 
Acquisition) for a price of US$60 million (Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 

Nickel Mines  
9 Nickel Mines is an Australian public company focused on becoming a globally significant, 

low cost producer of nickel pig iron (NPI), a key ingredient in the production of stainless 
steel.  The Company has established a financial, operational and strategic partnership with 
China’s Tsingshan Holding Group (Tsingshan), the world’s largest stainless steel producer.  
Pursuant to this partnership, via Collaboration Agreements with Shanghai Decent (a 
Tsingshan group company), Nickel Mines owns and operates two rotary kiln electric furnace 
(RKEF) processing facilities (the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects) located in the 
Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP)4 in Indonesia. 

10 Nickel Mines also owns an 80% interest in the Hengjaya Mineralindo Nickel Mine (Hengjaya 
Mine), a large tonnage, high grade nickel laterite deposit located in the Morowali Regency of 
Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  The deposit is located just 12 kilometres from the IMIP.   

Purpose 
11 The Proposed Transactions are transactions with persons in a position of influence under the 

Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) Listing Rules and require the approval of Nickel 
Mines shareholders that are not considered a party to the transaction (the Nickel Mines non-
associated shareholders5).  The ASX Listing Rules require the notice of meeting sent to 

                                                 
2  The Company has the option but is not obligated to acquire the additional 20% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel 

Project. 
3  The Company has the option but is not obligated to acquire the additional 20% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project. 
4  The IMIP is the world’s largest vertically integrated stainless facility with a current stainless steel production 

capacity of 3 million tonnes per annum (Mtpa).   
5  For the purposes of this report, all future references to “Nickel Mines shareholders” is a reference to the “Nickel 

Mines non-associated shareholders”. 
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shareholders to include an independent expert’s report (IER), stating whether the transactions 
are “fair and reasonable” to the Nickel Mines non-associated shareholders. 

12 Accordingly, the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines that are not associated with Shanghai 
Decent have requested that Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited (LEA) prepare an IER in 
accordance with ASX Listing Rule 10.10.2 stating whether, in our opinion, the Proposed 
Transactions are fair and reasonable to the Nickel Mines non-associated shareholders. 

13 The LEA report will accompany the Notice of Annual General Meeting and Explanatory 
Memorandum to be sent by Nickel Mines to Nickel Mines shareholders in connection with 
the Proposed Transactions.  LEA is independent of Nickel Mines and has no involvement or 
other interest in the Proposed Transactions. 

Summary of opinion 
14 In LEA’s opinion the Proposed Transactions are, subject to there being no material adverse 

events prior to the Company electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger 
Acquisitions, fair and reasonable to the Nickel Mines shareholders.  We have formed this 
opinion for the reasons set out below. 

15 Pursuant to Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) Regulatory Guide 111 – 
Content of expert reports (RG 111) a related party transaction6 is “fair” if the value of the 
financial benefit being offered by the entity to the related party is equal to or less than the 
value of the assets being acquired. 

Fairness 
16 In our opinion, subject to there being no material adverse events prior to the Company 

electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions, the Proposed 
Transactions are fair as: 

(a) the Proposed Transactions are consistent with Initial and Second Hengjaya and Ranger 
Acquisitions as shown in the table below: 

Nickel Mines – acquisition of interest in Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 

Transaction date Acquisition 
Purchase price 

US$m 
Value of 100% 

US$m 
Hengjaya Nickel Project    
April 2018 25% initial interest 50.0 200.0(1) 

September 2018 Further 35% interest 70.0 200.0(1) 
By November 2020 Up to 20% interest  60.0(2) 300.0(3) 

    
Ranger Nickel Project    
November 2018 17% initial interest 50.0(4) 300.0(5) 

July 2019 Further 43% interest 121.4(4) 280.0(5) 
By November 2020 Up to 20% interest 60.0(6) 300.0(5) 
    

                                                 
6  Which includes a transaction with a person in a position of influence that requires member approval under ASX 

Listing Rule 10. 
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Note: 
1 Transaction based on the guaranteed construction price of US$200 million.  At the time of entering 

into these transactions the performance of the plant had not been proven. 
2 Price for a further 20% interest (being the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration). 
3 As per the terms of the Hengjaya CA.  The implied value and purchase consideration increased as the 

project has become operational. 
4 The purchase price for the first 17% interest was rounded down by US$1 million.  As per the terms of 

the Ranger CA, the Second Ranger Acquisition Consideration included the US$1 million rounding 
down from the acquisition of the initial 17% interest.  

5 As per the terms of the Ranger CA.  The implied value for the Ranger Nickel Project is consistent 
with the implied value of the Hengjaya Nickel Project once operational.  The reduced value implied 
in the acquisition of the further 43% arose due to the Company electing to increase its ownership 
within 60 days of Ranger Nickel Project’s first NPI production.  In the alternative, the consideration 
payable would have been based on a valuation of US$300 million. 

6 Price for a further 20% interest (being the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 
    

 
(b) the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition 

Consideration (of US$60 million respectively) is less than the net present value (NPV) 
of the Company’s pro rata share of the estimated future free cash flows from each of the 
Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects7 based on current steady state rates of production 
and a reasonable assessment of future nickel prices. 
 

Reasonableness 
17 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction is reasonable if it is fair.  Consequently, in our 

opinion, the Proposed Transactions are both fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders.    

Advantages and disadvantages 
18 In concluding whether the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-

associated shareholders of Nickel Mines we have also had regard to the advantages and 
disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of Nickel Mines 
shareholders: 

Advantages 

(a) Nickel Mines has a 60% interest in both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
representing substantial holdings which are managed by the Company.  These 
investments have provided Nickel Mines with positive income contribution since 
acquisition (the value of which have exceeded the respective considerations paid)  

(b) the Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with a further interest in the Hengjaya 
and Ranger Nickel Projects and an additional income source from downstream 
production of ore extracted from the Hengjaya Mine or other mines.  Based on the 
current performance of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects, the increased interest 
in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will contribute some 6,600 tonnes per 

                                                 
7  We have assumed the acquisitions will occur on 30 November 2020 and have assessed the NPV as at that date.  In 

the event that the options to acquire the further 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects are 
exercised earlier the NPV of the acquired interests would increase.   
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annum (tpa) of additional NPI production8.  The Company’s attributable nickel 
production from both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will be approximately 
26,400 tpa8 produced at facilities that operate in the lowest quartile of cash costs for 
nickel production globally, increasing the significance of its nickel production 
capabilities and the scale of the Company 

(c) the Proposed Transactions are value accretive, with the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition 
Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (totalling 
US$120 million) being less than the NPV of the expected future cash flows from the 
proportionate interest to be acquired in each of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 
Projects  

Disadvantages 

(d) there is no firm date for the execution of the Proposed Transactions.  We have assumed 
that the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions will occur on 30 November 2020 
and performed our valuation assessment as at that date.  We note however (subject to 
approval for the Proposed Transactions being given by Nickel Mines shareholders) 
there is no obligation for the Company to proceed with the Proposed Transactions in the 
event (for example) that there is a material adverse event or significant negative change 
in economic conditions prior to 30 November 2020 

(e) given the current economic circumstances, the Company has advised that it has not yet 
determined exactly how the Proposed Transactions are to be financed.  In our opinion, 
given the current economic conditions, there may be difficulties associated with a 
capital raising9 10.  However, given the Company’s modest net debt level and the cash 
flow which can be reasonably expected to be generated by the current 60% interests in 
the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects in the period to 30 November 2020, we have 
assumed that the Proposed Transactions can be funded.  By way of example, if the 
Proposed Transactions are 100% debt financed by an external lender at an interest rate 
of some 8.5%11, Nickel Mines’ gearing would still be modest (after allowing for the 
existing borrowed funds from Shanghai Decent which partly financed the Second 
Ranger Acquisition). 
 

19 In our opinion, the advantages of the Proposed Transactions significantly outweigh the 
disadvantages. 

                                                 
8  Based on  estimated production of 16,500 tpa at each of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Post the ramp up 

period for the respective projects, actual production levels have been well in excess of these estimated production 
levels. 

9  However, we note that the respective CAs provide for Shanghai Decent to accept equity as part of the Proposed 
Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisition Consideration, at not less than the VWAP of the ten business days prior to 
lodgement of the acquisition notice.  The issue of shares would be limited, as Shanghai Decent already holds 18.1% 
of the shares in Nickel Mines and cannot hold more than a 20% shareholding in Nickel Mines without shareholder 
approval. 

10  Further, assuming a capital raising could be arranged, given the current Nickel Mines share price a capital raising 
may be detrimental to Nickel Mines shareholders. 

11  We have been advised by Nickel Mines management that debt providers have recently indicated that debt funds may 
be available to the Company at or around this rate. 
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Other matters 
20 In preparing this report we have considered the interests of Nickel Mines shareholders as a 

whole.  Accordingly, this report only contains general financial advice and does not consider 
the personal objectives, financial situations or requirements of individual shareholders. 

21 The ultimate decision by Nickel Mines shareholders whether to approve the Proposed 
Transactions should be based on each shareholder’s assessment of the Proposed Transactions.  
This report has been provided for shareholders in Nickel Mines not associated with Shanghai 
Decent. 

22 If in doubt about the Proposed Transactions or matters dealt with in our report, Nickel Mines 
shareholders should seek independent professional advice.  For our full opinion on the 
Proposed Transactions, and the reasoning behind our opinion, we recommend that Nickel 
Mines shareholders read the remainder of our report. 

Yours faithfully 

  
Julie Planinic Martin Hall 
Authorised Representative Authorised Representative 
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I Key terms of the Proposed Transactions 

Hengjaya Nickel Project 
23 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, Nickel Mines has the right to acquire a 100% interest in 

Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited (Hengjaya Holdings) and the Hengjaya Nickel Project. 

24 Hengjaya Holdings is a Singaporean holding company which holds 100% of the shares 
(directly and indirectly) of PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry (Hengjaya Nickel), which is an 
Indonesian PMA12 company which owns and operates the RKEF processing facilities 
(referred to as the Hengjaya Nickel Project). 

25 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, in: 

(a) April 2018, Nickel Mines completed the initial acquisition of a 25% interest in the 
issued share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and an underlying 25% interest in the 
ownership of the Hengjaya Nickel Project for US$50 million (Initial Hengjaya 
Acquisition) 

(b) August 2018, the Company acquired a further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project for US$70 million (Second Hengjaya Acquisition), bringing the total interest to 
60%. 
 

26 In September 2019, Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent agreed that Nickel Mines would limit 
its contractual option13 to acquire further equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to 
80% and that the option period during which Nickel Mines can acquire a further equity 
interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project be extended from 31 January 2020 to 
30 November 2020.  The purchase price of a further 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings and 
the Hengjaya Nickel Project is US$60 million (Proposed Hengjaya Transaction 
Consideration). 

Ranger Nickel Project 
27 In November 2018, Nickel Mines announced the conversion of a non-binding Memorandum 

of Understanding with Shanghai Decent14 to acquire an interest in two additional RKEF lines 
into a binding collaboration agreement (Ranger CA)15.  Following the execution of the 
Ranger CA, Nickel Mines completed the first acquisition under the Ranger CA, acquiring 
17% of the issued share capital of Ranger Investment Private Limited (Ranger Investment) 
and an underlying 17% interest in the ownership the Ranger Nickel Project for 
US$50 million16 (Initial Ranger Acquisition). 

  

                                                 
12  A PMA (Penanaman Modal Asing) is a limited liability company established under the laws of Indonesia.  
13  We note that the Company is not obligated to exercise the option. 
14  The Memorandum of Understanding was signed in June 2018. 
15  Nickel Mines ASX announcement dated 9 November 2018. 
16  Based on a valuation of some US$300 million times 17% interest equals US$51 million (rounded to 

US$50 million).  US$1 million was carried forward to the Second Ranger Acquisition. 
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28 Ranger Investment is a Singaporean holding company which holds 100% of the shares 
(directly and indirectly) of PT Ranger Nickel Industry (Ranger Nickel), which is an 
Indonesian PMA company which owns and operates the RKEF processing facilities (referred 
to as the Ranger Nickel Project).  The Ranger CA provides Nickel Mines with the option to 
acquire up to 80% of the equity in the Ranger Nickel Project over time. 

29 Subsequent to the Initial Ranger Acquisition in November 2018, Shanghai Decent further 
expedited the construction of the Ranger Nickel Project.  The first kiln of the Ranger Nickel 
Project was commissioned in May 2019 with a maiden production run occurring on 
30 May 201917.  The second kiln was commissioned in early July 2019 with production 
commencing shortly thereafter. 

30 The acquisition of a further 43% in the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in July 2019, 
subsequent to the Extraordinary General Meeting on 26 July 2019, at which Nickel Mines 
shareholders approved the acquisition (Second Ranger Acquisition).  The amount paid for the 
43% interest was US$121.4 million (Second Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 

Terms of the Proposed Transactions 

Hengjaya Nickel Project 
31 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, Nickel Mines had the option to acquire up to 100% 

equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project on or before 31 January 2020.  However, in 
September 2019, Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent agreed that the Company would limit its 
contractual option to acquire further equity in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to not more than 
80% and that the option period be extended to 30 November 2020. 

32 The purchase price for the additional 20% equity interest is US$60 million, which is 
consistent with the terms of the Hengjaya CA, based on a total project value of 
US$300 million. 

Ranger Nickel Project 
33 Under the terms of the Ranger CA, Nickel Mines has a right18 to increase its interest in the 

Ranger Nickel Project to 80% within 18 months of the first NPI production.  NPI production 
by the Ranger Nickel Project commenced in May 2019 and therefore the option extends to 
30 November 2020. 

34 The purchase price for the acquisition of a further 20% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project is 
US$60 million, which is consistent with the terms of the Ranger CA, based on a total project 
value of US$300 million. 

  

                                                 
17  Nickel Mines ASX announcement dated 3 June 2019. 
18  However, the Company does not have an obligation. 
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Retained Earnings Settlement Amount 
35 On completion of the Proposed Transactions the Company has agreed with Shanghai Decent 

that it will pay to Shanghai Decent and its associates their 20% share of retained earnings in 
both Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel as at the date of acquisition (Retained Earnings 
Settlement Amount).  The exact quantum of this Retained Earnings Settlement Amount 
cannot be determined at this point, given it is dependent on the profitability of operations until 
completion of the Proposed Transactions and the level of retained earnings distributed to the 
shareholders of Hengjaya Holdings and Ranger Investment prior to the completion of the 
Proposed Transactions. 

Funding 
36 The final funding mix for the Proposed Transactions and the payment of the Retained 

Earnings Settlement Amount is still to be determined. 

Resolutions 
37 There are two resolutions in respect of the Proposed Transactions which must be passed by 

Nickel Mines shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for the Proposed 
Transactions to be completed: 

(a) approval for the Company to acquire an additional 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings 
(Ordinary Resolution 4) 

(b) approval for the Company to acquire an additional 20% interest in Ranger Investment 
(Ordinary Resolution 5). 
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II Scope of our report 

Purpose 
38 The Proposed Transactions represent an acquisition of a substantial asset19 from a substantial 

shareholder20 under Rule 10.1.3 of the ASX Listing Rules and require the approval of Nickel 
Mines shareholders that are not considered a party to the transactions (i.e. the non-associated 
shareholders).  

39 ASX Listing Rule 10.10.2 requires the notice of meeting sent to shareholders to include an 
IER, stating whether the transaction is “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated 
shareholders21.  Accordingly, the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines that are not 
associated with the Proposed Transactions have requested that LEA prepare an IER stating 
whether, in our opinion, the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-
associated shareholders, together with the reasons for this opinion. 

40 Our report will accompany the meeting documents sent by Nickel Mines to its shareholders 
for the purpose of the Company’s AGM including resolutions seeking to approve the 
Proposed Transactions. 

41 LEA is independent of Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent and has no other involvement or 
interest in the transaction. 

Basis of assessment 
42 In preparing our report, we have given due consideration to the ASX Listing Rules and 

Regulatory Guides issued by ASIC, particularly RG 111 and Regulatory Guide 76 – Related 
party transactions. 

43 ASX Listing Rule 10.1 states that an entity must ensure that it does not acquire a substantial 
asset from, or dispose of a substantial asset to a substantial holder (of >10% of the voting 
rights) or an associate of a substantial holder without the approval of holders of the entity’s 
ordinary securities.  Approval is required by resolution at a general meeting. 

44 ASX Listing Rule 10.2 states that an asset is substantial if its value, or the value of the 
consideration for it, is 5% or more of the book value of the equity interests of the entity. 

45 ASX Listing Rule 10.10 requires that the notice of general meeting includes a report from an 
independent expert stating whether the transaction is fair and reasonable to non-associated 
holders of the entity’s ordinary securities. 

46 RG 111 states that “fair and reasonable” should not be applied as a composite test and states 
there should be a separate assessment of “fair” and “reasonable”.  RG 111 provides that a 
proposed related party transaction: 

                                                 
19  ASX Listing Rule 10.2 defines an asset as substantial if its value or the value of the consideration for it is, or in the 

ASX’s opinion is, 5% or more of the “equity interest” of the entity as set out in the latest accounts given to the ASX 
under the Listing Rules.    

20  Shanghai Decent is a substantial shareholder in Nickel Mines for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 10.1.1 as it has a 
relevant interest in over 10% of the Company’s total votes. 

21  Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) does not impose an IER requirement. 
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(a) is “fair” if the value of the financial benefit to be provided by the entity to the related 
party is equal to or less than the value of the consideration being provided to the entity 
by the related party.  This comparison is required to be made assuming an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable and willing, but not anxious parties 

(b) is “reasonable” if it is “fair”.  A related party transaction may also be “reasonable” 
despite being “not fair” if the expert believes there are other reasons for non-associated 
shareholders to vote for the proposal. 
 

47 Given the above, in our opinion, the most appropriate basis upon which to evaluate whether 
the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated shareholders is to 
consider: 

(a) the market value of the 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings and Ranger Investment 
respectively 

(b) the consideration to be paid by Nickel Mines for the 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings 
and Ranger Investment respectively 

(c) the extent to which (a) and (b) differ in order to assess whether the Proposed 
Transaction is “fair” 

(d) the implications for Nickel Mines if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented 
(e) the position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions, and the net 

benefits inherent in the transactions 
(f) the advantages and disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of 

Nickel Mines shareholders. 
 

48 The Proposed Transactions are reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders provided the 
advantages of the Proposed Transactions outweigh the disadvantages from the perspective of 
Nickel Mines shareholders. 

Limitations and reliance on information  
49 Our opinions are based on the economic, share market, financial and other conditions and 

expectations prevailing at the date of this report.  Such conditions can change significantly 
over relatively short periods, as has been evident by the significant volatility in equity markets 
in recent times due to the impact of COVID-19. 

50 Our report is also based upon financial and other information provided by Nickel Mines.  We 
have considered and relied upon this information and believe that the information provided is 
reliable, complete and not misleading and we have no reason to believe that material facts 
have been withheld. 

51 The information provided was evaluated through analysis, enquiry and review to the extent 
considered appropriate for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Proposed Transactions 
from the perspective of the Nickel Mines shareholders.  However, we do not warrant that our 
enquiries have identified or verified all of the matters which an audit, extensive examination 
or “due diligence” investigation might disclose.  Whilst LEA has made what it considers to be 
appropriate enquiries for the purpose of forming its opinion, “due diligence” of the type 
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undertaken by companies and their advisers in relation to (for example) prospectuses or profit 
forecast is beyond the scope of an IER. 

52 Accordingly, this report and the opinions expressed therein should be considered more in the 
nature of an overall review of the anticipated commercial and financial implications of the 
Proposed Transactions rather than a comprehensive audit or investigation of detailed matters. 

53 In forming our opinion, we have also assumed that the information set out in the Explanatory 
Memorandum is complete, accurate and fairly presented in all material respects. 
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III Profile of Nickel Mines 

Overview 
54 Nickel Mines is an ASX listed Australian company focused on becoming a globally 

significant, low cost producer of NPI, a key ingredient in the production of stainless steel.  
The Company owns a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, a 60% interest in the 
Ranger Nickel Project (both of which produce NPI), and an 80% economic interest in the 
Hengjaya Mine, which produces nickel laterite ore.    

History 

Mining origins 
55 Nickel Mines was incorporated on 12 September 2007 with the objective of acquiring, 

exploring and developing nickel projects.  After a period focusing on other opportunities, in 
December 2009 the Company entered into an agreement to acquire an 80% economic interest 
in the share capital of PT Hengjaya Mineralindo (PT Hengjaya), the owner of 100% of the 
Hengjaya Mine, with the remaining 20% interest owned by members of Indonesia’s Wijoyo 
family.  

56 Nickel Mines commenced production in October 2012 and made a maiden shipment of nickel 
laterite in February 2013.  A number of vessels containing high grade nickel laterite (at an 
average grade of 1.98% nickel) were sold into China and Japan in 2013.  However, when the 
Indonesian Government formally enacted a ban on the direct shipping of unprocessed 
minerals in January 2014 (including exports under a grade of 4% nickel), mining at the 
Hengjaya Mine ceased and operations were placed on care and maintenance. 

Indonesian export ban on unprocessed minerals 
57 The origins of the Indonesian export ban of direct shipping of unprocessed minerals (DSO 

ban) dates back to the 2009 Indonesian Law on Mineral and Coal Mining.  This law described 
certain minerals as national non-renewable resources, specifying that mining should be 
managed to encourage sustainable regional development, be for the benefit of national 
interests and pursuant to the welfare and prosperity of the Indonesian people.  While it was 
not until January 2014 that an Indonesian presidential DSO ban decree came into force, the 
intervening period had seen the Indonesian Government actively encouraging and promoting 
the investment into and construction of smelting facilities to establish an in-country 
downstream nickel processing industry.  

58 In mid-2013 Tsingshan (then one of China’s largest stainless steel producers), committed to 
building a nickel processing facility in Indonesia to satisfy the indicated new framework for 
the treatment of Indonesia’s natural resources.   

59 PT Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park was established to develop the IMIP in the Morowali 
County of the Central Sulawesi Province of Indonesia.  During October 2013, China’s 
President Xi and then Indonesian President Yudhoyono witnessed the signing of the 
Cooperation and Financing Agreement for the development of the IMIP.  
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Recommencement of mining operations and development of Tsingshan relationship 
60 The introduction of the Indonesian DSO ban materially changed the course of Nickel Mines’ 

future, with the Company subsequently required to meet the minimum required export grade 
of 4% for nickel products.  The development of the IMIP and a growing requirement of nickel 
laterite as feedstock for the IMIP’s RKEF lines saw the Hengjaya Mine recommence 
operations in the second half of 2015. 

61 In September 2015, PT Hengjaya signed a supply agreement with PT Sulawesi Mining 
Investment, a Tsingshan group company, to supply 30,000 wet metric tonnes (WMT) per 
month of nickel laterite at a cut-off grade of 1.9% nickel for six months.  As a result, 
production at the Hengjaya Mine recommenced in October 2015.  In December 2016, 
PT Hengjaya entered into an offtake agreement with Tsingshan group company PT Indonesia 
Tsingshan Stainless Steel (ITSS) for the delivery of 50,000 WMT per month at an average 
grade of 1.9% nickel22.   

62 The development of this relationship and Tsingshan’s requirement for additional NPI 
production to supply its stainless steel expansion plans culminated in Nickel Mines and 
Shanghai Decent23 discussing a strategic partnership that would contemplate the two parties 
building additional NPI processing capacity within the IMIP. 

63 In September 2017, Nickel Mines executed a Collaboration and Subscription Agreement with 
Tsingshan with respect to the funding and construction of the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which 
included two RKEF lines targeting production of 150,000 tpa of NPI containing 
15,000 tonnes of nickel.   

64 Nickel Mines acquired a 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project in April 2018 by 
provision of a US$50 million shareholder loan to Hengjaya Holdings.  These funds were in 
turn provided to Hengjaya Nickel by way of a US$25 million shareholder loan and a 
US$25 million equity contribution.  Hengjaya Nickel used these funds to contribute to the 
guaranteed capital cost of US$200 million for the construction of the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project24. 

ASX listing and events subsequent 
65 Nickel Mines was listed on the ASX in August 2018 raising $200 million.  On 

4 September 2018, the Company submitted notice to Shanghai Decent to acquire a further 
35% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and a proportionate interest 
in the shareholder loans owing by Hengjaya Holdings to Shanghai Decent for US$70 million.  
This transaction increased the Company’s interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which was 
still under construction at the time, to 60% based on the guaranteed construction price of 
US$200 million. 

  

                                                 
22  In October 2017, an updated offtake agreement was signed with ITSS guaranteeing to take supply of 50,000 WMT 

per month until 30 November 2018, with a cut-off grade of 1.6% nickel. 
23  Shanghai Decent is a Tsingshan company. 
24  At this time, the Company also held an option to acquire no less than 51% and up to 100% of the Hengjaya Nickel 

Project. 
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66 On 1 November 2018, Nickel Mines announced that the Hengjaya Nickel Project’s operating 
entity had been granted material corporate income tax relief on the following basis: 

(a) a corporate income tax reduction of 100% for a period of seven tax years, starting from 
the tax year in which commercial production is achieved 

(b) a corporate income tax reduction of 50% of payable income tax for a period of two tax 
years, starting from the end of the initial seven year period 

(c) exemption from withholding and tax collection by third parties on sales proceeds that 
would normally be remitted to the Indonesian Revenue Department for a period of 
seven years, also commencing from the tax year in which commercial production is 
achieved.   
 

67 On 8 November 2018, the Company executed the Ranger CA with Shanghai Decent to 
acquire up to an 80% equity interest in the Ranger Nickel Project, which included two 
additional RKEF lines under construction in the IMIP.  The Ranger CA provides for Nickel 
Mines to acquire its interest in three tranches: 

(a) the Initial Ranger Acquisition gave Nickel Mines the right to acquire an initial interest 
of 17% in the Ranger Nickel Project and 17% of all shareholder loans due to Shanghai 
Decent (and its affiliates) at cost of US$50 million (based on a valuation of US$300 
million)25 

(b) the Second Ranger Acquisition permitted Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the 
Ranger Nickel Project and in the total shareholder loans to between 51% and 60% 
before 31 December 2019.  If this acquisition was completed within 60 days after the 
first batch of NPI was produced from the Ranger Nickel Project, the additional 
percentage acquired would be calculated based on a discounted valuation of 
US$280 million.  If this acquisition was completed more than 60 days after the first 
batch of NPI was produced from the Ranger Nickel Project, the additional percentage 
acquired would be calculated based on a valuation of US$300 million 

(c) conditional upon completion of the Second Ranger Acquisition, the Third Acquisition 
Option permits Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project and in 
the total shareholder loans to up to 80% within 18 months of the first batch of NPI being 
produced from the Ranger Nickel Project26.  Any additional interest acquired under the 
Third Acquisition Option will be calculated based on a valuation of US$300 million. 
 

68 On 1 February 2019, Nickel Mines advised that the Company’s 60% owned Hengjaya Nickel 
Project had produced its first NPI.  In this announcement the Company also stated that: 

  

                                                 
25  The First Acquisition completion date was 10 business days after the execution of the Ranger CA and the 17% 

interest in the Ranger Nickel Project was acquired by Nickel Mines at a price of US$50 million using proceeds from 
the funds raised under the initial public offering.  The balance of US$1 million (being the difference between 17% 
of US$300 million and the price paid of US$50 million) was carried forward to the Second Acquisition Option. 

26  The Third Acquisition Option, along with the purchase of 20% of the Hengjaya Nickel Project, are the Proposed 
Transactions the subject of this report. 
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(a) the Hengjaya Nickel Project’s first kiln was expected to reach at least 80% of nameplate 
capacity by early April 2019 and that the second kiln was anticipated to commence 
commissioning in early March 2019 and was expected to reach at least 80% of capacity 
in early May 2019.  Ramp-up to full scale production for both kilns was expected to be 
achieved shortly thereafter27 

(b) Shanghai Decent had advised that an expedited schedule would see the first kiln of the 
Ranger Nickel Project ready to commence commissioning in April 2019, with the 
second kiln to commence commissioning a month later.  This was well ahead of 
previous guidance target (i.e. targeting commissioning in the September 2019 quarter). 
 

69 On 26 March 2019, the Company announced that the Ranger Nickel Project had been granted 
corporate income tax relief on a basis consistent with the tax concessions previously granted 
to the Hengjaya Nickel Project. 

70 On 17 April 2019, Nickel Mines announced that it intended to increase its ownership in the 
Ranger Nickel Project to 60%.  The Company also stated that as the commissioning of the 
first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project was well ahead of the previous September 2019 quarter 
commissioning target, the decision had been made to expedite the acquisition of this 
additional 43% interest. 

71 On 3 June 2019, Nickel Mines announced that the first NPI had been produced from one of 
the Ranger Nickel Project’s two RKEF lines in a maiden production run.  On 1 July 2019, the 
Company announced that the second line had commenced commissioning and produced its 
first NPI.  Both lines were expected to take approximately two months to ramp up to 80% of 
capacity. 

72 On 15 August 2019, the Company announced that it had completed the Second Ranger 
Acquisition, increasing its ownership from 17% to 60%.  The acquisition was at a discounted 
valuation of US$280 million, compared to the US$300 million valuation at which its initial 
17% interest was acquired28.  The Second Ranger Acquisition cost was funded by the 
drawdown of US$80 million in debt provided by Shanghai Decent, the issue of 
US$40 million of shares in the Company and a cash payment of US$1.4 million. 

73 On 9 September 2019, Nickel Mines announced that Shanghai Decent and the Company had 
agreed to amend two material terms in the Hengjaya CA that governs the contractual rights 
and obligations with respect to the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  These were: 

(a) Nickel Mines had agreed to limit its contractual option to further equity in the Hengjaya 
Nickel Project to not more than 80% (previously 100%); and 

(b) the option period during which Nickel Mines could acquire further equity in the 
Hengjaya Nickel Project had been extended to 30 November 2020 (previously 
31 January 2020). 

                                                 
27  This commissioning process and ramp-up was consistent with that previously implemented across the 20 existing 

RKEF lines currently in operation within the IMIP. 
28  This reduced value implied in the acquisition of the further 43% arose due to the Company electing to increase its 

ownership within 60 days of the Ranger Nickel Project’s first NPI production.  In the alternative, the consideration 
payable would have been based on a valuation of US$300 million. 
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Current operations 
74 Nickel Mines owns nickel mining and processing operations on the east coast of Central 

Sulawesi, Indonesia.  As stated above, the Company holds ownership interests that comprise a 
60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, a 60% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project and 
an 80% ownership stake in the Hengjaya Mine. 

Nickel Mines – operations 
 

 
 

 
75 Nickel Mines’ mining and processing operations are all located in the Morowali Regency on 

the east coast of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  Its RKEF lines are operated within the IMIP, 
which is situated approximately 12 kilometres north of the Hengjaya Mine boundary, as 
shown in the following map:  

Nickel Mines – locations 
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Hengjaya Nickel Project 
76 The Hengjaya Nickel Project is 60% owned by Nickel Mines, with the Company holding an 

option to move to 80% ownership by 30 November 2020.  The project has an estimated 
production capacity of 16,500 tonnes of finished NPI product per annum and is a low cost 
NPI producer (as are all of the RKEF modules that are operated by Tsingshan in Indonesia), 
with operating costs in the lowest quarter of global NPI producers.   

77 The Hengjaya Nickel Project produced its first NPI in late January 2019 and had a strong 
maiden quarter of production.  The June 2019 quarter saw a continuation of the ramp-up 
towards full capacity with nickel metal production exceeding the targeted run rate of 
4,125 kilotonnes (kt) per quarter (16,500 kt per annum).  Production levels have continued to 
exceed targeted levels and have increased in each quarter since commissioning, as shown 
below: 

Hengjaya Nickel Project – key production statistics by quarter 
Quarter ending 31 Mar 19 30 Jun 19 30 Sep 19 31 Dec 19 31 Mar 20 
NPI production (kt) 8,372  31,256  39,570  40,911  40,077 
Nickel grade (%) 13.0%  14.0%  13.6%  13.6%  14.2% 
Nickel metal production (kt) 1,090  4,386  5,379  5,578  5,672 
Cash costs (US$/t nickel) 8,246  7,725  7,523  7,778  na 
      
na – not available as at the date of our report.  
      

 

Ranger Nickel Project 
78 The Ranger Nickel Project is 60% owned by Nickel Mines, with the Company holding an 

option to move to 80% ownership within 18 months of first NPI production.  The project is a 
replication of the low cost Hengjaya Nickel Project, with a similar operational cost structure 
and estimated production capacity (16,500 tonnes of finished NPI product per annum).   

79 The commissioning of the first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in late May 2019, 
with the second in late June 2019.  By August 2019 the project was operating above the 
targeted monthly run rate of 1,375 kt per month.  Following a short ramp up period, 
production for the September 2019 quarter was in excess of the targeted quarterly run rate of 
4,125 kt per quarter (16,500 kt per annum).  Production levels have continued to exceed 
targeted levels and, similar to the Hengjaya Nickel Project, have increased each quarter since 
commissioning, as shown below:  

Hengjaya Nickel Project – key production statistics by quarter 
Quarter ending  30 Jun 19 30 Sep 19 31 Dec 19 31 Mar 20 
NPI production (kt)  2,477 32,823 39,105 39,321 
Nickel grade (%)  12.6%  14.1%  13.8%  14.3% 
Nickel metal production (kt)  311  4,640  5,390  5,620 
Cash costs (US$/t nickel)  na  7,552  7,886  na 
      
na – not available as at the date of our report. 
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Hengjaya Nickel Mine 
80 Nickel Mines holds an 80% interest in the Hengjaya Mine, a world-class nickel laterite 

deposit, with the remaining 20% interest owned by the Wijoyo family, acting as the local 
Indonesian partner.  The mine is located in the Morowali Regency, on the east coast of the 
province of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  In 2012, PT Hengjaya was granted a 20-year mining 
operation / production licence, including two further 10-year extension options.     

81 The mine hosts Joint Ore Reserves Committee compliant resources as follows:  

Nickel Mines – JORC resources     
 1.5% cut-off grade 1.0% cut-off grade 

Category 
Dry tonnes 

(million) 
Nickel 

% 
Dry tonnes 

(million) 
Nickel 

% 
Measured 0.7 1.8 6.9 1.2 
Indicated 15.0 1.9 50.0 1.4 
Inferred 22.0 1.8 120.0 1.3 
Total 38.0 1.8 180.0 1.3 
     

 

Financial performance  
82 The financial performance of Nickel Mines for the three years to 30 June 2019 (FY19)29, and 

six months to 31 December 2019 (1HY20) is set out below: 

Nickel Mines – statement of financial performance(1) 

 
FY17 
US$m 

FY18 
US$m 

FY19 
US$m 

1HY20 

US$m 
Revenue 8.6  13.6  64.9 236.1 
Cost of sales (7.7) (10.4) (43.3) (136.2) 
Gross profit 0.9  3.1  21.6 99.9 
     
Administration and consultants’ expenses (0.6) (2.0) (2.6) (2.9) 
Agency fee charges (3.3) (1.8) - - 
Depreciation and amortisation (0.1) (0.3) (6.8) (16.4) 
Other expenses (0.4) (0.6) (1.1) (1.0) 
Share of profit of equity accounted investee - - 2.6 1.2 
Net financial expenses  (0.5) (0.7) 58.3(2) 10.7 
Profit / (loss) before tax (3.9) (2.3) 71.9 91.5 
Income tax expense 0.2  (0.6) (0.1) (0.2) 
Profit / (loss) after tax (3.7) (2.9) 71.8 91.3 
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 0.1 0.4 6.3 34.8 
Profit / (loss) attributable to owners of the 
Company (3.8) (3.3) 65.5 56.5 
     
Note: 
1 Rounding differences exist. 
2 Includes a net change in fair value of investment in associate of US$57.3 million. 
     

                                                 
29  Nickel Mines changed its financial year end date from 30 June to 31 December to align reporting dates across the 

Nickel Mines group entities. 
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Historical results 
83 Nickel Mines’ historical financial performance to FY18 largely reflects the performance of its 

Hengjaya Mine operations.  The results for FY19 includes the ramp up of the Hengjaya 
Nickel Project (which commenced operations in January 2019) and the initial commissioning 
of the Ranger Nickel Project (which commenced operations in late May 2019).  Accordingly, 
the historical results for Nickel Mines to FY19 are not representative of ongoing financial 
performance.   

84 The results in 1HY20 include a full six months contribution from the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project.  However, given that as at 30 June 2019 the Company only held a 17% interest in the 
Ranger Nickel Project (which increased to 60% upon the acquisition of a further 43% of the 
project on 14 August 2019), this project was reported as an equity accounted investee for 45 
days of the six months to 31 December 2019 results.  Further, the Ranger Nickel Project was 
also in the process of ramping up production during the period.  Accordingly, the 1HY20 
results also do not reflect the current ownership and operating potential of the nickel 
processing operations now owned by the Company. 

Impact of COVID-19 
85 On 29 January 2020, Nickel Mines provided an update with respect to the novel coronavirus 

(COVID-19) pandemic and its impact on the IMIP, which stated (inter alia) that: 

(a) the IMIP had implemented strict access controls to the IMIP from 26 January 2020 
(b) all non-Indonesian personnel were prohibited from entering the IMIP unless exceptional 

circumstances required their entry (and all such personnel would be subject to medical 
screenings with their travel history analysed) 

(c) rostered leave for Chinese workers had been suspended 
(d) Chinese employees currently on rostered leave would have their return delayed; and 
(e) both the Hengjaya Nickel Project and Ranger Nickel Project were continuing to operate 

as normal. 
 

86 On 1 April 2020, Nickel Mines provided a further COVID-19 update including, inter alia, the 
following: 

(a) the IMIP was continuing to enforce strict safety measures in response to COVID-19 
including implementing rigid access restrictions and thorough screening procedures to 
ensure the health and wellbeing of all its workers.  These protocols had been in place 
since late January, when the virus was still in its infancy, with work rosters being 
rescheduled to ensure the continuation of normal operations within the IMIP 

(b) with a workforce that is made up of more than 90% local employees from the 
surrounding community, and with fly in fly out / expat workers restricted from entering 
the IMIP, early and proactive measures in addressing the potential impacts of 
COVID-19 were critical to the uninterrupted operations to date within the IMIP 

(c) the Government of Central Sulawesi had locked down its borders with the Governor 
issuing a decree on 23 March 2020 prohibiting the entry and exit of all foreign citizens, 
foreign workers and Indonesian migrant workers 
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(d) the Company reported that the operating performance of both the Hengjaya and Ranger 
Nickel Projects for the March 2020 quarter had been a continuation of the steady state 
production output and operating cost performance reported for the December 2019 
quarter (which was the first full quarter of steady state operations for both projects) 

(e) for the March 2020 quarter, combined production was 11,291 tonnes of nickel metal 
(100% basis) representing a record quarter of production and a 2.9% increase on the 
December 2019 quarter 

(f) whilst the Company’s operations were largely unaffected by COVID-19, it was not 
possible to predict the future course and duration of the pandemic and the impact that 
may have on the Company’s operations; and 

(g) the Company had also implemented strict access controls and restricted non-essential 
movements in and out of its 80% owned Hengjaya Mine.  Temperature checks and 
symptom screenings were being carried out prior to every shift with the Hengjaya Mine 
also having commenced procurement of additional health and medical supplies. 
 

87 With respect to the potential impacts of COVID-19 on Tsingshan’s NPI and stainless steel 
operations, Mr Weifeng Huang, Chairman of Shanghai Decent Group and Nickel Mines 
Director, stated30:  

“Due to the industry characteristics of continuous production throughout the year, Tsingshan 
did not stop the production either in China or out of China because of Chinese New Year, so 
the impact on Tsingshan’s production in China from the movement controls implemented to 
fight the COVID-19 pandemic in China have been minimal.  While an impact on the domestic 
stainless-steel end market is inevitable, with the full resumption of work and production and 
the expected quick recovery in economic activities, I believe the market will soon restore to 
pre-pandemic levels barring any sudden deterioration in the current situation.  Even then if 
the stainless-steel markets ex-China is depressed due to the COVID19 situation, the RKEF 
production in IMIP will keep up the good performance and can export its NPI products to 
China since Tsingshan’s own NPI production in China can only meet about half of its 
stainless-steel plants’ requirements.” 

  

                                                 
30  ASX announcement titled Nickel Mines COVID-19 Response and Production Update, 1 April 2020. 
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Financial position 
88 The financial position of Nickel Mines as at 30 June 2019 and 31 December 2019 is set out 

below: 

Nickel Mines – statement of financial position(1) 

 
30 Jun 19 

US$m 
31 Dec 19 

US$m 
Debtors and prepayments 46.9  97.2  
Inventories 8.9  56.2  
Creditors, accruals and provisions (43.1) (53.8) 
Net working capital 12.8  99.6  
Property, plant and equipment 340.1  628.5  
Goodwill 29.2  55.4  
Investment in equity accounted investees 50.0  - 
Other assets net of other liabilities 7.3  9.1  
Deferred tax liabilities (29.4) (55.4) 
Total funds employed 409.9  737.3  

   
Cash and cash equivalents 49.0  49.8  
Interest bearing liabilities (4.2) (65.0) 
Net cash / (borrowings) 44.8  (15.2) 

   
Net assets 454.8  722.1  
Non-controlling interests (143.2) (294.7) 
Net assets attributable to Nickel Mines shareholders 311.6  427.5  
   
Note: 
1 Rounding differences exist. 
   

 

Property, plant and equipment  
89 Nickel Mines’ property, plant and equipment is predominantly comprised of plant and 

machinery relating to its holdings in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects. 

Nickel Mines – property, plant and equipment   

 
30 Jun 19 

US$m 
31 Dec 19 

US$m 
Buildings and land 30.1  61.1  
Mining properties 26.3  25.4  
Plant and machinery 280.7  536.5  
Other (motor vehicles, office equipment etc.) 3.0  5.5  
Total property, plant and equipment 340.1  628.5  
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Share capital 
90 As at 9 April 2020, Nickel Mines had 1,665.5 million fully paid ordinary shares on issue.   

Significant shareholders 
91 As at 9 April 2020, there were the following substantial shareholders in Nickel Mines that 

held a total of 53.1% of the ordinary shares on issue as detailed below: 

Nickel Mines – substantial shareholders 

 Shares held 
Shareholder million % interest 
Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd 301.7 18.1 
BlackRock Group 138.6 8.3  
Norman Alfred Seckold 123.7 7.4  
Shanghai Wanlu Investment Co Ltd  121.3 7.3  
PT Karunia Bar Perkasa 104.0 6.2 
Regal Funds Management Pty Ltd 96.4 5.8 
Total 885.7 53.1 
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IV Valuation methodology 

Valuation approaches 
92 RG 111 outlines the appropriate methodologies that a valuer should consider when valuing 

assets or securities for the purposes of, amongst other things, share buy-backs, selective 
capital reductions, schemes of arrangement, takeovers and prospectuses.  These include: 

(a) the discounted cash flow (DCF) methodology 
(b) the application of earnings multiples appropriate to the businesses or industries in which 

the company or its profit centres are engaged, to the estimated future maintainable 
earnings or cash flows of the company, added to the estimated realisable value of any 
surplus assets 

(c) the amount that would be available for distribution to shareholders in an orderly 
realisation of assets 

(d) the quoted price of listed securities, when there is a liquid and active market and 
allowing for the fact that the quoted market price may not reflect their value on a 100% 
controlling interest basis 

(e) any recent genuine offers received by the target for any business units or assets as a 
basis for valuation of those business units or assets. 
 

93 Under the DCF methodology the value of the business is equal to the NPV of the estimated 
future cash flows including a terminal value.  In order to arrive at the NPV the future cash 
flows are discounted using a discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the cash 
flow stream. 

94 Methodologies using capitalisation multiples of earnings or cash flows are commonly applied 
when valuing businesses where a future “maintainable” earnings stream can be established 
with a degree of confidence.  Generally, this applies in circumstances where the business is 
relatively mature, has a proven track record and expectations of future profitability and has 
relatively steady growth prospects.  Such a methodology is generally not applicable where a 
business is in start-up phase, has a finite life, or is likely to experience a significant change in 
growth prospects and risks in the future. 

95 Capitalisation multiples can be applied to either estimates of future maintainable operating 
cash flow, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), earnings 
before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA), earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) or net 
profit after tax.  The appropriate multiple to be applied to such earnings is usually derived 
from stock market trading in shares in comparable companies which provide some guidance 
as to value and from precedent transactions within the industry.  The multiples derived from 
these sources need to be reviewed in the context of the differing profiles and growth prospects 
between the company being valued and those considered comparable.  When valuing 
controlling interests in a business an adjustment is also required to incorporate a premium for 
control.  The earnings from any non-trading or surplus assets are excluded from the estimate 
of the maintainable earnings and the value of such assets is separately added to the value of 
the business in order to derive the total value of the company. 
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96 An asset based methodology is applicable in circumstances where neither a capitalisation of 
earnings nor a DCF methodology is appropriate.  It can also be applied where a business is no 
longer a going concern or where an orderly realisation of assets and distribution of the 
proceeds is proposed.  Using this methodology, the value of the net assets of the company are 
adjusted for the time, cost and taxation consequences of realising the company’s assets. 

Methodologies selected 

Primary methodology 
97 We have assessed the value of the 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 

by reference to the price paid by Nickel Mines in recent comparable transactions for: 

(a) an initial 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project 
(b) a further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project 
(c) the initial 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project 
(d) a further 43% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project. 

 
98 We have also had regard to the Proposed Acquisition Consideration for the Proposed 

Transactions. 

Cross-check 
99 Consistent with RG 111 we have also assessed the indicative value of the Hengjaya and 

Ranger Nickel Projects by applying the DCF methodology. 
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V Valuation of the interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 
Projects 

Overview 
100 As stated in Section IV, the value of the 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 

Projects has been compared to the transactions entered into by Nickel Mines in respect of the 
acquisition of interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects, and the Proposed 
Transactions. 

101 As a cross-check, the Proposed Acquisition Consideration to be paid under the Proposed 
Transactions has been compared to an indicative valuation of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 
Projects based on a DCF analysis of the respective project’s forecast cash flows as at 
30 November 2020. 

Associated transactions 

Hengjaya Nickel Project 
102 Nickel Mines currently holds a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  The Hengjaya 

Nickel Project and the Ranger Nickel Project are identical projects save for the Ranger Nickel 
Project construction being approximately five months later. 

103 On 19 September 2017, the Company and Shanghai Decent executed the Hengjaya CA to 
undertake development, implementation and operation of the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  The 
Hengjaya CA set out terms for the Company to acquire up to 100% equity interest in the 
Hengjaya Nickel Project.  These terms were subsequently amended by agreement of the 
parties to limit Nickel Mines’ equity interest to 80%.  

Initial Hengjaya Acquisition 
104 In April 2018, Nickel Mines acquired a 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which 

was still under construction, by provision of a US$50 million shareholder loan to Hengjaya 
Holdings, implying a value of US$200 million for 100% of the project.  These funds were in 
turn provided to Hengjaya Nickel by way of a US$25 million shareholder loan and a 
US$25 million equity contribution.  Hengjaya Nickel used these funds to contribute to the 
guaranteed capital cost of US$200 million for the construction of the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project. 

Second Hengjaya Acquisition  
105 In September 2018, Nickel Mines submitted notice to Shanghai Decent to acquire a further 

35% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and a proportionate interest 
in the shareholder loans owed by Hengjaya Holdings to Shanghai Decent for US$70 million, 
implying a value of US$200 million for 100% of the project.  The Second Hengjaya 
Acquisition increased the Company’s interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which was still 
under construction, to 60% based on the guaranteed construction price of US$200 million. 
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Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition  
106 Under the Hengjaya CA (as revised), Nickel Mines has a call option, expiring 18 months from 

the commercial operation of the two RKEF lines comprising the Hengjaya Nickel Project, to 
enable it to increase its ownership in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to 80% for consideration of 
a further US$60 million.  Consistent with the structure of the Second Hengjaya Acquisition, 
Nickel Mines will acquire 20% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings 
and a proportionate interest in the shareholder loans owed by Hengjaya Holdings to Shanghai 
Decent.  The price payable if the option is exercised implies a value for the Hengjaya Nickel 
Project of some US$300 million.  

Ranger Nickel Project 
107 Nickel Mines currently holds a 60% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project. 

108 In November 2018, the Company executed the Ranger CA to acquire up to an 80% equity 
interest in two additional RKEF lines, then under construction in the IMIP, and referred to as 
the Ranger Nickel Project.   

Initial Ranger Acquisition 
109 The first acquisition under the Ranger CA occurred in November 2018 and comprised a 17% 

interest in the equity of Ranger Investment and 17% of the shareholder loans owed by Ranger 
Investment to an associate of Shanghai Decent at a price of US$50 million31.  The purchase 
price was based on a valuation of US$300 million for the Ranger Nickel Project.  This 
valuation is consistent with the value attributed to the total Hengjaya Nickel Project32 for the 
purposes of the call option granted to Nickel Mines to purchase up to a further 40% interest 
under the call option (now reduced to a further 20% by agreement). 

Second Ranger Acquisition 
110 Under the terms of the Ranger CA, in July 2019 Nickel Mines paid US$121.4 million for its 

further 43% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project33 based on a discounted valuation of the 
overall project of US$280 million.  This reduced value arose due to the Company electing to 
increase its ownership within 60 days of Ranger Nickel Project’s first NPI production.  In the 
alternative, if Nickel Mines had elected to increase its ownership after this period but before 
31 December 2019, under the terms of the Ranger CA the consideration payable would have 
been based on a valuation of US$300 million. 

Proposed Ranger Acquisition 
111 Nickel Mines has a right under the Ranger CA to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel 

Project to 80% within 18 months of the first NPI production.  The first NPI production by the 
Ranger Nickel Project occurred in May 2019 and therefore the option extends to 
30 November 2020.  Consistent with the structure of the Initial Ranger Acquisition, Nickel 
Mines will acquire 20% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Ranger Investment and a 
proportionate interest in the shareholder loans owing by Ranger Investment to an associate of 

                                                 
31  A 17% interest implies a purchase price of US$51 million.  US$1 million was carried forward and included in the 

Second Ranger Acquisition purchase price. 
32  The Hengjaya Nickel Project is a comparable project to the Ranger Nickel Project. 
33  Being an interest in the equity of Ranger Investment and a pro rata share of all shareholder loans due to an associate 

of Shanghai Decent.  
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Shanghai Decent.  The price for the Proposed Ranger Acquisition, a further 20% interest in 
the Ranger Nickel Project, is also based on a total project value of US$300 million. 

DCF assessment 
112 Under the DCF methodology the value of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects is equal 

to the NPV of the estimated future cash flows over the estimated operating period.  In order to 
arrive at the NPV the future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate which reflects the 
risks associated with the cash flow stream. 

Cash flow projections 
113 Our DCF valuation is based on the detailed free cash flow projections prepared by Nickel 

Mines management.  Free cash flow projections for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
were reviewed by Blackpeak Capital around February 201934.  LEA has undertaken a review 
of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Project’s cash flow projections to satisfy itself that they 
are reasonable and sufficiently reliable for valuation purposes.   

114 Based upon the above, nothing came to our attention that would indicate that the cash flow 
projections could not be relied upon for valuation purposes.  That said, it should be noted that: 

(a) the major assumptions underlying the projections were formulated around February 
2019 (i.e. prior to the ramp up of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects35).  Given 
the material outperformance of the respective projects since commissioning, the key 
assumptions contained in the projections as regards nickel production and operating 
costs are conservative  

(b) future profits and cash flows are inherently uncertain 
(c) the achievability of these cash flow projections is not warranted or guaranteed by Nickel 

Mines or LEA, as they are predictions of future events that cannot be assured and are 
necessarily based on assumptions, many of which are beyond the control of Nickel 
Mines and its management  

(d) actual results may be significantly more or less favourable. 
 

115 Free cash flow represents the operating cash flows on an ungeared basis (i.e. before interest) 
less taxation payments36, capital expenditure and working capital requirements.  The free cash 
flow on an ungeared basis is adopted to enable the value of the business to be determined 
irrespective of the level of debt funding employed. 

116 The free cash flow projections cover the period to 30 June 2055 (being a period of 35 years 
from 1 July 2020).  For valuation purposes we have assumed a valuation date of 30 November 
2020 (being the expiry date of the respective options to be exercised). 

                                                 
34  Blackpeak Capital is an independent corporate advisory firm.  The review was undertaken at the request of the 

Company to assist in negotiating finance for the Second Ranger Acquisition.  
35  Production at the Hengjaya Nickel Project commenced in January 2019 and production at the Ranger Nickel Project 

commenced in May 2019.   
36  Also calculated on an ungeared basis. 
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117 As the detailed cash flow projections are commercially sensitive they have not been set out in 
our report.  However, information on the major assumptions underlying the free cash flow 
projections for the respective projects is set out below: 

Nickel Mines – drivers of free cash flow 
Input Assumption(1) Comment 
NPI production 150,000 tonnes  • Consistent with original capacity estimates of the 

Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
• Post commission and the ramp up period for the respective 

projects actual production levels have been well in excess 
of these estimated levels 

• Requires 1.545 million tonnes of ore 
Nickel price 
(real) 

US$ 11,800 to 
12,000 per tonne 

• NPI prices closely follow the benchmark London Metal 
Exchange (LME) nickel price, with a premium or discount 
depending on the prevailing market conditions (e.g. 
demand from stainless steel producers) 

• The adopted prices are based on the forward LME nickel 
prices from the valuation date (30 November 2020) to 
FY25 adjusted for assumed inflation to determine real 
prices 

• A long term price of $12,000 has been applied from FY26  
NPI grade (%) 11% • Assumption appears conservative as the average NPI 

grade achieved by the Hengjaya Nickel Project and 
Ranger Nickel Project since commissioning has been 
13.8% and 14.0% respectively 

Ore cost US$30.10 per 
WMT  

• Based on nickel grade and moisture content 
• Capped at US$33 per WMT 
• Assumption is broadly consistent with operating 

assumptions for the respective projects since 
commissioning  

• As a result of the Indonesian export ban on nickel ore, the 
Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects have access to high 
grade (>1.8% Ni) laterite feedstock that is produced in 
Indonesia at a lower cost than feedstock from other 
countries e.g. the Philippines  

Electricity US$2,600 per 
tonne of contained 
nickel 

• Assumption appears conservative given costs since 
commissioning for the respective projects have averaged 
around US$2,000 per tonne 

• The IMIP has an on-site purpose built power plant capable 
of producing 1.96 gigawatts.  Tenants including the 
Ranger and Hengjaya Nickel Projects have access to this 
power supply which is priced under an agreed formula 

Reductant coal 
cost 

US$1,450 per 
tonne of contained 
nickel 

• Assumption is broadly consistent with operating 
assumptions for the respective projects since 
commissioning 

Other operating 
costs 

US$1,260 per 
tonne of contained 
nickel 

• Assumption appears conservative given costs since 
commissioning for the respective projects have averaged 
around US$1,075 per tonne 

• Includes other materials (refractory material, electrode 
paste, furnace shells, diesel), labour, selling expenses and 
repairs and maintenance  

Management 
expense 

US$5.8 million per 
annum 

• Consistent with operating assumptions for the respective 
projects since commissioning 
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Nickel Mines – drivers of free cash flow 
Input Assumption(1) Comment 
Sustaining 
capital 
expenditure 

US$5.0 million per 
annum 

• Consistent with operating assumptions for the respective 
projects since commissioning 

• Potentially conservative given that there is an allowance 
for repairs and maintenance in the operating costs 

  
Note: 
1 All inputs to the DCF model are real. 
  

 
118 As indicated above, the major assumptions underlying the DCF projections and the 

Company’s model were formulated around February 2019 (i.e. prior to the ramp up of the 
Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects) and the key assumptions contained in the projections 
as regards nickel production and operating costs are very conservative when compared to 
current production operations (see below).    

119 A comparison of the major base case assumptions in the cash flow projections to the historical 
operating results since commissioning of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects is set out 
below:  

Nickel metal production (tonnes)(1) 
Hengjaya Nickel Project Ranger Nickel Project 

  
  
Cash cost ($US / per tonne of Nickel)(2) 

Hengjaya Nickel Project Ranger Nickel Project 
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Note: 
1 Nickel metal production represents the NPI production (tonnes) multiplied by the NPI grade (%).  
2 Cash cost per tonne includes ore costs, electricity, reductant coal costs, other operating costs and 

management expenses but excludes depreciation and interest charges.   
3 The increase in cash costs in December 2019 for the Ranger Nickel Project was largely attributable to 

greater electricity consumption and other expenses associated with the trialling of different ore mixes 
to further enhance recoveries.  

4 As at the date of our report, the cash costs for the March 2020 quarter for the Hengjaya and Ranger 
Nickel Projects were not yet finalised.  

  
 
120 As shown above, both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects have been producing NPI at 

levels well in excess of original capacity estimates37 (following short ramp up periods) and at 
a cost well below expectations (and the costs included in the cash flow projections).   

Corporate tax 
121 The Indonesian corporate tax rate is 25%.  However, the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 

Projects have been granted material corporate income tax relief as follows: 

(a) a corporate income tax reduction of 100% for a period of seven tax years, starting from 
the tax year in which commercial production is achieved (i.e. FY20) 

(b) a corporate income tax reduction of 50% of payable income tax for a period of two tax 
years, starting from the end of the initial seven year period (i.e. FY27 and FY28) 

(c) exemption from withholding and tax collection by third parties on sales proceeds that 
would normally be remitted to the Indonesian Revenue Department for a period of 
seven years, also commencing from the tax year in which commercial production is 
achieved. 
 

122 These concessions may be revoked and are maximum periods that may be amended or 
adjusted, if certain conditions are not met, the key condition being that the minimum 
investment level be met.  The investment in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects exceeds 
this minimum requirement. 

123 The DCF model includes an allowance for 10% withholding tax payable on dividends 
distributed to the Singaporean holding company.  No withholding tax is payable on dividend 
distributions from Singaporean companies. 

Discount rate  
124 We have adopted a discount rate of 9.5% per annum (after tax in real terms) based on the 

approximate mid-point of the assessment below for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  

                                                 
37  The cash flow projections are based on original estimates of production levels. 
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Weighted average cost of capital (WACC) 
   Low High 
   % % 
Beta   1.1 1.2 
Risk premium   6.0 6.0 
Risk free   2.5 2.5 
Cost of equity   9.1 9.7 
Country risk premium   3.0 3.0 
Cost of equity including other premiums  12.1 12.7 
     
Cost of debt pre tax   8.0 9.0 
Cost of debt post tax(1)   6.0 6.8 
     
Proportion equity   80.0 80.0 
Proportion debt   20.0 20.0 
     
WACC (after tax)   10.9 11.5 
     
Forecast inflation(2)   1.5 1.5 
Real WACC (after tax)   9.2 9.9 
Adopt   9.5 
    
Note: 
1 The post-tax cost of debt is derived adopting Indonesia’s 25% corporate tax rate. 
2 Given the cash flows for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects have been provided to us in real 

terms we have calculated the equivalent real discount rate having regard to the annual level inflation 
implied by the difference between United States of America (US) Government Bonds and US 
Treasury Inflation Indexed Bonds.  As at 17 April 2020, inflation implied by the 30 year US 
Government Bonds compared to the relevant US Treasury Inflation Indexed Bonds (i.e. implied 
inflation for 30 years from this date) was 1.4%.    

      
 
125 LEA’s discount rate assessment reflects: 

(a) a risk free rate of 2.5% per annum – our adopted risk free rate is higher than the yield 
on the 30 year US Government Bond of 1.3% as at 17 April 2020.  However, this is 
consistent with current market practice, which is to apply a normalised risk-free rate 
having regard to a mix of historical averages and current spot rates  

(b) a market risk premium (MRP) of 6.0% per annum38 
(c) an equity beta of 1.1 to 1.2 – having regard to:  

(i) the tolling nature of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Project’s facilities  
(ii) the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects’ exposure to nickel prices and the 

commodity price volatility therein  

                                                 
38  Being the estimated risk premium obtained by observation / analysis of the implied premium for the S&P 500.  

(Source: Aswath Damodaran, Stern University New York, January 2019.) 
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(d) country risk premium39 of 3% has been adopted based on Indonesia’s country bond 
default spread40 

(e) a long term cost of debt of 8% to 9% having regard to the terms of the recent debt 
facilities entered into by Nickel Mines.  Note this rate implicitly includes allowance for 
a country risk premium  

(f) a conservative gearing ratio (debt / enterprise value) of 20%  
(g) a long term inflation rate of 1.5%, consistent with the estimated long-term inflation 

rate in the US (as a proxy for global inflation).  
 

Sensitivity analysis 
126 There are inherent qualifications that apply to cash flow projections on which DCF valuations 

are based.  In addition, the cost of capital can vary between industry participants based on 
factors such as differing perceptions / acceptance of risk and willingness to assume debt 
funding obligations. 

127 It is important therefore not to credit the output of DCF models with a precision they do not 
warrant.  It follows that any DCF valuation process should consider a range of scenarios, 
having regard to the respective key valuation drivers of the enterprise being valued. 

128 In assessing a valuation range to adopt we have therefore considered the sensitivity of value to 
changes in the key assumptions, as shown below:  

Hengjaya Nickel Project DCF valuation – sensitivity analysis 

Variable 
Base case 

assumption Sensitivity 
Value range 

$m 
Nickel units produced (tonnes) 16,477 14,500-22,500(1) 414 – 671 
Long term NPI price / tonne US$12,000 +/- 10% 316 – 640 
Total cash costs ($US per tonne of contained nickel) US$8,061 +/- 10% 368 – 587 
Discount rate 9.5% +/- 1% 427 – 497 
    
Note: 
1 Production for the six months to 31 March 2020 for the Hengjaya Nickel Project was 11,250 tonnes, 

which is around 22,500 tonnes when annualised.  Accordingly, we have sensitised the nickel unit 
production to around this level. 

    
 

Ranger Nickel Project DCF valuation – sensitivity analysis 

Variable 
Base case 

assumption Sensitivity 
Value range 

$m 
Nickel units produced (tonnes) 16,533 14,500-22,500(1) 412 – 666 
Long term NPI price / tonne US$12,000 +/- 10% 315 – 640 
Total cash costs ($US per tonne of contained nickel) US$8,094 +/- 10% 367 – 588 
Discount rate 9.5% +/- 1% 427 – 497 
    

                                                 
39  A country risk premium essentially allows for three major risks associated with investment in a foreign county 

including political risk, economic risk and currency risk. 
40  Where the country bond default spread is measured as the difference between the yield on the country’s sovereign 

bonds and the yield on comparable US Treasury Bonds. 
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Note: 
1 Production for the six months to 31 March 2020 for the Ranger Nickel Project was 11,010 tonnes, 

which is around 22,000 tonnes when annualised.  Accordingly, we have sensitised the nickel unit 
production to around this level. 

    
 
129 The above sensitives only show the impact of one variable in each instance and there are 

alternate scenarios, such as adopting current production rates and cash costs, which produce 
significantly higher values than those shown above.41 

130 The value attributable to the nine year tax holiday in our DCF valuation is approximately 
US$64 million for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects respectively, based on our 
adopted discount rate of 9.5% (before any adjustment for the risk of amendment or adjustment 
by the Indonesian Government).  

Adopted DCF value 
131 Based on the above, the value of 100% of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects under the 

DCF approach ranges from around:  

(a) US$450 million to US$650 million for the Hengjaya Nickel Project 
(b) US$450 million to US$650 million for the Ranger Nickel Project. 

 
132 These values are well in excess of the US$300 million value attributed to both the Hengjaya 

and Ranger Nickel Projects in the respective CAs on which the Proposed Transactions are 
based. 

                                                 
41  We have also considered possible negative impacts on the projects’ cash flows in the near term due to COVID-19: 

(a) the NPI price falls below the low end of our sensitivity range – there is still a margin of some 25% before the 
project cash flow would reach break-even level 

(b) NPI manufacturing is suspended (e.g. as a result of an outbreak of infection or Indonesian Government 
restrictions) – ore would no longer be purchased and electricity costs would cease.  Personnel costs would be 
the main on-going expense.  

Adjusting the DCF model to reflect one year’s operation from 1 July 2020 under either of the above scenarios 
results in an NPV for each project which is still above US$300 million as at 30 November 2020. 
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VI Evaluation of the Proposed Transactions 
 

133 In our opinion, subject to there being no material adverse events prior to the Company 
electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions, the Proposed 
Transactions are fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders.  We have formed this 
opinion for the reasons set out below. 

Fairness 
134 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction42 is “fair” if the value of the financial benefit 

being offered by the entity to the related party is equal to or less than the value of the assets 
being acquired.  In our opinion the Proposed Transactions are fair as:  

(a) the Proposed Transactions are consistent with the Initial and Second Hengjaya and 
Ranger Acquisitions as shown in the table below: 

Nickel Mines – acquisition of interest in Nickel Projects 

Transaction date Acquisition 
Purchase price 

US$m 
Value of 100% 

US$m 
Hengjaya Nickel Project    
April 2018 25% initial interest 50.0 200.0(1) 

September 2018 Further 35% interest 70.0 200.0(1) 
By November 2020 Up to 20% interest  60.0(2) 300.0(3) 

    
Ranger Nickel Project    
November 2018 17% initial interest 50.0(4) 300.0(5) 

July 2019 Further 43% interest 121.4(4) 280.0(5) 
By November 2020 Up to 20% interest 60.0(6) 300.0(5) 
    
Note: 
1 Transaction based on the guaranteed construction price of US$200 million.  At the time of entering 

into these transactions the performance of the plant had not been proven. 
2 Price for a further 20% interest (being the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration). 
3 As per the terms of the Hengjaya CA.  The implied value and purchase consideration increased as the 

project has become operational. 
4 The purchase price for the first 17% interest was rounded down by US$1 million.  As per the terms of 

the Ranger CA, the Second Ranger Acquisition Consideration included the US$1 million rounding 
down from the acquisition of the initial 17% interest.  

5 As per the terms of the Ranger CA.  The implied value for the Ranger Nickel Project is consistent 
with the implied value of the Hengjaya Nickel Project once operational.  This reduced value for the 
further 43% interest arose due to the Company electing to increase its ownership within 60 days of 
the Ranger Nickel Project’s first NPI production.  In the alternative, the consideration payable would 
have been based on a valuation of US$300 million. 

6 Price for a further 20% interest (being the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration). 
    

 
  

                                                 
42  Which includes a transaction with a person in a position of influence that requires member approval under ASX 

Listing Rule 10. 
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(b) the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition 
Consideration (of US$60 million respectively) is less than the NPV of the Company’s 
pro rata share of the estimated future free cash flows from each of the Hengjaya and 
Ranger Nickel Projects43 based on current steady state rates of production and a 
reasonable assessment of future nickel prices. 
 

Reasonableness 
135 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction is reasonable if it is fair.  Consequently, in our 

opinion, the Proposed Transactions are both fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders. 

136 In considering whether the Proposed Transaction are reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders 
we have also had regard to the following: 

(a) the announcements of the Hengjaya Nickel Project and Ranger Nickel Project 
acquisitions made to date 

(b) the implications for Nickel Mines if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented 
(c) the position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions, and the net 

benefits inherent in the transactions 
(d) other qualitative factors with respect to the Proposed Transactions. 

 

Implication if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented 
137 If the Proposed Transactions are not implemented, Nickel Mines’ attributable share of 

production, on a steady state basis, from the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will remain 
at approximately 19,800 tpa44 and Nickel Mines will forgo the benefit of an increase in 
earnings from the projects, the value of which in our opinion exceeds the respective 
consideration payable. 

Position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions 
138 Based on the indicative DCF assessment, the Proposed Transactions are value accretive as the 

Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with: 

(a) an additional income source from further downstream production of ore extracted from 
the Hengjaya Mine and/or other mines 

(b) a further interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Based on the current 
performance of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects, the increased interest in the 
Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will contribute some 6,600 tpa of additional NPI 

                                                 
43  We have assumed the acquisition will occur on 30 November 2020 and assessed the NPV as at that date.  In the 

event that the options to acquire the further 20% interests are exercised earlier the NPV of the acquired interests 
would increase.   

44  Based on nameplate capacity of 16,500 tpa at each of the respective Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Post the 
ramp up period for the respective projects actual production levels have been well in excess of these nameplate 
levels. 
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production45.  The Company’s attributable nickel production from both the Hengjaya 
and Ranger Nickel Projects will be approximately 26,400 tpa45 produced at facilities 
that operate in the lowest quartile of cash costs for nickel production globally, 
increasing the significance of its nickel production capabilities and the scale of the 
Company. 
 

139 Whilst the details of the funding of the Proposed Transactions have not been decided as at the 
date of this report, for the purpose of our report we have considered (by way of example) the 
implications of 100% debt funding at an interest rate of 8.5%46 per annum.  However, we 
note that the respective CAs provide for Shanghai Decent to accept equity as part of the 
Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisition Consideration, at not less than the VWAP of the 
ten business days prior to lodgement of the acquisition notice.  The issue of shares would be 
limited, as Shanghai Decent already holds 18.1% of the Nickel Mines shares on issue and 
cannot hold more than a 20% shareholding in Nickel Mines without shareholder approval.   

140 Nickel Mines’ gearing is currently minimal, some 3%.  A US$120 million debt facility to 
finance 100% of the Proposed Transactions would result in a modest gearing level of some 
17% and an annual debt servicing capacity based on the current performance of the projects of 
around 7 times.  This assumption is conservative, as there is a reasonable expectation based 
on the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects’ current production levels that (prior to 
30 November 2020), significant additional cash flow will be available to Nickel Mines to 
fund the Proposed Transactions. 

Advantages and disadvantages 
141 In concluding whether the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-

associated shareholders of Nickel Mines we have also had regard to the advantages and 
disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of Nickel Mines 
shareholders: 

Advantages 

(a) Nickel Mines has a 60% interest in both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects 
representing substantial holdings which are managed by the Company.  These 
investments have provided Nickel Mines with positive income contribution since 
acquisition (the value of which have exceeded the respective considerations paid) 

(b) the Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with a further interest in the Hengjaya 
and Ranger Nickel Projects and an additional income source from downstream 
production of ore extracted from the Hengjaya Mine or other mines.  Based on the 
current performance of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects, the increased interest 
in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will contribute some 6,600 tonnes of 

                                                 
45  Based on nameplate capacity of 16,500 tpa at each of the respective Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Post the 

ramp up period for the respective projects actual production levels have been well in excess of these nameplate 
levels. 

46  Broadly consistent with the rate charged by Shanghai Decent on the loan advance to the Company for the Second 
Ranger Acquisition and the debt rate adopted in the DCF discount rate.  We have been advised by Nickel Mines 
management that several debt providers have recently indicated that debt funds would be available to the Company 
at or around this rate. 
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additional NPI production annually47.  The Company’s attributable nickel production 
from both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will be approximately 26,400 tpa47 
produced at facilities that operate in the lowest quartile of cash costs for nickel 
production, increasing the significance of its nickel production capabilities and the scale 
of the Company 

(c) the Proposed Transactions are value accretive, with the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition 
Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (totalling 
US$120 million) being less than the NPV of the expected future cash flows from the 
proportionate interest to be acquired in each of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel 
Projects  

Disadvantages 

(d) there is no firm date for the execution of the Proposed Transactions.  We have assumed 
that the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions will occur on 30 November 2020 
and performed our DCF / valuation assessment as at that date.  We note however 
(subject to approval for the Proposed Transactions being given by Nickel Mines 
shareholders) that there is no obligation for the Company to proceed with the Proposed 
Transactions in the event (for example) that there is a material adverse event or 
significant negative change in economic conditions prior to 30 November 2020 

(e) given the current economic circumstances, the Company has advised that it has not yet 
determined exactly how the Proposed Transactions are to be financed.  In our opinion, 
given the current economic conditions, there may be difficulties associated with a 
capital raising48.  However, given the Company’s modest net debt level and the cash 
flow which can reasonably be expected to be generated by the current 60% interest in 
the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects in the period to 30 November 2020, we have 
assumed that the Proposed Transactions can be funded.  By way of example, if the 
Proposed Transactions are 100% debt financed by an external lender at an interest rate 
of some 8.5%49, Nickel Mines’ gearing would still be modest (after allowing for the 
existing borrowed funds from Shanghai Decent which partly financed the Second 
Ranger Acquisition). 
 

142 In our opinion, the advantages of the Proposed Transaction significantly outweigh the 
disadvantages. 

                                                 
47  Based on nameplate capacity of 16,500 tpa at each of the respective Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Post the 

ramp up period for the respective projects actual production levels have been well in excess of these nameplate 
levels. 

48  Further, assuming a capital raising could be arranged, given the current Nickel Mines share price, a capital raising 
may be detrimental to Nickel Mines shareholders.   

49  We have been advised by Nickel Mines management that debt providers have recently indicated that debt funds may 
be available to the Company at this rate. 
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Financial Services Guide 

Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited 
1 Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited (ABN 53 095 445 560) (LEA) is a specialist 

valuation firm which provides valuation advice, valuation reports and independent expert’s 
reports (IER) in relation to takeovers and mergers, commercial litigation, tax and stamp duty 
matters, assessments of economic loss, commercial and regulatory disputes. 

2 LEA holds Australian Financial Services Licence No. 246532. 

Financial Services Guide 
3 The Corporations Act 2001 authorises LEA to provide this Financial Services Guide (FSG) in 

connection with its preparation of an IER to accompany the Explanatory Memorandum to be 
sent to Nickel Mines shareholders in connection with the Proposed Transaction. 

4 This FSG is designed to assist retail clients in their use of any general financial product advice 
contained in the IER.  This FSG contains information about LEA generally, the financial 
services we are licensed to provide, the remuneration we may receive in connection with the 
preparation of the IER, and if complaints against us ever arise how they will be dealt with. 

Financial services we are licensed to provide 
5 Our Australian financial services licence allows us to provide a broad range of services to 

retail and wholesale clients, including providing financial product advice in relation to various 
financial products such as securities, derivatives, interests in managed investment schemes, 
superannuation products, debentures, stocks and bonds. 

General financial product advice 
6 The IER contains only general financial product advice.  It was prepared without taking into 

account your personal objectives, financial situation or needs. 

7 You should consider your own objectives, financial situation and needs when assessing the 
suitability of the IER to your situation.  You may wish to obtain personal financial product 
advice from the holder of an Australian Financial Services Licence to assist you in this 
assessment. 

Fees, commissions and other benefits we may receive 
8 LEA charges fees to produce reports, including this IER.  These fees are negotiated and 

agreed with the entity who engages LEA to provide a report.  Fees are charged on an hourly 
basis or as a fixed amount depending on the terms of the agreement with the person who 
engages us.  In the preparation of this IER, LEA is entitled to receive a fee estimated at 
$35,000 plus GST.   

9 Neither LEA nor its directors and officers receives any commissions or other benefits, except 
for the fees for services referred to above. 
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10 All of our employees receive a salary.  Our employees are eligible for bonuses based on 
overall performance and the firm’s profitability, and do not receive any commissions or other 
benefits arising directly from services provided to our clients.  The remuneration paid to our 
directors reflects their individual contribution to the company and covers all aspects of 
performance.  Our directors do not receive any commissions or other benefits arising directly 
from services provided to our clients. 

11 We do not pay commissions or provide other benefits to other parties for referring prospective 
clients to us. 

Complaints 
12 If you have a complaint, please raise it with us first, using the contact details listed below.  

We will endeavour to satisfactorily resolve your complaint in a timely manner.  

13 If we are not able to resolve your complaint to your satisfaction within 45 days of your 
written notification, you are entitled to have your matter referred to the Australian Financial 
Complaints Authority (AFCA), an external complaints resolution service.  You will not be 
charged for using the AFCA service. 

Contact details 
14 LEA can be contacted by sending a letter to the following address: 

Level 7 
64 Castlereagh Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
(or GPO Box 1640, Sydney  NSW  2001) 
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Qualifications, declarations and consents 

Qualifications 
1 LEA is a licensed investment adviser under the Corporations Act.  LEA’s authorised 

representatives have extensive experience in the field of corporate finance, particularly in 
relation to the valuation of shares and businesses and have prepared hundreds of IERs. 

2 This report was prepared by Ms Julie Planinic and Mr Martin Hall, who are each authorised 
representatives of LEA.  Ms Planinic and Mr Hall have over 23 years and 34 years’ 
experience respectively in the provision of valuation advice (and related advisory services).  

Declarations 
3 This report has been prepared at the request of the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines to 

accompany the Explanatory Memorandum to be sent to Nickel Mines Shareholders.  It is not 
intended that this report should serve any purpose other than as an expression of our opinion 
as to whether or not the Proposed Transactions are  fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines 
Shareholders. 

Interests 
4 At the date of this report, neither LEA, Ms Planinic nor Mr Hall have any interest in the 

outcome of the Proposed Transactions.  With the exception of the fee shown in Appendix A, 
LEA will not receive any other benefits, either directly or indirectly, for or in connection with 
the preparation of this report. 

5 We have considered the matters described in ASIC RG 112 – Independence of experts, and 
consider that there are no circumstances that, in our view, would constitute a conflict of 
interest or would impair our ability to provide objective independent assistance in this 
engagement. 

Indemnification 
6 As a condition of LEA’s agreement to prepare this report, Nickel Mines agrees to indemnify 

LEA in relation to any claim arising from or in connection with its reliance on information or 
documentation provided by or on behalf of Nickel Mines which is false or misleading or 
omits material particulars or arising from any failure to supply relevant documents or 
information. 

Consents 
7 LEA consents to the inclusion of this report in the form and context in which it is included in 

the Explanatory Memorandum. 
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Glossary 
 

  
Abbreviation Definition  
1HY19 Six months to 31 December 2018 
AFCA Australian Financial Complaints Authority 
AGM Annual General Meeting 
ASIC Australian Securities & Investments Commission 
ASX Australian Securities Exchange 
Corporations Act Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
COVID-19 Novel coronavirus COVID-19 
DCF Discounted cash flow 
DSO ban Indonesian export ban of direct shipping of unprocessed 

minerals 
FSG Financial Services Guide  
FY Financial year 
Hengjaya CA Collaboration Agreement between Shanghai Decent and Nickel 

Mines signed on 19 September 2017 
Hengjaya Holdings Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited 
Hengjaya Mine Hengjaya Mineralindo Nickel Mine in Indonesia 
Hengjaya Nickel PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry 
Hengjaya Nickel Project Processing facility in the IMIP comprising two RKEF lines 

funded and constructed to produce 150,000 tpa of NPI 
containing 15,000 tonnes of nickel 

IER Independent expert’s report 
IMIP Indonesian Morowali Industrial Park 
Initial Hengjaya Acquisition Acquisition of the initial 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel 

Project 
Initial Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration US$50 million 
Initial Ranger Acquisition The acquisition of the initial 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel 

Project 
Initial Ranger Acquisition Consideration US$50 million 
ITSS PT Indonesia Tsingshan Stainless Steel 
kt kilotonne 
LEA Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited 
Mtpa Million tonnes per annum 
Nickel Mines / Company Nickel Mines Limited 
Nickel Mines non-associated shareholders Shareholders of Nickel Mines not associated with Shanghai 

Decent 
NPI Nickel pig iron 
NPV Net present value 
PMA Penanaman Modal Asing 
Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Option for Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Hengjaya 

Nickel Project up to 80% before 30 November 2020 
Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition 
Consideration 

US$60 million 

Proposed Ranger Acquisition Option for Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Ranger 
Nickel Project up to 80% before 30 November 2020 

Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration US$60 million 
Proposed Transactions Nickel Mines’ proposed increase of ownership interest in the 

Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects from 60% to 80% 
PT Hengjaya PT Hengjaya Mineralindo 
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Abbreviation Definition  
Ranger CA Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Shanghai 

Decent signed on 8 November 2018 
Ranger Investment Ranger Investment Private Limited 
Ranger Nickel PT Ranger Nickel Industry  
Ranger Nickel Project The RKEF processing facility comprising two additional lines in 

the IMIP, referred to as the Ranger Nickel RKEF lines 
Retained Earnings Settlement Amount The 20% share of retained earnings in both Hengjaya Nickel and 

Ranger Nickel payable to Shanghai Decent and its associates as 
at the date of acquisition 

RG 111 ASIC Regulatory Guide 111 – Content of expert reports 
RKEF Rotary kiln electric furnace 
Second Hengjaya Acquisition The Company’s acquisition of a further 35% interest in the 

Hengjaya Nickel Project in September 2018 
Second Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration US$70 million 
Second Ranger Acquisition Option for Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Ranger 

Nickel Project by a further 43% to 60% before 
31 December 2019 

Second Ranger Acquisition Consideration US$121.4 million 
Shanghai Decent Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) Co., Ltd 
tpa Tonnes per annum 
Tsingshan Tsingshan Holding Group 
US United States of America 
US$ / USD United States dollars 
WMT Wet metric tonnes 
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	Introduction
	1 In the Notice of Annual General Meeting to be issued on 24 April 2020, the directors of Nickel Mines Limited (Nickel Mines or the Company) announced that the Company had decided to increase its current ownership interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger ...
	2 The decision to acquire the further 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects has been made in accordance with the terms of the respective projects’ Collaboration Agreements and in consultation with Shanghai Decent Investment (Group) ...
	Hengjaya Nickel Project

	3 The acquisition of the initial 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project (Initial Hengjaya Acquisition) occurred in April 2018 subsequent to signing of the Collaboration Agreement for the Hengjaya Nickel Project on 19 September 2017 (Hengjaya CA)....
	4 The acquisition of a further 35% in the Hengjaya Nickel Project occurred in September 2018, subsequent to the Company’s initial public offering (Second Hengjaya Acquisition).  This further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project was acquired for...
	5 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA (and subsequent agreement between the Company and Shanghai Decent), Nickel Mines has the option1F  to increase its interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to not more than 80% before 30 November 2020 (Proposed Heng...
	Ranger Nickel Project

	6 The acquisition of the initial 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project (Initial Ranger Acquisition) occurred upon signing of the Collaboration Agreement for the Ranger Nickel Project entered into on 8 November 2018 (Ranger CA).  The initial 17% in...
	7 The acquisition of a further 43% in the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in July 2019, subsequent the Extraordinary General Meeting on 26 July 2019, at which Nickel Mines shareholders approved the acquisition (Second Ranger Acquisition).  The amount p...
	8 Under the “Third Acquisition Option”2F  in the Ranger CA, Nickel Mines can elect to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project to 80% before 30 November 2020 (Proposed Ranger Acquisition) for a price of US$60 million (Proposed Ranger Acquisi...
	Nickel Mines
	9 Nickel Mines is an Australian public company focused on becoming a globally significant, low cost producer of nickel pig iron (NPI), a key ingredient in the production of stainless steel.  The Company has established a financial, operational and str...
	10 Nickel Mines also owns an 80% interest in the Hengjaya Mineralindo Nickel Mine (Hengjaya Mine), a large tonnage, high grade nickel laterite deposit located in the Morowali Regency of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  The deposit is located just 12 kilo...
	Purpose
	11 The Proposed Transactions are transactions with persons in a position of influence under the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) Listing Rules and require the approval of Nickel Mines shareholders that are not considered a party to the transaction...
	12 Accordingly, the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines that are not associated with Shanghai Decent have requested that Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited (LEA) prepare an IER in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 10.10.2 stating whether, in our o...
	13 The LEA report will accompany the Notice of Annual General Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum to be sent by Nickel Mines to Nickel Mines shareholders in connection with the Proposed Transactions.  LEA is independent of Nickel Mines and has no invol...
	Summary of opinion
	14 In LEA’s opinion the Proposed Transactions are, subject to there being no material adverse events prior to the Company electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions, fair and reasonable to the Nickel Mines shareholders.  We...
	15 Pursuant to Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) Regulatory Guide 111 – Content of expert reports (RG 111) a related party transaction5F  is “fair” if the value of the financial benefit being offered by the entity to the related pa...
	Fairness

	16 In our opinion, subject to there being no material adverse events prior to the Company electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions, the Proposed Transactions are fair as:
	(a) the Proposed Transactions are consistent with Initial and Second Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions as shown in the table below:
	(b) the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (of US$60 million respectively) is less than the net present value (NPV) of the Company’s pro rata share of the estimated future free cash flows from...
	Reasonableness

	17 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction is reasonable if it is fair.  Consequently, in our opinion, the Proposed Transactions are both fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders.
	Advantages and disadvantages

	18 In concluding whether the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated shareholders of Nickel Mines we have also had regard to the advantages and disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of Nickel Min...
	(a) Nickel Mines has a 60% interest in both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects representing substantial holdings which are managed by the Company.  These investments have provided Nickel Mines with positive income contribution since acquisition (...
	(b) the Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with a further interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects and an additional income source from downstream production of ore extracted from the Hengjaya Mine or other mines.  Based on the curr...
	(c) the Proposed Transactions are value accretive, with the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (totalling US$120 million) being less than the NPV of the expected future cash flows from the pro...
	(d) there is no firm date for the execution of the Proposed Transactions.  We have assumed that the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions will occur on 30 November 2020 and performed our valuation assessment as at that date.  We note however (subj...
	(e) given the current economic circumstances, the Company has advised that it has not yet determined exactly how the Proposed Transactions are to be financed.  In our opinion, given the current economic conditions, there may be difficulties associated...

	19 In our opinion, the advantages of the Proposed Transactions significantly outweigh the disadvantages.
	Other matters
	20 In preparing this report we have considered the interests of Nickel Mines shareholders as a whole.  Accordingly, this report only contains general financial advice and does not consider the personal objectives, financial situations or requirements ...
	21 The ultimate decision by Nickel Mines shareholders whether to approve the Proposed Transactions should be based on each shareholder’s assessment of the Proposed Transactions.  This report has been provided for shareholders in Nickel Mines not assoc...
	22 If in doubt about the Proposed Transactions or matters dealt with in our report, Nickel Mines shareholders should seek independent professional advice.  For our full opinion on the Proposed Transactions, and the reasoning behind our opinion, we rec...
	Table of contents
	Appendices
	I Key terms of the Proposed Transactions
	Hengjaya Nickel Project
	23 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, Nickel Mines has the right to acquire a 100% interest in Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited (Hengjaya Holdings) and the Hengjaya Nickel Project.
	24 Hengjaya Holdings is a Singaporean holding company which holds 100% of the shares (directly and indirectly) of PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry (Hengjaya Nickel), which is an Indonesian PMA11F  company which owns and operates the RKEF processing facilit...
	25 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, in:
	(a) April 2018, Nickel Mines completed the initial acquisition of a 25% interest in the issued share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and an underlying 25% interest in the ownership of the Hengjaya Nickel Project for US$50 million (Initial Hengjaya Acquis...
	(b) August 2018, the Company acquired a further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project for US$70 million (Second Hengjaya Acquisition), bringing the total interest to 60%.

	26 In September 2019, Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent agreed that Nickel Mines would limit its contractual option12F  to acquire further equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to 80% and that the option period during which Nickel Mines can ac...
	Ranger Nickel Project
	27 In November 2018, Nickel Mines announced the conversion of a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding with Shanghai Decent13F  to acquire an interest in two additional RKEF lines into a binding collaboration agreement (Ranger CA)14F .  Following the...
	28 Ranger Investment is a Singaporean holding company which holds 100% of the shares (directly and indirectly) of PT Ranger Nickel Industry (Ranger Nickel), which is an Indonesian PMA company which owns and operates the RKEF processing facilities (ref...
	29 Subsequent to the Initial Ranger Acquisition in November 2018, Shanghai Decent further expedited the construction of the Ranger Nickel Project.  The first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project was commissioned in May 2019 with a maiden production run o...
	30 The acquisition of a further 43% in the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in July 2019, subsequent to the Extraordinary General Meeting on 26 July 2019, at which Nickel Mines shareholders approved the acquisition (Second Ranger Acquisition).  The amou...
	Terms of the Proposed Transactions
	Hengjaya Nickel Project

	31 Under the terms of the Hengjaya CA, Nickel Mines had the option to acquire up to 100% equity interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project on or before 31 January 2020.  However, in September 2019, Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent agreed that the Company...
	32 The purchase price for the additional 20% equity interest is US$60 million, which is consistent with the terms of the Hengjaya CA, based on a total project value of US$300 million.
	Ranger Nickel Project

	33 Under the terms of the Ranger CA, Nickel Mines has a right17F  to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project to 80% within 18 months of the first NPI production.  NPI production by the Ranger Nickel Project commenced in May 2019 and therefo...
	34 The purchase price for the acquisition of a further 20% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project is US$60 million, which is consistent with the terms of the Ranger CA, based on a total project value of US$300 million.
	Retained Earnings Settlement Amount
	35 On completion of the Proposed Transactions the Company has agreed with Shanghai Decent that it will pay to Shanghai Decent and its associates their 20% share of retained earnings in both Hengjaya Nickel and Ranger Nickel as at the date of acquisiti...
	Funding
	36 The final funding mix for the Proposed Transactions and the payment of the Retained Earnings Settlement Amount is still to be determined.
	Resolutions
	37 There are two resolutions in respect of the Proposed Transactions which must be passed by Nickel Mines shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for the Proposed Transactions to be completed:
	(a) approval for the Company to acquire an additional 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings (Ordinary Resolution 4)
	(b) approval for the Company to acquire an additional 20% interest in Ranger Investment (Ordinary Resolution 5).

	II Scope of our report
	Purpose
	38 The Proposed Transactions represent an acquisition of a substantial asset18F  from a substantial shareholder19F  under Rule 10.1.3 of the ASX Listing Rules and require the approval of Nickel Mines shareholders that are not considered a party to the...
	39 ASX Listing Rule 10.10.2 requires the notice of meeting sent to shareholders to include an IER, stating whether the transaction is “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated shareholders20F .  Accordingly, the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines...
	40 Our report will accompany the meeting documents sent by Nickel Mines to its shareholders for the purpose of the Company’s AGM including resolutions seeking to approve the Proposed Transactions.
	41 LEA is independent of Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent and has no other involvement or interest in the transaction.
	Basis of assessment
	42 In preparing our report, we have given due consideration to the ASX Listing Rules and Regulatory Guides issued by ASIC, particularly RG 111 and Regulatory Guide 76 – Related party transactions.
	43 ASX Listing Rule 10.1 states that an entity must ensure that it does not acquire a substantial asset from, or dispose of a substantial asset to a substantial holder (of >10% of the voting rights) or an associate of a substantial holder without the ...
	44 ASX Listing Rule 10.2 states that an asset is substantial if its value, or the value of the consideration for it, is 5% or more of the book value of the equity interests of the entity.
	45 ASX Listing Rule 10.10 requires that the notice of general meeting includes a report from an independent expert stating whether the transaction is fair and reasonable to non-associated holders of the entity’s ordinary securities.
	46 RG 111 states that “fair and reasonable” should not be applied as a composite test and states there should be a separate assessment of “fair” and “reasonable”.  RG 111 provides that a proposed related party transaction:
	(a) is “fair” if the value of the financial benefit to be provided by the entity to the related party is equal to or less than the value of the consideration being provided to the entity by the related party.  This comparison is required to be made as...
	(b) is “reasonable” if it is “fair”.  A related party transaction may also be “reasonable” despite being “not fair” if the expert believes there are other reasons for non-associated shareholders to vote for the proposal.

	47 Given the above, in our opinion, the most appropriate basis upon which to evaluate whether the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated shareholders is to consider:
	(a) the market value of the 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings and Ranger Investment respectively
	(b) the consideration to be paid by Nickel Mines for the 20% interest in Hengjaya Holdings and Ranger Investment respectively
	(c) the extent to which (a) and (b) differ in order to assess whether the Proposed Transaction is “fair”
	(d) the implications for Nickel Mines if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented
	(e) the position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions, and the net benefits inherent in the transactions
	(f) the advantages and disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of Nickel Mines shareholders.

	48 The Proposed Transactions are reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders provided the advantages of the Proposed Transactions outweigh the disadvantages from the perspective of Nickel Mines shareholders.
	Limitations and reliance on information
	49 Our opinions are based on the economic, share market, financial and other conditions and expectations prevailing at the date of this report.  Such conditions can change significantly over relatively short periods, as has been evident by the signifi...
	50 Our report is also based upon financial and other information provided by Nickel Mines.  We have considered and relied upon this information and believe that the information provided is reliable, complete and not misleading and we have no reason to...
	51 The information provided was evaluated through analysis, enquiry and review to the extent considered appropriate for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of the Nickel Mines shareholders.  However, we ...
	52 Accordingly, this report and the opinions expressed therein should be considered more in the nature of an overall review of the anticipated commercial and financial implications of the Proposed Transactions rather than a comprehensive audit or inve...
	53 In forming our opinion, we have also assumed that the information set out in the Explanatory Memorandum is complete, accurate and fairly presented in all material respects.
	III Profile of Nickel Mines
	Overview
	54 Nickel Mines is an ASX listed Australian company focused on becoming a globally significant, low cost producer of NPI, a key ingredient in the production of stainless steel.  The Company owns a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, a 60% int...
	History
	Mining origins

	55 Nickel Mines was incorporated on 12 September 2007 with the objective of acquiring, exploring and developing nickel projects.  After a period focusing on other opportunities, in December 2009 the Company entered into an agreement to acquire an 80% ...
	56 Nickel Mines commenced production in October 2012 and made a maiden shipment of nickel laterite in February 2013.  A number of vessels containing high grade nickel laterite (at an average grade of 1.98% nickel) were sold into China and Japan in 201...
	Indonesian export ban on unprocessed minerals

	57 The origins of the Indonesian export ban of direct shipping of unprocessed minerals (DSO ban) dates back to the 2009 Indonesian Law on Mineral and Coal Mining.  This law described certain minerals as national non-renewable resources, specifying tha...
	58 In mid-2013 Tsingshan (then one of China’s largest stainless steel producers), committed to building a nickel processing facility in Indonesia to satisfy the indicated new framework for the treatment of Indonesia’s natural resources.
	59 PT Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park was established to develop the IMIP in the Morowali County of the Central Sulawesi Province of Indonesia.  During October 2013, China’s President Xi and then Indonesian President Yudhoyono witnessed the signing...
	Recommencement of mining operations and development of Tsingshan relationship

	60 The introduction of the Indonesian DSO ban materially changed the course of Nickel Mines’ future, with the Company subsequently required to meet the minimum required export grade of 4% for nickel products.  The development of the IMIP and a growing...
	61 In September 2015, PT Hengjaya signed a supply agreement with PT Sulawesi Mining Investment, a Tsingshan group company, to supply 30,000 wet metric tonnes (WMT) per month of nickel laterite at a cut-off grade of 1.9% nickel for six months.  As a re...
	62 The development of this relationship and Tsingshan’s requirement for additional NPI production to supply its stainless steel expansion plans culminated in Nickel Mines and Shanghai Decent22F  discussing a strategic partnership that would contemplat...
	63 In September 2017, Nickel Mines executed a Collaboration and Subscription Agreement with Tsingshan with respect to the funding and construction of the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which included two RKEF lines targeting production of 150,000 tpa of NPI...
	64 Nickel Mines acquired a 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project in April 2018 by provision of a US$50 million shareholder loan to Hengjaya Holdings.  These funds were in turn provided to Hengjaya Nickel by way of a US$25 million shareholder loa...
	ASX listing and events subsequent

	65 Nickel Mines was listed on the ASX in August 2018 raising $200 million.  On 4 September 2018, the Company submitted notice to Shanghai Decent to acquire a further 35% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and a proportionate ...
	66 On 1 November 2018, Nickel Mines announced that the Hengjaya Nickel Project’s operating entity had been granted material corporate income tax relief on the following basis:
	(a) a corporate income tax reduction of 100% for a period of seven tax years, starting from the tax year in which commercial production is achieved
	(b) a corporate income tax reduction of 50% of payable income tax for a period of two tax years, starting from the end of the initial seven year period
	(c) exemption from withholding and tax collection by third parties on sales proceeds that would normally be remitted to the Indonesian Revenue Department for a period of seven years, also commencing from the tax year in which commercial production is ...

	67 On 8 November 2018, the Company executed the Ranger CA with Shanghai Decent to acquire up to an 80% equity interest in the Ranger Nickel Project, which included two additional RKEF lines under construction in the IMIP.  The Ranger CA provides for N...
	(a) the Initial Ranger Acquisition gave Nickel Mines the right to acquire an initial interest of 17% in the Ranger Nickel Project and 17% of all shareholder loans due to Shanghai Decent (and its affiliates) at cost of US$50 million (based on a valuati...
	(b) the Second Ranger Acquisition permitted Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project and in the total shareholder loans to between 51% and 60% before 31 December 2019.  If this acquisition was completed within 60 days after t...
	(c) conditional upon completion of the Second Ranger Acquisition, the Third Acquisition Option permits Nickel Mines to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project and in the total shareholder loans to up to 80% within 18 months of the first bat...

	68 On 1 February 2019, Nickel Mines advised that the Company’s 60% owned Hengjaya Nickel Project had produced its first NPI.  In this announcement the Company also stated that:
	(a) the Hengjaya Nickel Project’s first kiln was expected to reach at least 80% of nameplate capacity by early April 2019 and that the second kiln was anticipated to commence commissioning in early March 2019 and was expected to reach at least 80% of ...
	(b) Shanghai Decent had advised that an expedited schedule would see the first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project ready to commence commissioning in April 2019, with the second kiln to commence commissioning a month later.  This was well ahead of previ...

	69 On 26 March 2019, the Company announced that the Ranger Nickel Project had been granted corporate income tax relief on a basis consistent with the tax concessions previously granted to the Hengjaya Nickel Project.
	70 On 17 April 2019, Nickel Mines announced that it intended to increase its ownership in the Ranger Nickel Project to 60%.  The Company also stated that as the commissioning of the first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project was well ahead of the previou...
	71 On 3 June 2019, Nickel Mines announced that the first NPI had been produced from one of the Ranger Nickel Project’s two RKEF lines in a maiden production run.  On 1 July 2019, the Company announced that the second line had commenced commissioning a...
	72 On 15 August 2019, the Company announced that it had completed the Second Ranger Acquisition, increasing its ownership from 17% to 60%.  The acquisition was at a discounted valuation of US$280 million, compared to the US$300 million valuation at wh...
	73 On 9 September 2019, Nickel Mines announced that Shanghai Decent and the Company had agreed to amend two material terms in the Hengjaya CA that governs the contractual rights and obligations with respect to the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  These were:
	(a) Nickel Mines had agreed to limit its contractual option to further equity in the Hengjaya Nickel Project to not more than 80% (previously 100%); and
	(b) the option period during which Nickel Mines could acquire further equity in the Hengjaya Nickel Project had been extended to 30 November 2020 (previously 31 January 2020).

	Current operations
	74 Nickel Mines owns nickel mining and processing operations on the east coast of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  As stated above, the Company holds ownership interests that comprise a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, a 60% interest in the R...
	75 Nickel Mines’ mining and processing operations are all located in the Morowali Regency on the east coast of Central Sulawesi, Indonesia.  Its RKEF lines are operated within the IMIP, which is situated approximately 12 kilometres north of the Hengja...
	Hengjaya Nickel Project

	76 The Hengjaya Nickel Project is 60% owned by Nickel Mines, with the Company holding an option to move to 80% ownership by 30 November 2020.  The project has an estimated production capacity of 16,500 tonnes of finished NPI product per annum and is a...
	77 The Hengjaya Nickel Project produced its first NPI in late January 2019 and had a strong maiden quarter of production.  The June 2019 quarter saw a continuation of the ramp-up towards full capacity with nickel metal production exceeding the targete...
	Ranger Nickel Project

	78 The Ranger Nickel Project is 60% owned by Nickel Mines, with the Company holding an option to move to 80% ownership within 18 months of first NPI production.  The project is a replication of the low cost Hengjaya Nickel Project, with a similar oper...
	79 The commissioning of the first kiln of the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in late May 2019, with the second in late June 2019.  By August 2019 the project was operating above the targeted monthly run rate of 1,375 kt per month.  Following a short r...
	Hengjaya Nickel Mine

	80 Nickel Mines holds an 80% interest in the Hengjaya Mine, a world-class nickel laterite deposit, with the remaining 20% interest owned by the Wijoyo family, acting as the local Indonesian partner.  The mine is located in the Morowali Regency, on the...
	81 The mine hosts Joint Ore Reserves Committee compliant resources as follows:
	Financial performance
	82 The financial performance of Nickel Mines for the three years to 30 June 2019 (FY19)28F , and six months to 31 December 2019 (1HY20) is set out below:
	Historical results

	83 Nickel Mines’ historical financial performance to FY18 largely reflects the performance of its Hengjaya Mine operations.  The results for FY19 includes the ramp up of the Hengjaya Nickel Project (which commenced operations in January 2019) and the ...
	84 The results in 1HY20 include a full six months contribution from the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  However, given that as at 30 June 2019 the Company only held a 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project (which increased to 60% upon the acquisition of ...
	Impact of COVID-19

	85 On 29 January 2020, Nickel Mines provided an update with respect to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and its impact on the IMIP, which stated (inter alia) that:
	(a) the IMIP had implemented strict access controls to the IMIP from 26 January 2020
	(b) all non-Indonesian personnel were prohibited from entering the IMIP unless exceptional circumstances required their entry (and all such personnel would be subject to medical screenings with their travel history analysed)
	(c) rostered leave for Chinese workers had been suspended
	(d) Chinese employees currently on rostered leave would have their return delayed; and
	(e) both the Hengjaya Nickel Project and Ranger Nickel Project were continuing to operate as normal.

	86 On 1 April 2020, Nickel Mines provided a further COVID-19 update including, inter alia, the following:
	(a) the IMIP was continuing to enforce strict safety measures in response to COVID-19 including implementing rigid access restrictions and thorough screening procedures to ensure the health and wellbeing of all its workers.  These protocols had been i...
	(b) with a workforce that is made up of more than 90% local employees from the surrounding community, and with fly in fly out / expat workers restricted from entering the IMIP, early and proactive measures in addressing the potential impacts of COVID-...
	(c) the Government of Central Sulawesi had locked down its borders with the Governor issuing a decree on 23 March 2020 prohibiting the entry and exit of all foreign citizens, foreign workers and Indonesian migrant workers
	(d) the Company reported that the operating performance of both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects for the March 2020 quarter had been a continuation of the steady state production output and operating cost performance reported for the December 2...
	(e) for the March 2020 quarter, combined production was 11,291 tonnes of nickel metal (100% basis) representing a record quarter of production and a 2.9% increase on the December 2019 quarter
	(f) whilst the Company’s operations were largely unaffected by COVID-19, it was not possible to predict the future course and duration of the pandemic and the impact that may have on the Company’s operations; and
	(g) the Company had also implemented strict access controls and restricted non-essential movements in and out of its 80% owned Hengjaya Mine.  Temperature checks and symptom screenings were being carried out prior to every shift with the Hengjaya Mine...

	87 With respect to the potential impacts of COVID-19 on Tsingshan’s NPI and stainless steel operations, Mr Weifeng Huang, Chairman of Shanghai Decent Group and Nickel Mines Director, stated29F :
	Financial position
	88 The financial position of Nickel Mines as at 30 June 2019 and 31 December 2019 is set out below:
	Property, plant and equipment

	89 Nickel Mines’ property, plant and equipment is predominantly comprised of plant and machinery relating to its holdings in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.
	Share capital
	90 As at 9 April 2020, Nickel Mines had 1,665.5 million fully paid ordinary shares on issue.
	Significant shareholders

	91 As at 9 April 2020, there were the following substantial shareholders in Nickel Mines that held a total of 53.1% of the ordinary shares on issue as detailed below:
	IV Valuation methodology
	Valuation approaches
	92 RG 111 outlines the appropriate methodologies that a valuer should consider when valuing assets or securities for the purposes of, amongst other things, share buy-backs, selective capital reductions, schemes of arrangement, takeovers and prospectus...
	(a) the discounted cash flow (DCF) methodology
	(b) the application of earnings multiples appropriate to the businesses or industries in which the company or its profit centres are engaged, to the estimated future maintainable earnings or cash flows of the company, added to the estimated realisable...
	(c) the amount that would be available for distribution to shareholders in an orderly realisation of assets
	(d) the quoted price of listed securities, when there is a liquid and active market and allowing for the fact that the quoted market price may not reflect their value on a 100% controlling interest basis
	(e) any recent genuine offers received by the target for any business units or assets as a basis for valuation of those business units or assets.

	93 Under the DCF methodology the value of the business is equal to the NPV of the estimated future cash flows including a terminal value.  In order to arrive at the NPV the future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate which reflects the risk...
	94 Methodologies using capitalisation multiples of earnings or cash flows are commonly applied when valuing businesses where a future “maintainable” earnings stream can be established with a degree of confidence.  Generally, this applies in circumstan...
	95 Capitalisation multiples can be applied to either estimates of future maintainable operating cash flow, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA), earnings before i...
	96 An asset based methodology is applicable in circumstances where neither a capitalisation of earnings nor a DCF methodology is appropriate.  It can also be applied where a business is no longer a going concern or where an orderly realisation of asse...
	Methodologies selected
	Primary methodology

	97 We have assessed the value of the 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects by reference to the price paid by Nickel Mines in recent comparable transactions for:
	(a) an initial 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project
	(b) a further 35% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project
	(c) the initial 17% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project
	(d) a further 43% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project.

	98 We have also had regard to the Proposed Acquisition Consideration for the Proposed Transactions.
	Cross-check

	99 Consistent with RG 111 we have also assessed the indicative value of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects by applying the DCF methodology.
	V Valuation of the interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects
	Overview
	100 As stated in Section IV, the value of the 20% interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects has been compared to the transactions entered into by Nickel Mines in respect of the acquisition of interests in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Proj...
	101 As a cross-check, the Proposed Acquisition Consideration to be paid under the Proposed Transactions has been compared to an indicative valuation of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects based on a DCF analysis of the respective project’s forecas...
	Associated transactions
	Hengjaya Nickel Project

	102 Nickel Mines currently holds a 60% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  The Hengjaya Nickel Project and the Ranger Nickel Project are identical projects save for the Ranger Nickel Project construction being approximately five months later.
	103 On 19 September 2017, the Company and Shanghai Decent executed the Hengjaya CA to undertake development, implementation and operation of the Hengjaya Nickel Project.  The Hengjaya CA set out terms for the Company to acquire up to 100% equity inter...
	Initial Hengjaya Acquisition

	104 In April 2018, Nickel Mines acquired a 25% interest in the Hengjaya Nickel Project, which was still under construction, by provision of a US$50 million shareholder loan to Hengjaya Holdings, implying a value of US$200 million for 100% of the proje...
	Second Hengjaya Acquisition

	105 In September 2018, Nickel Mines submitted notice to Shanghai Decent to acquire a further 35% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Hengjaya Holdings and a proportionate interest in the shareholder loans owed by Hengjaya Holdings to Shanghai D...
	Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition

	106 Under the Hengjaya CA (as revised), Nickel Mines has a call option, expiring 18 months from the commercial operation of the two RKEF lines comprising the Hengjaya Nickel Project, to enable it to increase its ownership in the Hengjaya Nickel Projec...
	Ranger Nickel Project

	107 Nickel Mines currently holds a 60% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project.
	108 In November 2018, the Company executed the Ranger CA to acquire up to an 80% equity interest in two additional RKEF lines, then under construction in the IMIP, and referred to as the Ranger Nickel Project.
	Initial Ranger Acquisition

	109 The first acquisition under the Ranger CA occurred in November 2018 and comprised a 17% interest in the equity of Ranger Investment and 17% of the shareholder loans owed by Ranger Investment to an associate of Shanghai Decent at a price of US$50 m...
	Second Ranger Acquisition

	110 Under the terms of the Ranger CA, in July 2019 Nickel Mines paid US$121.4 million for its further 43% interest in the Ranger Nickel Project32F  based on a discounted valuation of the overall project of US$280 million.  This reduced value arose due...
	Proposed Ranger Acquisition

	111 Nickel Mines has a right under the Ranger CA to increase its interest in the Ranger Nickel Project to 80% within 18 months of the first NPI production.  The first NPI production by the Ranger Nickel Project occurred in May 2019 and therefore the o...
	DCF assessment
	112 Under the DCF methodology the value of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects is equal to the NPV of the estimated future cash flows over the estimated operating period.  In order to arrive at the NPV the future cash flows are discounted using a ...
	Cash flow projections

	113 Our DCF valuation is based on the detailed free cash flow projections prepared by Nickel Mines management.  Free cash flow projections for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects were reviewed by Blackpeak Capital around February 201933F .  LEA ha...
	114 Based upon the above, nothing came to our attention that would indicate that the cash flow projections could not be relied upon for valuation purposes.  That said, it should be noted that:
	(a) the major assumptions underlying the projections were formulated around February 2019 (i.e. prior to the ramp up of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects34F ).  Given the material outperformance of the respective projects since commissioning, th...
	(b) future profits and cash flows are inherently uncertain
	(c) the achievability of these cash flow projections is not warranted or guaranteed by Nickel Mines or LEA, as they are predictions of future events that cannot be assured and are necessarily based on assumptions, many of which are beyond the control ...
	(d) actual results may be significantly more or less favourable.

	115 Free cash flow represents the operating cash flows on an ungeared basis (i.e. before interest) less taxation payments35F , capital expenditure and working capital requirements.  The free cash flow on an ungeared basis is adopted to enable the valu...
	116 The free cash flow projections cover the period to 30 June 2055 (being a period of 35 years from 1 July 2020).  For valuation purposes we have assumed a valuation date of 30 November 2020 (being the expiry date of the respective options to be exer...
	117 As the detailed cash flow projections are commercially sensitive they have not been set out in our report.  However, information on the major assumptions underlying the free cash flow projections for the respective projects is set out below:
	118 As indicated above, the major assumptions underlying the DCF projections and the Company’s model were formulated around February 2019 (i.e. prior to the ramp up of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects) and the key assumptions contained in the p...
	119 A comparison of the major base case assumptions in the cash flow projections to the historical operating results since commissioning of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects is set out below:
	120 As shown above, both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects have been producing NPI at levels well in excess of original capacity estimates36F  (following short ramp up periods) and at a cost well below expectations (and the costs included in the...
	Corporate tax

	121 The Indonesian corporate tax rate is 25%.  However, the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects have been granted material corporate income tax relief as follows:
	(a) a corporate income tax reduction of 100% for a period of seven tax years, starting from the tax year in which commercial production is achieved (i.e. FY20)
	(b) a corporate income tax reduction of 50% of payable income tax for a period of two tax years, starting from the end of the initial seven year period (i.e. FY27 and FY28)
	(c) exemption from withholding and tax collection by third parties on sales proceeds that would normally be remitted to the Indonesian Revenue Department for a period of seven years, also commencing from the tax year in which commercial production is ...

	122 These concessions may be revoked and are maximum periods that may be amended or adjusted, if certain conditions are not met, the key condition being that the minimum investment level be met.  The investment in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projec...
	123 The DCF model includes an allowance for 10% withholding tax payable on dividends distributed to the Singaporean holding company.  No withholding tax is payable on dividend distributions from Singaporean companies.
	Discount rate

	124 We have adopted a discount rate of 9.5% per annum (after tax in real terms) based on the approximate mid-point of the assessment below for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.
	125 LEA’s discount rate assessment reflects:
	(a) a risk free rate of 2.5% per annum – our adopted risk free rate is higher than the yield on the 30 year US Government Bond of 1.3% as at 17 April 2020.  However, this is consistent with current market practice, which is to apply a normalised risk-...
	(b) a market risk premium (MRP) of 6.0% per annum37F
	(c) an equity beta of 1.1 to 1.2 – having regard to:
	(i) the tolling nature of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Project’s facilities
	(ii) the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects’ exposure to nickel prices and the commodity price volatility therein

	(d) country risk premium38F  of 3% has been adopted based on Indonesia’s country bond default spread39F
	(e) a long term cost of debt of 8% to 9% having regard to the terms of the recent debt facilities entered into by Nickel Mines.  Note this rate implicitly includes allowance for a country risk premium
	(f) a conservative gearing ratio (debt / enterprise value) of 20%
	(g) a long term inflation rate of 1.5%, consistent with the estimated long-term inflation rate in the US (as a proxy for global inflation).
	Sensitivity analysis

	126 There are inherent qualifications that apply to cash flow projections on which DCF valuations are based.  In addition, the cost of capital can vary between industry participants based on factors such as differing perceptions / acceptance of risk a...
	127 It is important therefore not to credit the output of DCF models with a precision they do not warrant.  It follows that any DCF valuation process should consider a range of scenarios, having regard to the respective key valuation drivers of the en...
	128 In assessing a valuation range to adopt we have therefore considered the sensitivity of value to changes in the key assumptions, as shown below:
	129 The above sensitives only show the impact of one variable in each instance and there are alternate scenarios, such as adopting current production rates and cash costs, which produce significantly higher values than those shown above.40F
	130 The value attributable to the nine year tax holiday in our DCF valuation is approximately US$64 million for the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects respectively, based on our adopted discount rate of 9.5% (before any adjustment for the risk of ame...
	Adopted DCF value

	131 Based on the above, the value of 100% of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects under the DCF approach ranges from around:
	(a) US$450 million to US$650 million for the Hengjaya Nickel Project
	(b) US$450 million to US$650 million for the Ranger Nickel Project.

	132 These values are well in excess of the US$300 million value attributed to both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects in the respective CAs on which the Proposed Transactions are based.
	VI Evaluation of the Proposed Transactions
	133 In our opinion, subject to there being no material adverse events prior to the Company electing to proceed with the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions, the Proposed Transactions are fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders.  We have...
	Fairness
	134 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction41F  is “fair” if the value of the financial benefit being offered by the entity to the related party is equal to or less than the value of the assets being acquired.  In our opinion the Proposed Tran...
	(a) the Proposed Transactions are consistent with the Initial and Second Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions as shown in the table below:
	(b) the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (of US$60 million respectively) is less than the NPV of the Company’s pro rata share of the estimated future free cash flows from each of the Hengjay...

	Reasonableness
	135 Pursuant to RG 111, a related party transaction is reasonable if it is fair.  Consequently, in our opinion, the Proposed Transactions are both fair and reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders.
	136 In considering whether the Proposed Transaction are reasonable to Nickel Mines shareholders we have also had regard to the following:
	(a) the announcements of the Hengjaya Nickel Project and Ranger Nickel Project acquisitions made to date
	(b) the implications for Nickel Mines if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented
	(c) the position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions, and the net benefits inherent in the transactions
	(d) other qualitative factors with respect to the Proposed Transactions.
	Implication if the Proposed Transactions are not implemented

	137 If the Proposed Transactions are not implemented, Nickel Mines’ attributable share of production, on a steady state basis, from the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will remain at approximately 19,800 tpa43F  and Nickel Mines will forgo the ben...
	Position of Nickel Mines before and after the Proposed Transactions

	138 Based on the indicative DCF assessment, the Proposed Transactions are value accretive as the Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with:
	(a) an additional income source from further downstream production of ore extracted from the Hengjaya Mine and/or other mines
	(b) a further interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects.  Based on the current performance of the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects, the increased interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects will contribute some 6,600 tpa of additi...

	139 Whilst the details of the funding of the Proposed Transactions have not been decided as at the date of this report, for the purpose of our report we have considered (by way of example) the implications of 100% debt funding at an interest rate of 8...
	140 Nickel Mines’ gearing is currently minimal, some 3%.  A US$120 million debt facility to finance 100% of the Proposed Transactions would result in a modest gearing level of some 17% and an annual debt servicing capacity based on the current perform...
	Advantages and disadvantages
	141 In concluding whether the Proposed Transactions are “fair and reasonable” to the non-associated shareholders of Nickel Mines we have also had regard to the advantages and disadvantages of the Proposed Transactions from the perspective of Nickel Mi...
	(a) Nickel Mines has a 60% interest in both the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects representing substantial holdings which are managed by the Company.  These investments have provided Nickel Mines with positive income contribution since acquisition (...
	(b) the Proposed Transactions provide Nickel Mines with a further interest in the Hengjaya and Ranger Nickel Projects and an additional income source from downstream production of ore extracted from the Hengjaya Mine or other mines.  Based on the curr...
	(c) the Proposed Transactions are value accretive, with the Proposed Hengjaya Acquisition Consideration and the Proposed Ranger Acquisition Consideration (totalling US$120 million) being less than the NPV of the expected future cash flows from the pro...
	(d) there is no firm date for the execution of the Proposed Transactions.  We have assumed that the Proposed Hengjaya and Ranger Acquisitions will occur on 30 November 2020 and performed our DCF / valuation assessment as at that date.  We note however...
	(e) given the current economic circumstances, the Company has advised that it has not yet determined exactly how the Proposed Transactions are to be financed.  In our opinion, given the current economic conditions, there may be difficulties associated...

	142 In our opinion, the advantages of the Proposed Transaction significantly outweigh the disadvantages.
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	Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited
	1 Lonergan Edwards & Associates Limited (ABN 53 095 445 560) (LEA) is a specialist valuation firm which provides valuation advice, valuation reports and independent expert’s reports (IER) in relation to takeovers and mergers, commercial litigation, ta...
	Financial Services Guide
	3 The Corporations Act 2001 authorises LEA to provide this Financial Services Guide (FSG) in connection with its preparation of an IER to accompany the Explanatory Memorandum to be sent to Nickel Mines shareholders in connection with the Proposed Tran...
	4 This FSG is designed to assist retail clients in their use of any general financial product advice contained in the IER.  This FSG contains information about LEA generally, the financial services we are licensed to provide, the remuneration we may r...
	Financial services we are licensed to provide
	5 Our Australian financial services licence allows us to provide a broad range of services to retail and wholesale clients, including providing financial product advice in relation to various financial products such as securities, derivatives, interes...
	General financial product advice
	6 The IER contains only general financial product advice.  It was prepared without taking into account your personal objectives, financial situation or needs.
	7 You should consider your own objectives, financial situation and needs when assessing the suitability of the IER to your situation.  You may wish to obtain personal financial product advice from the holder of an Australian Financial Services Licence...
	Fees, commissions and other benefits we may receive
	8 LEA charges fees to produce reports, including this IER.  These fees are negotiated and agreed with the entity who engages LEA to provide a report.  Fees are charged on an hourly basis or as a fixed amount depending on the terms of the agreement wit...
	9 Neither LEA nor its directors and officers receives any commissions or other benefits, except for the fees for services referred to above.
	10 All of our employees receive a salary.  Our employees are eligible for bonuses based on overall performance and the firm’s profitability, and do not receive any commissions or other benefits arising directly from services provided to our clients.  ...
	11 We do not pay commissions or provide other benefits to other parties for referring prospective clients to us.
	Complaints
	12 If you have a complaint, please raise it with us first, using the contact details listed below.  We will endeavour to satisfactorily resolve your complaint in a timely manner.
	13 If we are not able to resolve your complaint to your satisfaction within 45 days of your written notification, you are entitled to have your matter referred to the Australian Financial Complaints Authority (AFCA), an external complaints resolution ...
	Contact details
	14 LEA can be contacted by sending a letter to the following address:
	Qualifications, declarations and consents
	Qualifications
	1 LEA is a licensed investment adviser under the Corporations Act.  LEA’s authorised representatives have extensive experience in the field of corporate finance, particularly in relation to the valuation of shares and businesses and have prepared hund...
	2 This report was prepared by Ms Julie Planinic and Mr Martin Hall, who are each authorised representatives of LEA.  Ms Planinic and Mr Hall have over 23 years and 34 years’ experience respectively in the provision of valuation advice (and related adv...
	Declarations
	3 This report has been prepared at the request of the Independent Directors of Nickel Mines to accompany the Explanatory Memorandum to be sent to Nickel Mines Shareholders.  It is not intended that this report should serve any purpose other than as an...
	Interests
	4 At the date of this report, neither LEA, Ms Planinic nor Mr Hall have any interest in the outcome of the Proposed Transactions.  With the exception of the fee shown in Appendix A, LEA will not receive any other benefits, either directly or indirectl...
	5 We have considered the matters described in ASIC RG 112 – Independence of experts, and consider that there are no circumstances that, in our view, would constitute a conflict of interest or would impair our ability to provide objective independent a...
	Indemnification
	6 As a condition of LEA’s agreement to prepare this report, Nickel Mines agrees to indemnify LEA in relation to any claim arising from or in connection with its reliance on information or documentation provided by or on behalf of Nickel Mines which is...
	Consents
	7 LEA consents to the inclusion of this report in the form and context in which it is included in the Explanatory Memorandum.
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